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PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1) Financial Statements

See “Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements” set forth on Page F-1.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are either not applicable or the required information is shown in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements or notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits

The exhibits listed on the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this report, and such 
Exhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused 
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
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PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P.

By: PAA GP LLC,
its general partner

By: Plains AAP, L.P.,
its sole member

By: PLAINS ALL AMERICAN GP LLC,
its general partner

By: /s/ Greg L. Armstrong
Greg L. Armstrong,
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and 
Director of Plains All American GP LLC
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 25, 2016

By: /s/ Al Swanson
Al Swanson,
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of 
Plains All American GP LLC
(Principal Financial Officer)

February 25, 2016

By: /s/ Chris Herbold
Chris Herbold,
Vice President —Accounting and Chief Accounting 
Officer of Plains All American GP LLC
(Principal Accounting Officer)

February 25, 2016
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
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/s/ Greg L. Armstrong Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Director of 
Plains All American GP LLC (Principal Executive Officer)

February 25, 2016
Greg L. Armstrong

/s/ Harry N. Pefanis President and Chief Operating Officer of Plains All 
American GP LLC

February 25, 2016
Harry N. Pefanis

/s/ Al Swanson Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Plains All 
American GP LLC (Principal Financial Officer)

February 25, 2016
Al Swanson

/s/ Chris Herbold Vice President—Accounting and Chief Accounting Officer of 
Plains All American GP LLC (Principal Accounting Officer)

February 25, 2016
Chris Herbold

/s/ Bernard Figlock Director of Plains All American GP LLC February 25, 2016
Bernard Figlock

/s/ Everardo Goyanes Director of Plains All American GP LLC February 25, 2016
Everardo Goyanes

/s/ Gary R. Petersen Director of Plains All American GP LLC February 25, 2016
Gary R. Petersen

/s/ John T. Raymond Director of Plains All American GP LLC February 25, 2016
John T. Raymond

/s/ Robert V. Sinnott Director of Plains All American GP LLC February 25, 2016
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Plains All American Pipeline, L.P.’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control 
over financial reporting. Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles.

Internal control over financial reporting has inherent limitations. Internal control over financial reporting is a process that 
involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures. Internal 
control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper management override. Because of such limitations, 
there is a risk that material misstatements may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial 
reporting. However, these inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible to design 
into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk.

Management has used the framework set forth in the report entitled “Internal Control—Integrated Framework” (2013) issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) to evaluate the effectiveness of the 
Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting. Based on that evaluation, management has concluded that the Partnership’s 
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2015.

The effectiveness of the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 has been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears on Page F-3.

F-2

/s/ Greg L. Armstrong
Greg L. Armstrong
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Director of 
Plains All American GP LLC
(Principal Executive Officer)
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(Principal Financial Officer)
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors of the General Partner and Unitholders of
Plains All American Pipeline, L.P.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive 
income, of changes in accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss), of changes in partners’ capital, and of cash flows present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2015 
and 2014, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015 in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Partnership 
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO). The Partnership’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal 
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the 
accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these 
financial statements and on the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the 
financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over 
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness 
of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary 
in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect 
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Houston, Texas
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PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in millions, except unit data)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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December 31, December 31,
2015 2014

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 27 $ 403
Trade accounts receivable and other receivables, net 1,785 2,615
Inventory 916 891
Other current assets 241 270

Total current assets 2,969 4,179

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 15,654 14,178
Accumulated depreciation (2,180) (1,906)

Property and equipment, net 13,474 12,272

OTHER ASSETS
Goodwill 2,405 2,465
Investments in unconsolidated entities 2,027 1,735
Linefill and base gas 898 930
Long-term inventory 129 186
Other long-term assets, net 386 431

Total assets $ 22,288 $ 22,198

LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS’ CAPITAL

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 2,038 $ 2,986
Short-term debt 999 1,287
Other current liabilities 370 482

Total current liabilities 3,407 4,755

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Senior notes, net of unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs 9,698 8,699
Other long-term debt 677 5
Other long-term liabilities and deferred credits 567 548

Total long-term liabilities 10,942 9,252

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (NOTE 16)

PARTNERS’ CAPITAL
Common unitholders (397,727,624 and 375,107,793 units outstanding, respectively) 7,580 7,793
General partner 301 340

Total partners’ capital excluding noncontrolling interests 7,881 8,133
Noncontrolling interests 58 58

Total partners’ capital 7,939 8,191
Total liabilities and partners’ capital $ 22,288 $ 22,198
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PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in millions, except per unit data)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

REVENUES
Supply and Logistics segment revenues $ 21,927 $ 42,114 $ 40,692
Transportation segment revenues 697 774 701
Facilities segment revenues 528 576 856

Total revenues 23,152 43,464 42,249

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Purchases and related costs 19,726 39,500 38,465
Field operating costs 1,454 1,456 1,322
General and administrative expenses 278 325 359
Depreciation and amortization 432 384 365

Total costs and expenses 21,890 41,665 40,511

OPERATING INCOME 1,262 1,799 1,738

OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSE)
Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities 183 108 64
Interest expense (net of capitalized interest of $57, $48 and $38, respectively) (432) (348) (313)
Other income/(expense), net (7) (2) 1

INCOME BEFORE TAX 1,006 1,557 1,490
Current income tax expense (84) (71) (100)
Deferred income tax (expense)/benefit (16) (100) 1

NET INCOME 906 1,386 1,391
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (3) (2) (30)

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO PAA $ 903 $ 1,384 $ 1,361

NET INCOME PER COMMON UNIT (NOTE 3):
Net income attributable to common unitholders - Basic $ 305 $ 878 $ 960
Basic weighted average common units outstanding 394 367 341
Basic net income per common unit $ 0.78 $ 2.39 $ 2.82

Net income attributable to common unitholders - Diluted $ 305 $ 878 $ 961
Diluted weighted average common units outstanding 396 369 343
Diluted net income per common unit $ 0.77 $ 2.38 $ 2.80
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PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in millions)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN ACCUMULATED

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
(in millions)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Net income $ 906 $ 1,386 $ 1,391
Other comprehensive loss (614) (370) (177)
Comprehensive income 292 1,016 1,214

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests (3) (2) (30)
Comprehensive income attributable to PAA $ 289 $ 1,014 $ 1,184

Derivative Translation
Instruments Adjustments Total

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ (120) $ 200 $ 80

Reclassification adjustments (66) — (66)
Deferred gain on cash flow hedges, net of tax 109 — 109
Currency translation adjustments — (220) (220)

2013 Activity 43 (220) (177)
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ (77) $ (20) $ (97)

Reclassification adjustments 4 — 4
Deferred loss on cash flow hedges, net of tax (86) — (86)
Currency translation adjustments — (288) (288)

2014 Activity (82) (288) (370)
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ (159) $ (308) $ (467)

Reclassification adjustments (45) — (45)
Deferred gain on cash flow hedges, net of tax 1 — 1
Currency translation adjustments — (570) (570)

2015 Activity (44) (570) (614)
Balance at December 31, 2015 $ (203) $ (878) $ (1,081)
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PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in millions)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 906 $ 1,386 $ 1,391
Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 432 384 365
Equity-indexed compensation expense 27 98 116
Inventory valuation adjustments 117 289 7
Deferred income tax expense/(benefit) 16 100 (1)
Settlement of terminated interest rate hedging instruments (48) (7) 8
Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities (183) (108) (64)
Distributions from unconsolidated entities 214 105 54
Other (21) 24 4

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Trade accounts receivable and other 803 1,177 (186)
Inventory (90) (129) 134
Accounts payable and other current liabilities (829) (1,315) 126

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,344 2,004 1,954

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash paid in connection with acquisitions, net of cash acquired (Note 7) (105) (1,098) (28)
Investments in unconsolidated entities (Note 7) (253) (158) (133)
Additions to property, equipment and other (2,079) (1,932) (1,613)
Cash paid for purchases of linefill and base gas (133) (161) (122)
Proceeds from sales of assets 5 28 200
Other investing activities 35 25 43

Net cash used in investing activities (2,530) (3,296) (1,653)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net borrowings/(repayments) under senior secured hedged inventory facility 

(Note 9) 300 — (660)
Net repayments under senior unsecured revolving credit facility (Note 9) — — (92)
Net repayments under PNG credit agreement — — (382)
Net borrowings/(repayments) under commercial paper program (Note 9) 631 (366) 1,110
Proceeds from the issuance of senior notes (Note 9) 998 2,595 699
Repayments of senior notes (Note 9) (549) — (250)
Net proceeds from the sale of common units (Note 10) 1,099 848 465
Contributions from general partner 23 18 25
Distributions paid to common unitholders (Note 10) (1,081) (934) (791)
Distributions paid to general partner (Note 10) (590) (473) (369)
Other financing activities (17) (31) (36)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 814 1,657 (281)

Effect of translation adjustment on cash (4) (3) (3)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (376) 362 17
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 403 41 24
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 27 $ 403 $ 41

Cash paid for:
Interest, net of amounts capitalized $ 396 $ 334 $ 305
Income taxes, net of amounts refunded $ 50 $ 159 $ 37
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PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PARTNERS’ CAPITAL

(in millions)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Partners’ Capital
Excluding Total

Common Unitholders General Noncontrolling Noncontrolling Partners’
Units Amount Partner Interests Interests Capital

Balance at December 31, 2012 335.3 $ 6,388 $ 249 $ 6,637 $ 509 $ 7,146

Net income — 967 394 1,361 30 1,391
Distributions — (791) (369) (1,160) (49) (1,209)
Sale of common units 8.6 468 9 477 — 477
Other comprehensive loss — (173) (4) (177) — (177)
PNG Merger (Note 10) 14.7 465 10 475 (463) 12
Other 0.5 25 6 31 32 63

Balance at December 31, 2013 359.1 $ 7,349 $ 295 $ 7,644 $ 59 $ 7,703

Net income — 884 500 1,384 2 1,386
Distributions — (934) (473) (1,407) (3) (1,410)
Sale of common units 15.4 848 18 866 — 866
Other comprehensive loss — (362) (8) (370) — (370)
Other 0.6 8 8 16 — 16

Balance at December 31, 2014 375.1 $ 7,793 $ 340 $ 8,133 $ 58 $ 8,191

Net income — 314 589 903 3 906
Distributions — (1,081) (590) (1,671) (3) (1,674)
Sale of common units 22.1 1,099 22 1,121 — 1,121
Other comprehensive loss — (602) (12) (614) — (614)
Other 0.5 57 (48) 9 — 9

Balance at December 31, 2015 397.7 $ 7,580 $ 301 $ 7,881 $ 58 $ 7,939
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PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—Organization and Basis of Consolidation and Presentation

Organization

Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. (“PAA”) is a Delaware limited partnership formed in 1998. Our operations are conducted 
directly and indirectly through our primary operating subsidiaries. As used in this Form 10-K and unless the context indicates 
otherwise, the terms “Partnership,” “we,” “us,” “our,” “ours” and similar terms refer to PAA and its subsidiaries.

We own and operate midstream energy infrastructure and provide logistics services for crude oil, natural gas liquids 
(“NGL”), natural gas and refined products. We own an extensive network of pipeline transportation, terminalling, storage and 
gathering assets in key crude oil and NGL producing basins and transportation corridors and at major market hubs in the United States 
and Canada. Our business activities are conducted through three operating segments: Transportation, Facilities and Supply and 
Logistics. See Note 18 for further discussion of our operating segments.

Our 2% general partner interest is held by PAA GP LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, whose sole member is Plains 
AAP, L.P. (“AAP”), a Delaware limited partnership. In addition to its ownership of PAA GP LLC, AAP also owns all of our incentive 
distribution rights (“IDRs”). Plains All American GP LLC (“GP LLC”), a Delaware limited liability company, is AAP’s general 
partner. Plains GP Holdings, L.P. (“PAGP”) is the sole member of GP LLC, and at December 31, 2015, owned an approximate 38% 
limited partner interest in AAP.

GP LLC manages our operations and activities and employs our domestic officers and personnel. Our Canadian officers and 
personnel are employed by our subsidiary, Plains Midstream Canada ULC (“PMC”). References to our “general partner,” as the 
context requires, include any or all of PAA GP LLC, AAP and GP LLC.

Definitions

Additional defined terms are used in the following notes and shall have the meanings indicated below:
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AOCI = Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss)
Bcf = Billion cubic feet
Btu = British thermal unit
CAD = Canadian dollar
CERCLA = Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, as amended
DERs = Distribution equivalent rights
EBITDA = Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
EPA = United States Environmental Protection Agency
FASB = Financial Accounting Standards Board
GAAP = Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
ICE = Intercontinental Exchange
IDR = Incentive distribution right
IPO = Initial public offering
LTIP = Long-term incentive plan
Mcf = Thousand cubic feet
MLP = Master limited partnership
MQD = Minimum quarterly distribution
NGL = Natural gas liquids, including ethane, propane and butane
NYMEX = New York Mercantile Exchange
NYSE = New York Stock Exchange
Oxy = Occidental Petroleum Corporation or its subsidiaries
PLA = Pipeline loss allowance
PNG = PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P.
RCRA = Federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended
USD = United States dollar
WTI = West Texas Intermediate
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Basis of Consolidation and Presentation

The accompanying financial statements and related notes present and discuss our consolidated financial position as of 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated results of our operations, cash flows, changes in partners’ capital, comprehensive 
income and changes in accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013. All 
significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation, and certain reclassifications have been made to 
information from previous years to conform to the current presentation. These reclassifications do not affect net income attributable to 
PAA. The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of PAA and all of its wholly owned subsidiaries and 
those entities that it controls.

The Consolidated Statement of Changes in Partners’ Capital for the period ended December 31, 2015 includes an adjustment 
of $50 million to correct the misclassifications in prior periods of amounts allocated between our common unitholders and general 
partner.  We have assessed the impact of the misclassification on current and prior periods and have determined the impacts are not 
material in any period.

Subsequent events have been evaluated through the financial statements issuance date and have been included in the 
following footnotes where applicable.

PNG Merger

On December 31, 2013, with the approval of PNG’s common unitholders, PNG became our wholly-owned subsidiary 
through a unit-for-unit exchange (referred to herein as the “PNG Merger”). See Note 10 for further discussion. Since we historically 
consolidated PNG for financial reporting purposes, the PNG Merger did not change the basis of consolidation of our historical 
financial statements.

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We make significant estimates with respect to 
(i) purchases and sales accruals, (ii) estimated fair value of assets and liabilities acquired and identification of associated goodwill and 
intangible assets, (iii) fair value of derivatives, (iv) accruals and contingent liabilities, (v) equity-indexed compensation plan accruals, 
(vi) property and equipment, depreciation expense and asset retirement obligations, (vii) allowance for doubtful accounts and 
(viii) inventory valuations. Although we believe these estimates are reasonable, actual results could differ from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Supply and Logistics Segment Revenues.  Revenues from sales of crude oil, NGL and natural gas are recognized at the time 
title to the product sold transfers to the purchaser, which occurs upon delivery of the product to the purchaser or its designee. Sales of 
crude oil and NGL consist of outright sales contracts. Inventory purchases and sales under buy/sell transactions are treated as 
inventory exchanges. The sales under these exchanges are netted to zero in Supply and Logistics segment revenues in our 
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Additionally, we may utilize derivatives in connection with the transactions described above. For commodity derivatives that 
are designated as cash flow hedges, derivative gains and losses are deferred in AOCI and recognized in revenues in the periods during 
which the underlying physical hedged transaction impacts earnings. Also, the ineffective portion of the change in fair value of cash 
flow hedges is recognized in revenues each period along with the change in fair value of derivatives that do not qualify for or are not 
designated for hedge accounting.

Transportation Segment Revenues.  Our Transportation segment operations generally consist of fee-based activities 
associated with transporting crude oil and NGL on pipelines, gathering systems, trucks and barges. Revenues from pipeline tariffs and 
fees are associated with the transportation of crude oil and NGL at a published tariff, as well as revenues associated with agreements 
for committed space on various assets. Tariff revenues are recognized either at the point of delivery or at the point of receipt pursuant 
to specifications outlined in the regulated and non-regulated tariffs. Revenues associated with fees are recognized in the month to 
which the fee applies. The majority of our pipeline tariff and fee revenues are based on actual volumes and rates. As is common in the 
pipeline transportation industry, our tariffs incorporate a loss allowance factor that is intended to offset losses due to evaporation, 
measurement and other losses in transit. We value the variance of allowance volumes to actual losses at the estimated net realizable 
value (including the impact of gains and losses from derivative related activities) at the time the variance occurred and the result is 
recorded as either an increase or decrease to tariff revenues.

F-10



Table of Contents

Facilities Segment Revenues.  Our Facilities segment operations generally consist of fee-based activities associated with 
providing storage, terminalling and throughput services for crude oil, refined products, NGL and natural gas, as well as NGL 
fractionation and isomerization services and natural gas and condensate processing services. Revenues generated in this segment 
include (i) fees that are generated from storage capacity agreements, (ii) terminal throughput fees that are generated when we receive 
crude oil, refined products or NGL from one connecting source and deliver the applicable product to another connecting carrier, (iii)  
loading and unloading fees at our rail terminals, (iv) fees from NGL fractionation and isomerization, (v) fees from natural gas and 
condensate processing services and (vi) fees associated with natural gas park and loan activities, interruptible storage services and 
wheeling and balancing services.

We generate revenue through a combination of month-to-month and multi-year agreements and processing arrangements. 
Storage fees resulting from short-term and long-term contracts are typically recognized in revenue ratably over the term of the contract 
regardless of the actual storage capacity utilized. Terminal fees (including throughput and rail fees) are recognized as the crude 
oil, NGL or refined product enters or exits the terminal and is received from or delivered to the connecting carrier or third-party 
terminal, as applicable. Hub service fees are recognized in the period the natural gas moves across our header system. Fees from NGL 
fractionation, isomerization services and gas processing services are recognized in the period when the services are performed.

Minimum Volume Commitments.  We have certain agreements that require counterparties to deliver, transport or throughput a 
minimum volume over an agreed upon period.  Some of these agreements include make-up rights if the minimum volume is not met. 
At December 31, 2015, counterparty deficiencies associated with agreements that include minimum volume commitments totaled $33 
million.

We record a receivable from the counterparty in the period that services are provided or when the transaction occurs, 
including amounts for deficiency obligations from counterparties associated with minimum volume commitments.  If a counterparty 
has a make-up right associated with a deficiency, we defer the revenue attributable to the counterparty make-up right and subsequently 
recognize the revenue at the earlier of when the deficiency volume is delivered or shipped, when the make-up right expires or when it 
is determined that the counterparty’s ability to utilize the make-up right is remote.

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, we had deferred revenue associated with minimum volume commitments of $17 million 
and $4 million, respectively. In addition to the amounts recorded as deferred revenue, as of December 31, 2015, there was $16 million 
of accrued deficiencies for which the counterparties had not met their contractual minimum commitments, but we had not yet billed or 
collected such amounts.

Purchases and Related Costs

Purchases and related costs include (i) the cost of crude oil, NGL and natural gas obtained in outright purchases, (ii) fees 
incurred for third-party storage and transportation, whether by pipeline, truck, rail, ship or barge, (iii) interest cost attributable to 
borrowings for inventory stored in a contango market and (iv) performance-related bonus costs. These costs are recognized when 
incurred except in the case of products purchased, which are recognized at the time title transfers to us. Purchases that are part of 
exchanges under buy/sell transactions are netted with the related sales, with any margin presented in “Purchases and related costs” in 
our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Field Operating Costs and General and Administrative Expenses

Field operating costs consist of various field operating expenses, including fuel and power costs (including the impact of 
gains and losses from derivative related activities), telecommunications, payroll and benefit costs (including equity-indexed 
compensation expense) for truck drivers and field and other operations personnel, third-party trucking transportation costs for our U.S. 
crude oil operations, maintenance and integrity management costs, regulatory compliance, environmental remediation, insurance, 
vehicle leases, and property taxes. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of payroll and benefit costs (including 
equity-indexed compensation expense), certain information systems and legal costs, office rent, contract and consultant costs and audit 
and tax fees.

F-11



Table of Contents

Foreign Currency Transactions/Translation

Certain of our subsidiaries use the Canadian dollar as their functional currency. Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries with a 
Canadian dollar functional currency are translated at period-end rates of exchange, and revenues and expenses are translated at 
average exchange rates prevailing for each month. The resulting translation adjustments are made directly to a separate component of 
other comprehensive income, which is reflected in Partners’ Capital on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Certain of our subsidiaries also enter into transactions and have monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in a 
currency other than the entities’ respective functional currencies. Gains and losses from the revaluation of foreign currency 
transactions and monetary assets and liabilities are included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The revaluation of foreign 
currency transactions and monetary assets and liabilities resulted in a net gain of $21 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, a 
net loss of $13 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 and a net gain of $1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of all unrestricted demand deposits and funds invested in highly liquid instruments with 
original maturities of three months or less and typically exceed federally insured limits. We periodically assess the financial condition 
of the institutions where these funds are held and believe that our credit risk is minimal.

In accordance with our policy, outstanding checks are classified as accounts payable rather than negative cash. As of 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, accounts payable included $60 million and $94 million, respectively, of outstanding checks that were 
reclassified from cash and cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable

Our accounts receivable are primarily from purchasers and shippers of crude oil and, to a lesser extent, purchasers of NGL 
and natural gas. These purchasers include, but are not limited to, refiners, producers, marketing and trading companies and financial 
institutions that are active in the physical and financial commodity markets. The majority of our accounts receivable relate to our 
crude oil supply and logistics activities that can generally be described as high volume and low margin activities, in many cases 
involving exchanges of crude oil volumes.

The sustained decrease in commodity prices since late 2014 has caused liquidity issues throughout the energy industry, which 
in turn has increased the potential credit risks associated with certain counterparties with which we do business. To mitigate credit risk 
related to our accounts receivable, we utilize a rigorous credit review process. We closely monitor market conditions to make a 
determination with respect to the amount, if any, of open credit to be extended to any given customer and the form and amount of 
financial performance assurances we require. Such financial assurances are commonly provided to us in the form of advance cash 
payments, standby letters of credit or parental guarantees. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, we had received $88 million and $180 
million, respectively, of advance cash payments from third parties to mitigate credit risk. We also received $36 million and $198 
million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, of standby letters of credit to support obligations due from third parties, a 
portion of which applies to future business. The decrease in standby letters of credit and advance cash payments from third parties as 
of December 31, 2015 compared to December 31, 2014 was largely due to a decrease in exposure to various customers requiring 
letters of credit. Additionally, in an effort to mitigate credit risk, a significant portion of our transactions with counterparties are settled 
on a net-cash basis. Furthermore, we also enter into netting agreements (contractual agreements that allow us to offset receivables and 
payables with those counterparties against each other on our balance sheet) for a majority of such arrangements.

We review all outstanding accounts receivable balances on a monthly basis and record a reserve for amounts that we expect 
will not be fully recovered. We do not apply actual balances against the reserve until we have exhausted substantially all collection 
efforts. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, substantially all of our trade accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts) 
were less than 30 days past their scheduled invoice date. Our allowance for doubtful accounts receivable totaled $4 million at both 
December 31, 2015 and 2014. Although we consider our allowance for doubtful accounts receivable to be adequate, actual amounts 
could vary significantly from estimated amounts.

Noncontrolling Interests

We account for noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries in accordance with FASB guidance, which requires all entities to 
report noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries as a component of equity in the consolidated financial statements. Noncontrolling 
interest represents the portion of assets and liabilities in a consolidated subsidiary that is owned by a third-party.  See Note 10 for 
additional discussion regarding our noncontrolling interests.
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Asset Retirement Obligations

FASB guidance establishes accounting requirements for retirement obligations associated with tangible long-lived assets, 
including estimates related to (i) the time of the liability recognition, (ii) initial measurement of the liability, (iii) allocation of asset 
retirement cost to expense, (iv) subsequent measurement of the liability and (v) financial statement disclosures. FASB guidance also 
requires that the cost for asset retirement should be capitalized as part of the cost of the related long-lived asset and subsequently 
allocated to expense using a systematic and rational method.

Some of our assets, primarily related to our Transportation and Facilities segments, have contractual or regulatory obligations 
to perform remediation and, in some instances, dismantlement and removal activities when the assets are abandoned. These 
obligations include varying levels of activity including disconnecting inactive assets from active assets, cleaning and purging assets, 
and in some cases, completely removing the assets and returning the land to its original state. These assets have been in existence for 
many years and with regular maintenance will continue to be in service for many years to come. It is not possible to predict when 
demand for these transportation or storage services will cease, and we do not believe that such demand will cease for the foreseeable 
future. Accordingly, we believe the date when these assets will be abandoned is indeterminate. With no reasonably determinable 
abandonment date, we cannot reasonably estimate the fair value of the associated asset retirement obligations. We will record asset 
retirement obligations for these assets in the period in which sufficient information becomes available for us to reasonably determine 
the settlement dates.

A small portion of our contractual or regulatory obligations is related to assets that are inactive or that we plan to take out of 
service and, although the ultimate timing and costs to settle these obligations are not known with certainty, we have recorded a 
reasonable estimate of these obligations. We have estimated that the fair value of these obligations was $35 million and $36 million, 
respectively, at December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Fair Value Measurements

Financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment, which 
affects the placement of assets and liabilities within the fair value hierarchy levels. The determination of the fair values includes not 
only the credit standing of the counterparties involved and the impact of credit enhancements (such as cash deposits and letters of 
credit) but also the impact of our nonperformance risk on our liabilities. The fair value of our commodity derivatives, interest rate 
derivatives and foreign currency derivatives includes adjustments for credit risk. Our credit adjustment methodology uses market 
observable inputs and requires judgment. There were no changes to any of our valuation techniques during the period. See Note 11 for 
further discussion.

Income Allocation

Net income for partners’ capital presentation purposes is allocated to our general partner and common unitholders in 
accordance with their respective partnership percentages, after giving effect to priority income allocations for incentive distributions, 
if any, to our general partner (the holder of the IDRs pursuant to our partnership agreement), which are declared and paid following 
the close of each quarter. For purposes of determining basic and diluted net income per common unit, income is allocated pursuant to 
the two-class method for MLPs as prescribed in FASB guidance. See Note 3 for additional information.

Other Significant Accounting Policies

See the respective footnotes for our accounting policies regarding (i) net income per common unit, (ii) inventory, linefill and 
base gas and long-term inventory, (iii) property and equipment, (iv) goodwill, (v) investments in unconsolidated entities, (vi) other 
long-term assets, net, (vii) derivatives and risk management activities, (viii) income taxes, (ix) equity-indexed compensation and 
(x) legal and environmental matters.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2015, the FASB issued guidance to simplify the balance sheet classification of deferred taxes by requiring that 
deferred tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent. This guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after 
December 15, 2016, with early adoption permitted, and may be applied prospectively or retrospectively to all periods presented. We 
early adopted this guidance during the fourth quarter of 2015, with prospective application. Prior period amounts presented have not 
been retrospectively adjusted. Our adoption did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash 
flows.
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In September 2015, the FASB issued guidance to simplify the accounting for measurement-period adjustments for 
provisional amounts recognized in a business combination by eliminating the requirement for an acquirer to retrospectively account 
for measurement-period adjustments. Under the updated guidance, the acquirer must recognize adjustments in the reporting period in 
which the adjustment amounts are determined and the effect on earnings as a result of the change to the provisional amounts must be 
calculated as if the accounting had been completed at the acquisition date. This guidance will become effective for interim and annual 
periods beginning after December 15, 2015, with early adoption permitted, and must be applied prospectively. We adopted this 
guidance on January 1, 2016. Our adoption did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash 
flows.

In July 2015, the FASB issued guidance to simplify the measurement of inventory. This updated guidance requires entities to 
measure inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value; however, inventory measured using last-in, first-out and the retail 
inventory method is unchanged by this update. This guidance will become effective for interim and annual periods beginning after 
December 15, 2016, with prospective application required. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. We 
expect to adopt this guidance on January 1, 2017, and we do not anticipate that our adoption will have a material impact on our 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In April 2015, the FASB issued guidance to simplify the presentation of debt issuance costs in entities’ financial statements. 
This updated guidance requires entities to present certain debt issuance costs as a direct deduction from the related debt liability, 
consistent with debt discounts. Additionally, amortization of debt issuance costs is required to be reported as interest expense. This 
guidance became effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015, with retrospective application required 
for all prior periods presented and early adoption permitted. We early adopted this guidance during the fourth quarter of 2015 and 
have retroactively adjusted all prior period information presented in this Form 10-K. Our adoption of this guidance resulted in the 
reclassification of $58 million of unamortized debt issuance costs from “Other long-term assets, net” to “Senior notes, net of 
unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs” in our accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2014. 
Additionally, for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, we reclassified $8 million and $10 million, respectively, from 
“Depreciation and amortization” to “Interest expense, net” in our accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations related to the 
presentation of the amortization of debt issuance costs. Our adoption of this guidance did not impact our Consolidated Statements of 
Comprehensive Income, Cash Flows or Changes in Partners’ Capital.

In February 2015, the FASB issued guidance that revises the analysis that a reporting entity must perform to determine 
whether it should consolidate certain types of legal entities. All legal entities are subject to reevaluation under the revised 
consolidation model. Among other things, this guidance (i) modifies the evaluation of whether limited partnerships and similar legal 
entities are variable interest entities or voting interest entities, (ii) eliminates the presumption that a general partner should consolidate 
a limited partnership and (iii) affects the consolidation analysis of reporting entities that are involved with variable interest entities, 
particularly those that have fee arrangements and related party relationships. This guidance will become effective for interim and 
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. We adopted 
this guidance on January 1, 2016. Our adoption did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash 
flows.

In May 2014, the FASB issued guidance regarding the recognition of revenue from contracts with customers with the 
underlying principle that an entity will recognize revenue to reflect amounts expected to be received in exchange for the provision of 
goods and services to customers upon the transfer of those goods or services. The guidance also requires additional disclosures about 
the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and the related cash flows. This guidance can be adopted either with a full 
retrospective approach or a modified retrospective approach with a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. In 
August 2015, the FASB issued guidance deferring the effective date to interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017. 
Therefore, we expect to adopt this guidance on January 1, 2018, and we are currently evaluating which transition approach to apply 
and the impact that adopting this guidance will have on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In April 2014, the FASB issued guidance that modifies the criteria under which assets to be disposed of are evaluated to 
determine if such assets qualify as a discontinued operation and requires new disclosures for both discontinued operations and certain 
other disposals that do not meet the definition of a discontinued operation. This guidance is effective prospectively for annual and 
interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2014. We adopted this guidance on January 1, 2015. Our adoption did not 
have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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Note 3—Net Income Per Common Unit

Basic and diluted net income per common unit is determined pursuant to the two-class method for MLPs as prescribed in 
FASB guidance. The two-class method is an earnings allocation formula that is used to determine earnings to our general partner, 
common unitholders and participating securities according to distributions pertaining to the current period’s net income and 
participation rights in undistributed earnings.  Under this method, all earnings are allocated to our general partner, common 
unitholders and participating securities based on their respective rights to receive distributions, regardless of whether those earnings 
would actually be distributed during a particular period from an economic or practical perspective.

We calculate basic and diluted net income per common unit by dividing net income attributable to PAA (after deducting the 
amount allocated to the general partner’s interest, IDRs and participating securities) by the basic and diluted weighted-average number 
of common units outstanding during the period.  Participating securities include LTIP awards that have vested DERs, which entitle the 
grantee to a cash payment equal to the cash distribution paid on our outstanding common units.

Diluted net income per common unit is computed based on the weighted-average number of common units plus the effect of 
dilutive potential common units outstanding during the period using the two-class method.  Our LTIP awards that contemplate the 
issuance of common units are considered dilutive unless (i) vesting occurs only upon the satisfaction of a performance condition and 
(ii) that performance condition has yet to be satisfied. LTIP awards that are deemed to be dilutive are reduced by a hypothetical 
common unit repurchase based on the remaining unamortized fair value, as prescribed by the treasury stock method in guidance issued 
by the FASB. See Note 15 for a complete discussion of our LTIP awards including specific discussion regarding DERs.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income per common unit for the periods indicated (in 
millions, except per unit data):

We calculate net income attributable to common unitholders based on the distributions pertaining to the current period’s net 
income.  After adjusting for the appropriate period’s distributions, the remaining undistributed earnings or excess 
distributions over earnings, if any, are allocated to the general partner, common unitholders and participating securities in 
accordance with the contractual terms of our partnership agreement and as further prescribed under the two-class method.
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Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Basic Net Income per Common Unit
Net income attributable to PAA $ 903 $ 1,384 $ 1,361

Less: Distributions to general partner (608) (502) (392)
Less: Distributions to participating securities (6) (6) (5)
Less: Undistributed (earnings)/loss allocated to general partner and 

participating securities 16 2 (4)
Net income attributable to common unitholders in accordance with 

application of the two-class method for MLPs $ 305 $ 878 $ 960

Basic weighted average common units outstanding 394 367 341

Basic net income per common unit $ 0.78 $ 2.39 $ 2.82

Diluted Net Income per Common Unit
Net income attributable to PAA $ 903 $ 1,384 $ 1,361

Less: Distributions to general partner (608) (502) (392)
Less: Distributions to participating securities (6) (6) (5)
Less: Undistributed (earnings)/loss allocated to general partner and 

participating securities 16 2 (3)
Net income attributable to common unitholders in accordance with 

application of the two-class method for MLPs $ 305 $ 878 $ 961

Basic weighted average common units outstanding 394 367 341
Effect of dilutive securities: Weighted average LTIP units 2 2 2

Diluted weighted average common units outstanding 396 369 343

Diluted net income per common unit $ 0.77 $ 2.38 $ 2.80

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)



Table of Contents

Pursuant to the terms of our partnership agreement, the general partner’s incentive distribution is limited to a percentage of 
available cash, which, as defined in our partnership agreement, is net of reserves deemed appropriate.  As such, IDRs are not allocated 
undistributed earnings or distributions in excess of earnings in the calculation of net income per common unit.  If, however, 
undistributed earnings were allocated to our IDRs beyond amounts distributed to them under the terms of our partnership agreement, 
basic and diluted net income per common unit as reflected in the table above would be impacted as follows:

Note 4—Inventory, Linefill and Base Gas and Long-term Inventory

Inventory primarily consists of crude oil, NGL and natural gas in pipelines, storage facilities and railcars that are valued at 
the lower of cost or market, with cost determined using an average cost method within specific inventory pools. At the end of each 
reporting period, we assess the carrying value of our inventory and make any adjustments necessary to reduce the carrying value to the 
applicable net realizable value. Any resulting adjustments are a component of “Purchases and related costs” on our accompanying 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, we recorded charges of $117 
million, $289 million and $7 million, respectively, related to the writedown of our crude oil, NGL and natural gas inventory due to 
declines in prices. In addition, the charges recorded during the year ended December 31, 2014 included the writedown of our natural 
gas inventory that was purchased in conjunction with managing natural gas storage deliverability requirements during the extended 
period of severe cold weather in the first quarter of 2014. A portion of these adjustments was offset by the recognition of gains on 
derivative instruments being utilized to hedge the future sales of our crude oil and NGL inventory. Substantially all of such gains were 
recorded to “Supply and Logistics segment revenues” in our accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations. See Note 11 for 
discussion of our derivative and risk management activities.

Linefill and base gas and minimum working inventory requirements in assets we own are recorded at historical cost and 
consist of crude oil, NGL and natural gas. We classify as linefill or base gas (i) our proportionate share of barrels used to fill a pipeline 
that we own such that when an incremental barrel is pumped into or enters a pipeline it forces product out at another location, 
(ii) barrels that represent the minimum working requirements in tanks and caverns that we own and (iii) natural gas required to 
maintain the minimum operating pressure of natural gas storage facilities we own. Linefill and base gas carrying amounts are 
reviewed for impairment in accordance with FASB guidance with respect to accounting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived 
assets. Carrying amounts that are not expected to be recoverable through future cash flows are written down to estimated fair value. 
See Note 5 for further discussion regarding impairment of long-lived assets.  During 2015, 2014 and 2013, we did not recognize any 
impairments of linefill and base gas, but we did recognize gains of less than $1 million, $8 million and $7 million, respectively, on the 
sale of linefill and base gas for proceeds of $1 million, $24 million and $40 million, respectively.

Minimum working inventory requirements in third-party assets and other working inventory in our assets that are needed for 
our commercial operations are included within specific inventory pools in inventory (a current asset) in determining the average cost 
of operating inventory. At the end of each period, we reclassify the inventory not expected to be liquidated within the succeeding 
twelve months out of inventory, at the average cost of the applicable inventory pools, and into long-term inventory, which is reflected 
as a separate line item in “Other assets” on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Basic net income per common unit impact $ — $ — $ (0.20)

Diluted net income per common unit impact $ — $ — $ (0.20)
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Inventory, linefill and base gas and long-term inventory consisted of the following as of the dates indicated (barrels and 
natural gas volumes in thousands and carrying value in millions):

Price per unit of measure is comprised of a weighted average associated with various grades, qualities and locations. 
Accordingly, these prices may not coincide with any published benchmarks for such products.

Note 5—Property and Equipment

In accordance with our capitalization policy, expenditures made to expand the existing operating and/or earnings capacity of 
our assets are capitalized. We also capitalize certain costs directly related to the construction of such assets, including related internal 
labor costs, engineering costs and interest costs. For the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, capitalized interest was $57 
million, $48 million and $38 million, respectively. We also capitalize expenditures for the replacement of partially or fully depreciated 
assets in order to maintain the operating and/or earnings capacity of our existing assets. Repair and maintenance expenditures incurred 
in order to maintain the day to day operation of our existing assets are expensed as incurred.

Property and equipment, net is stated at cost and consisted of the following as of the dates indicated (in millions):

We calculate our depreciation using the straight-line method, based on estimated useful lives and salvage values of our assets. 
Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014  and 2013 was $380 million, $319 million and $259 million, 
respectively. We also classify gains and losses on sales of assets and asset impairments as a component of “Depreciation and 
amortization” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. See “Impairment of Long-Lived Assets” below for a discussion of our 
policy for the recognition of asset impairments.
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December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014

Volumes
Unit of

Measure
Carrying

Value
Price/
Unit Volumes

Unit of
Measure

Carrying
Value

Price/
Unit 

Inventory
Crude oil 16,345 barrels $ 608 $ 37.20 6,465 barrels $ 304 $ 47.02
NGL 13,907 barrels 218 $ 15.68 13,553 barrels 454 $ 33.50
Natural gas 22,080 Mcf 53 $ 2.40 32,317 Mcf 102 $ 3.16
Other N/A 37 N/A N/A 31 N/A

Inventory subtotal 916 891

Linefill and base gas
Crude oil 12,298 barrels 713 $ 57.98 11,810 barrels 744 $ 63.00
NGL 1,348 barrels 44 $ 32.64 1,212 barrels 52 $ 42.90
Natural gas 30,812 Mcf 141 $ 4.58 28,612 Mcf 134 $ 4.68

Linefill and base gas subtotal 898 930

Long-term inventory
Crude oil 3,417 barrels 106 $ 31.02 2,582 barrels 136 $ 52.67
NGL 1,652 barrels 23 $ 13.92 1,681 barrels 50 $ 29.74

Long-term inventory subtotal 129 186

Total $ 1,943 $ 2,007

Estimated Useful December 31,
Lives (Years) 2015 2014

Pipelines and related facilities 10 - 70 $ 8,395 $ 7,003
Storage, terminal and rail facilities 30 - 70 5,012 4,853
Trucking equipment and other 3 - 15 392 198
Construction in progress — 1,217 1,545
Office property and equipment 2 - 50 196 156
Land and other N/A 442 423

15,654 14,178
Accumulated depreciation (2,180) (1,906)

Property and equipment, net $ 13,474 $ 12,272

(1) (1)

(1)
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets with recorded values that are not expected to be recovered through future cash flows are written down to 
estimated fair value in accordance with FASB guidance with respect to the accounting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived 
assets. Under this guidance, a long-lived asset is tested for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that its carrying value 
may not be recoverable. The carrying value of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash 
flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset. If the carrying value exceeds the sum of the undiscounted 
cash flows, an impairment loss equal to the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the asset is recognized.

We periodically evaluate property and equipment and other long-lived assets for impairment when events or circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable. The evaluation is highly dependent on the underlying 
assumptions of related cash flows.  The subjective assumptions used to determine the existence of an impairment in carrying value 
include:

whether there is an indication of impairment;

the grouping of assets;

the intention of “holding,” “abandoning” or “selling” an asset;

the forecast of undiscounted expected future cash flow over the asset’s estimated useful life; and

if an impairment exists, the fair value of the asset or asset group.

We did not recognize any impairments during the year ended December 31, 2015. During the years ended December 31, 
2014 and 2013, we recognized impairments of $10 million and $20 million, respectively, primarily related to assets that were taken 
out of service.

Note 6—Goodwill

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from assets acquired in a business combination that are not 
individually identified and separately recognized.

In accordance with FASB guidance, we test goodwill to determine whether an impairment has occurred at least annually (as 
of June 30) and on an interim basis if it is more likely than not that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying value. Goodwill 
is tested for impairment at a level of reporting referred to as a reporting unit. A reporting unit is an operating segment or one level 
below an operating segment for which discrete financial information is available and regularly reviewed by segment management. Our 
reporting units are our operating segments. FASB guidance requires a two-step, quantitative approach to testing goodwill for 
impairment; however, we may first assess certain qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the two-step 
goodwill impairment test. We did not elect to apply this qualitative assessment during our 2015 annual goodwill impairment test, but 
proceeded directly to the two-step, quantitative test. In Step 1, we compare the fair value of the reporting unit with the respective book 
values, including goodwill, by using an income approach based on a discounted cash flow analysis. This approach requires us to make 
long-term forecasts of future revenues, expenses and other expenditures. Those forecasts require the use of various assumptions and 
estimates, the most significant of which are net revenues (total revenues less purchases and related costs), operating expenses, general 
and administrative expenses and the weighted average cost of capital. Fair value of the reporting units is determined using significant 
unobservable inputs, or Level 3 inputs in the fair value hierarchy. When the fair value is greater than book value, then the reporting 
unit’s goodwill is not considered impaired. If the book value is greater than fair value, then we proceed to Step 2. In Step 2, we 
compare the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill to the book value. A goodwill impairment loss is recognized if the 
carrying amount exceeds its fair value.

Through Step 1 of our annual testing of goodwill for potential impairment, which also includes a sensitivity analysis 
regarding the excess of our reporting unit’s fair value over book value, we determined that the fair value of each reporting unit was 
substantially greater than its respective book value; therefore, goodwill was not considered impaired. We did not recognize any 
material impairments of goodwill during the last three years.

As of December 31, 2015, as a result of industry conditions, we considered qualitative factors to determine whether a 
triggering event had occurred, which would require that a Step 1 impairment test be performed as of the end of the year. A triggering 
event is a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of any reporting unit was less than its carrying value. Based 
on our assessment, we concluded that a triggering event had not occurred as of December 31, 2015. However, significant negative
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variances in the assumptions and estimates utilized in our forecasts, such as a continued decline in petroleum commodity prices or a 
sustained multi-year low petroleum commodity price environment that results in lower volumes and cash flows or further increases in 
our weighted average cost of capital assumption, could result in reporting unit carrying values in excess of fair values.

Goodwill by segment and changes in goodwill is reflected in the following table (in millions):

Goodwill is recorded at the acquisition date based on a preliminary fair value determination. This preliminary goodwill 
balance may be adjusted when the fair value determination is finalized.

Note 7—Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

Investments in entities over which we have significant influence but not control are accounted for by the equity method. We 
do not consolidate any part of the assets or liabilities of our equity investees. Our share of net income or loss is reflected as one line 
item on our Consolidated Statements of Operations entitled “Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities” and will increase or decrease, 
as applicable, the carrying value of our investments in unconsolidated entities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. In addition, as 
applicable, we include a proportionate share of our equity method investees’ unrealized gains and losses in other comprehensive 
income on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We also adjust our investment balances in these investees by the like amount. We 
evaluate our equity investments for impairment in accordance with FASB guidance with respect to the equity method of accounting 
for investments in common stock. An impairment of an equity investment results when factors indicate that the investment’s fair value 
is less than its carrying value and the reduction in value is other than temporary in nature.

Our investments in the following entities are accounted for under the equity method of accounting:

Our initial investment in the entity occurred in 2015.

Asset is currently under construction by the entity and has not yet been placed in service.

In November 2014, we acquired a 50% interest in BridgeTex from Oxy. BridgeTex owns a 300,000 barrel-per-day crude oil 
pipeline that extends from Colorado City in West Texas to a crude oil terminal in East Houston, which we believe is complementary 
to our existing West Texas assets. We paid cash of $1.088 billion, including working capital adjustments of $13 million, for our 
interest in BridgeTex.

We consider distributions received from unconsolidated entities as returns on investment in those entities to the extent of 
cumulative net operating cash flows, and therefore classify these distributions as cash flows from operating activities in our 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. We define cumulative net operating cash flows as cumulative net income adjusted for certain
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Transportation Facilities Supply and Logistics Total
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 878 $ 1,162 $ 463 $ 2,503

Acquisitions — 1 — 1
Foreign currency translation adjustments (24) (11) (4) (39)

Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 854 $ 1,152 $ 459 $ 2,465
Acquisitions 3 8 — 11
Foreign currency translation adjustments (42) (19) (10) (71)
Other — (54) 54 —

Balance at December 31, 2015 $ 815 $ 1,087 $ 503 $ 2,405

Entity Type of Operation
Our Ownership

Interest
Settoon Towing, LLC Barge Transportation Services 50%
BridgeTex Pipeline Company, LLC (“BridgeTex”) Crude Oil Pipeline 50%
Caddo Pipeline LLC (“Caddo”) Crude Oil Pipeline 50%
Diamond Pipeline LLC (“Diamond”) Crude Oil Pipeline 50%
Eagle Ford Pipeline LLC Crude Oil Pipeline 50%
Eagle Ford Terminals Corpus Christi LLC (“Eagle Ford Terminals”) Crude Oil Terminal and Dock 50%
Frontier Pipeline Company Crude Oil Pipeline 50%
Saddlehorn Pipeline Company, LLC (“Saddlehorn”) Crude Oil Pipeline 40%
White Cliffs Pipeline, LLC Crude Oil Pipeline 36%
Butte Pipe Line Company Crude Oil Pipeline 22%

(1)

(1)

(1) (2)

(1) (2)

(1) (2)

(1) (2)

(1)

(2)
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non-cash items such as depreciation and amortization expense. Other distributions received from unconsolidated entities would be 
considered a return of the investment and classified as cash flows from investing activities on the Consolidated Statement of Cash 
Flows.

We generally fund our portion of development, construction or capital expansion projects of our equity method investees 
through capital contributions. Our contributions to these entities increase the carrying value of our investments and are reflected in our 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as cash used in investing activities. During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 
2013, we made cash contributions of $253 million, $158 million and $133 million, respectively, to certain of our equity method 
investees. The contributions amount for 2015 is net of $53 million of cash received as a return of our investment. We anticipate that 
we will make additional contributions related to ongoing projects at Diamond, Saddlehorn, Eagle Ford Terminals and Caddo over the 
next several years.

Our investments in unconsolidated entities exceeded our share of the underlying equity in the net assets of such entities by 
$760 million and $763 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Such basis differences are included in the carrying 
values of our investments on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The portion of the basis differences attributable to depreciable or 
amortizable assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the related assets, which reduces “Equity 
earnings in unconsolidated entities” on our Consolidated Statements of Operations. The portion of the basis differences attributable to 
goodwill is not amortized. The basis difference is primarily related to our acquisition of an interest in BridgeTex.

Summarized Financial Information of Unconsolidated Entities

Combined summarized financial information for all of our unconsolidated entities is shown in the tables below (in millions):

Note 8—Other Long-Term Assets, Net

Other long-term assets, net of accumulated amortization, consisted of the following as of the dates indicated (in millions):

Amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 was 
$49 million, $57 million and $85 million, respectively.
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December 31,
2015 2014

Current assets $ 365 $ 184
Noncurrent assets $ 2,901 $ 2,303
Current liabilities $ 231 $ 142
Noncurrent liabilities $ 184 $ 222

Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Revenues $ 769 $ 531 $ 344
Operating income $ 441 $ 301 $ 181
Net income $ 424 $ 285 $ 172

December 31,
2015 2014

Intangible assets $ 610 $ 644
Fair value of derivative instruments 9 27
Other 94 61

713 732
Accumulated amortization (327) (301)

$ 386 $ 431
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Intangible assets that have finite lives are tested for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value 
may not be recoverable. Our intangible assets that have finite lives consisted of the following as of the dates indicated (in millions):

Emission reduction credits, once surrendered in exchange for environmental permits, are finite-lived.

We estimate that our amortization expense related to finite-lived intangible assets for the next five years will be as follows (in 
millions):
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December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014
Estimated Useful Accumulated Accumulated

Lives (Years) Cost Amortization Net Cost Amortization Net
Customer contracts and 

relationships 1 – 20 $ 537 $ (301) $ 236 $ 565 $ (277) $ 288
Property tax abatement 7 – 13 38 (22) 16 38 (18) 20
Other agreements 25 – 70 28 (4) 24 33 (4) 29
Emission reduction credits N/A 7 — 7 8 — 8

$ 610 $ (327) $ 283 $ 644 $ (299) $ 345

2016 $ 44
2017 $ 41
2018 $ 36
2019 $ 33
2020 $ 31

(1)

(1)
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Note 9—Debt

Debt consisted of the following as of the dates indicated (in millions):

We classified these commercial paper notes and credit facility borrowings as short-term at December 31, 2015 and 2014, as 
these notes and borrowings were primarily designated as working capital borrowings, were required to be repaid within one 
year and were primarily for hedged NGL and crude oil inventory and NYMEX and ICE margin deposits.

As of December 31, 2015, we have classified our $175 million, 5.88% senior notes due August 2016 and a portion of our 
commercial paper notes as long-term based on our ability and intent to refinance such amounts on a long-term basis under 
our credit agreements.

Our fixed-rate senior notes (including current maturities) had a face value of approximately $9.8 billion and $9.3 billion as of 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. We estimated the aggregate fair value of these notes as of December 31, 2015 
and 2014 to be approximately $8.6 billion and $9.9 billion, respectively. Our fixed-rate senior notes are traded among 
institutions, and these trades are routinely published by a reporting service. Our determination of fair value is based on 
reported trading activity near year end. We estimate that the carrying value of outstanding borrowings under our credit 
facilities and commercial paper program approximates fair value as interest rates reflect current market rates. The fair value 
estimates for our senior notes, credit facilities and commercial paper program are based upon observable market data and are 
classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
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December 31, December 31,
2015 2014

SHORT-TERM DEBT
Commercial paper notes, bearing a weighted-average interest rate of 1.1% and 0.46%, 

respectively $ 696 $ 734
Senior secured hedged inventory facility, bearing a weighted-average interest rate of 1.4% 300 —
Senior notes:

5.25% senior notes due June 2015 — 150
3.95% senior notes due September 2015 — 400

Other 3 3
Total short-term debt 999 1,287

LONG-TERM DEBT
Senior notes:

5.88% senior notes due August 2016 175 175
6.13% senior notes due January 2017 400 400
6.50% senior notes due May 2018 600 600
8.75% senior notes due May 2019 350 350
2.60% senior notes due December 2019 500 500
5.75% senior notes due January 2020 500 500
5.00% senior notes due February 2021 600 600
3.65% senior notes due June 2022 750 750
2.85% senior notes due January 2023 400 400
3.85% senior notes due October 2023 700 700
3.60% senior notes due November 2024 750 750
4.65% senior notes due October 2025 1,000 —
6.70% senior notes due May 2036 250 250
6.65% senior notes due January 2037 600 600
5.15% senior notes due June 2042 500 500
4.30% senior notes due January 2043 350 350
4.70% senior notes due June 2044 700 700
4.90% senior notes due February 2045 650 650
Unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs (77) (76)

Senior notes, net of unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs 9,698 8,699
Commercial paper notes, bearing a weighted-average interest rate of 1.1% 672 —
Other 5 5

Total long-term debt 10,375 8,704
Total debt $ 11,374 $ 9,991

(1)

(1)

(2)

(2)

(3)

(1)

(2)

(3)
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Commercial Paper Program

We have a commercial paper program under which we may issue (and have outstanding at any time) up to $3.0 billion in the 
aggregate of privately placed, unsecured commercial paper notes. Such notes are backstopped by our senior unsecured revolving 
credit facility and our senior secured hedged inventory facility; as such, any borrowings under our commercial paper program reduce 
the available capacity under these facilities.

Credit Facilities

Senior secured hedged inventory facility. Our senior secured hedged inventory facility has a committed borrowing capacity 
of $1.4 billion, of which $400 million is available for the issuance of letters of credit. Subject to obtaining additional or increased 
lender commitments, the committed amount of the facility may be increased to $1.9 billion. Proceeds from the facility are primarily 
used to finance purchased or stored hedged inventory, including NYMEX and ICE margin deposits. Such obligations under the 
committed facility are secured by the financed inventory and the associated accounts receivable and are repaid from the proceeds of 
the sale of the financed inventory. Borrowings accrue interest based, at our election, on either the Eurocurrency Rate or the Base Rate, 
in each case plus a margin based on our credit rating at the applicable time. The agreement also provides for one or more one-year 
extensions, subject to applicable approval. In August 2015, we extended the maturity date of the facility to August 2018.

Senior unsecured revolving credit facility. Our senior unsecured revolving credit facility has a committed borrowing capacity 
of $1.6 billion and contains an accordion feature that enables us to increase the committed capacity to $2.1 billion, subject to obtaining 
additional or increased lender commitments. The credit agreement also provides for the issuance of letters of credit. Borrowings 
accrue interest based, at our election, on the Eurocurrency Rate, the Base Rate or the Canadian Prime Rate, in each case plus a margin 
based on our credit rating at the applicable time. The agreement also provides for one or more one-year extensions, subject to 
applicable approval. In August 2015, we extended the maturity date of the facility to August 2020.

Senior unsecured 364-day revolving credit facility. In January 2015, we entered into an agreement for a 364-day senior 
unsecured revolving credit facility with a borrowing capacity of $1.0 billion. In August 2015, we amended this agreement to extend 
the maturity date to August 2016. Borrowings accrue interest based, at our election, on either the Eurocurrency Rate or the Base Rate, 
as defined in the agreement, in each case plus a margin based on our credit rating at the applicable time.

Senior Notes

Our senior notes are co-issued, jointly and severally, by Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. and a 100%-owned consolidated 
finance subsidiary (neither of which have independent assets or operations) and are unsecured senior obligations of such entities and 
rank equally in right of payment with existing and future senior indebtedness of the issuers. We may, at our option, redeem any series 
of senior notes at any time in whole or from time to time in part, prior to maturity, at the redemption prices described in the indentures 
governing the senior notes. Our senior notes are not guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries.

Senior Notes Issuances

The table below summarizes our issuances of senior unsecured notes during 2015, 2014 and 2013 (in millions):

Senior Note Repayments

Our $150 million, 5.25% senior notes and $400 million, 3.95% senior notes were repaid in June 2015 and September 2015, 
respectively. We utilized cash on hand and available capacity under our commercial paper program to repay these notes.

On December 13, 2013, we repaid our $250 million, 5.63% senior notes. We utilized cash on hand and available capacity 
under our commercial paper program to repay these notes.
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Year Description Maturity Face Value Interest Payment Dates
2015 4.65% Senior Notes issued at 99.846% of face value October 2025 $ 1,000 April 15 and October 15

2014 2.60% Senior Notes issued at 99.813% of face value December 2019 $ 500 June 15 and December 15
2014 4.90% Senior Notes issued at 99.876% of face value February 2045 $ 650 February 15 and August 15
2014 3.60% Senior Notes issued at 99.842% of face value November 2024 $ 750 May 1 and November 1
2014 4.70% Senior Notes issued at 99.734% of face value June 2044 $ 700 June 15 and December 15

2013 3.85% Senior Notes issued at 99.792% of face value October 2023 $ 700 April 15 and October 15
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Maturities

The weighted average maturity of our long-term debt outstanding at December 31, 2015 was approximately 11 years. The 
following table presents the aggregate contractually scheduled maturities for the next five years and thereafter. The amounts presented 
exclude unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs.

Covenants and Compliance

Our credit agreements (which impact our ability to access our commercial paper program because they provide the backstop 
that supports our short-term credit ratings) and the indentures governing our senior notes contain cross-default provisions. Our credit 
agreements prohibit declaration or payments of distributions on, or purchases or redemptions of, units if any default or event of default 
is continuing. In addition, the agreements contain various covenants limiting our ability to, among other things:

grant liens on certain property;

incur indebtedness, including capital leases;

sell substantially all of our assets or enter into a merger or consolidation;

engage in certain transactions with affiliates; and

enter into certain burdensome agreements.

The credit agreements for our senior unsecured revolving credit facility, senior secured hedged inventory facility and senior 
unsecured 364-day revolving credit facility treat a change of control as an event of default and also require us to maintain a debt-to-
EBITDA coverage ratio that, on a trailing four-quarter basis, will not be greater than 5.00 to 1.00 (or 5.50 to 1.00 on all outstanding 
debt during an acquisition period (generally, the period consisting of three fiscal quarters following an acquisition greater than $150 
million)). For covenant compliance purposes, Consolidated EBITDA may include certain adjustments, including those for material 
projects and certain non-recurring expenses. Additionally, letters of credit and borrowings to fund hedged inventory and margin 
requirements are excluded when calculating the debt coverage ratio.

A default under our credit facilities would permit the lenders to accelerate the maturity of the outstanding debt. As long as we 
are in compliance with our credit agreements, our ability to make distributions of available cash is not restricted. As of December 31, 
2015, we were in compliance with the covenants contained in our credit agreements and indentures.

Borrowings and Repayments

Total borrowings under our credit agreements and commercial paper program for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 
and 2013 were approximately $62.2 billion, $70.9 billion and $31.0 billion, respectively. Total repayments under our credit 
agreements and commercial paper program were approximately $61.3 billion, $71.3 billion and $31.0 billion for the years ended 
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The variance in total gross borrowings and repayments is impacted by various 
business and financial factors including, but not limited to, the timing, average term and method of general partnership borrowing 
activities.
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Payment
Calendar Year (in millions)
2016 $ 847
2017 400
2018 600
2019 850
2020 500
Thereafter 7,255
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Letters of Credit

In connection with our supply and logistics activities, we provide certain suppliers with irrevocable standby letters of credit 
to secure our obligation for the purchase of crude oil, NGL and natural gas. These letters of credit are issued under the PAA senior 
unsecured revolving credit facility and the PAA senior secured hedged inventory facility, and our liabilities with respect to these 
purchase obligations are recorded in accounts payable on our balance sheet in the month the crude oil, NGL or natural gas is 
purchased. Generally, these letters of credit are issued for periods of up to seventy days and are terminated upon completion of each 
transaction. Additionally, we issue letters of credit to support insurance programs, derivative transactions and construction activities. 
At December 31, 2015 and 2014, we had outstanding letters of credit of $46 million and $87 million, respectively.

Debt Issuance Costs

Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of senior notes are recorded as a direct deduction from the related debt 
liability and are amortized using the straight-line method over the term of the related debt. Use of the straight-line method does not 
differ materially from the “effective interest” method of amortization.

Note 10—Partners’ Capital and Distributions

Units Outstanding

At December 31, 2015, Partners’ capital consisted of 397,727,624 common units outstanding, representing a 98% effective 
aggregate ownership interest in the Partnership and its subsidiaries after giving effect to the 2% general partner interest.

In January 2016, we completed the private placement of a newly authorized series of preferred units. See “Equity Offerings”
below for additional information.

Distributions

We distribute 100% of our available cash within 45 days following the end of each quarter to unitholders of record and to our 
general partner. Available cash is generally defined as all of our cash and cash equivalents on hand at the end of each quarter, less 
reserves established in the discretion of our general partner for future requirements.

General Partner Distributions. Our general partner is entitled to receive (i) distributions representing its 2% general partner 
interest and (ii) incentive distributions if the amount we distribute with respect to any quarter exceeds levels specified in our 
partnership agreement. Under the quarterly distribution provisions, the general partner is entitled, without duplication and except for 
the agreed upon adjustments discussed below, to 2% of amounts we distribute up to $0.2250 per unit, referred to as our MQD, 15% of 
amounts we distribute in excess of $0.2250 per unit, 25% of the amounts we distribute in excess of $0.2475 per unit and 50% of 
amounts we distribute in excess of $0.3375 per unit.

Per unit cash distributions on our outstanding common units and the portion of the distributions representing an excess over 
the MQD were as follows for the periods indicated:

Distributions represent those declared and paid in the applicable period shown.

During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, our general partner’s incentive distributions were reduced by 
approximately $22 million, $23 million and $15 million, respectively. These reductions were agreed to in connection with the BP 
NGL Acquisition and the PNG Merger. In addition, our general partner has agreed to reduce the amount of its incentive distribution 
by $5.0 million per quarter in 2016 and $3.75 million per quarter thereafter. In connection with our January 2016 private placement of 
preferred units, as discussed further in “Equity Offerings” below, our general partner agreed to further modify its IDRs such that when 
the preferred units convert into common units, the IDRs associated with the resulting common units will only participate in 
distribution growth above an annualized distribution level of $2.80 per converted common unit.

F-25

Year
2015 2014 2013

Excess Excess Excess
Distribution over MQD Distribution over MQD Distribution over MQD

First Quarter $ 0.6750 $ 0.4500 $ 0.6150 $ 0.3900 $ 0.5625 $ 0.3375
Second Quarter $ 0.6850 $ 0.4600 $ 0.6300 $ 0.4050 $ 0.5750 $ 0.3500
Third Quarter $ 0.6950 $ 0.4700 $ 0.6450 $ 0.4200 $ 0.5875 $ 0.3625
Fourth Quarter $ 0.7000 $ 0.4750 $ 0.6600 $ 0.4350 $ 0.6000 $ 0.3750

(1) (1) (1)

(1)
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The following table details distributions, net of reductions in our general partner’s incentive distributions, paid during the 
periods indicated (in millions, except per unit data):

On January 12, 2016, we declared a cash distribution of $0.70 per unit on our outstanding common units. The distribution 
was paid on February 12, 2016 to unitholders of record on January 29, 2016, for the period October 1, 2015 through December 31, 
2015. The total distribution paid was $433 million, with $278 million paid to our common unitholders and $155 million paid to our 
general partner for its 2% general partner and incentive distribution interests.

Equity Offerings

Common Unit Issuances. We have entered into several equity distribution agreements under our Continuous Offering 
Program, pursuant to which we may offer and sell, through sales agents, common units representing limited partner interests. In 
addition to our Continuous Offering Program, we may sell common units through overnight or underwritten offerings.

The following table summarizes our issuance of common units in connection with our Continuous Offering Program and 
underwritten offerings during the periods indicated (net proceeds in millions):

Amounts are net of costs associated with the offerings.

Amounts include our general partner’s proportionate capital contributions of $22 million, $18 million and $9 million during 
2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

We pay commissions to our sales agents in connection with common unit issuances under our Continuous Offering Program. 
We paid $1 million, $9 million and $5 million of such commissions during 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Preferred Unit Issuance. In January 2016, we completed the private placement of approximately 61.0 million Series A 
Convertible Preferred Units representing limited partner interests in us (the “preferred units”), for a cash purchase price of $26.25 per 
unit (the “Issue Price”), resulting in total net proceeds to us, after deducting offering expenses and the 2% transaction fee due to the 
purchasers and including our general partner’s proportionate capital contribution, of approximately $1.6 billion. Certain of the 
purchasers or their affiliates are related parties. See Note 14 for additional information.

The preferred units are a new class of equity security that ranks senior to all classes or series of our equity securities with 
respect to distribution rights and rights upon liquidation. The holders of the preferred units will receive quarterly distributions, subject 
to customary anti-dilution adjustments, equal to an annual rate of 8% of the Issue Price ($2.10 per unit annualized). Our general 
partner will be entitled to participate in distributions on the preferred units equal to its 2% interest. For a period of 30 days following 
(a) the fifth anniversary of the issue date of the preferred units and (b) each subsequent anniversary of the issue date, the holders of 
preferred units, acting by majority vote, may make a one-time election to reset the preferred unit distribution rate (the “Distribution 
Rate Reset”). If the holders of the preferred units have exercised the Distribution Rate Reset, then, at any time following 30 days after 
the sixth anniversary of the issue date of the preferred units, we may redeem all or any portion of the outstanding preferred units in 
exchange for cash, common units (valued at 95% of the volume-weighted average price of the common units for a trading day period 
specified in our partnership agreement) or a combination of cash and common units at a redemption price equal to 110% of the Issue 
Price, plus any accrued and unpaid distributions.
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Distributions Paid Distributions per
Year Common Unitholders General Partner Total common unit
2015 $ 1,081 $ 590 $ 1,671 $ 2.755
2014 $ 934 $ 473 $ 1,407 $ 2.550
2013 $ 791 $ 369 $ 1,160 $ 2.325

Year Type of Offering Units Issued Net Proceeds 
2015 Continuous Offering Program 1,133,904 $ 59
2015 Underwritten Offering 21,000,000 1,062

2015 Total 22,133,904 $ 1,121

2014 Total Continuous Offering Program 15,375,810 $ 866

2013 Total Continuous Offering Program 8,644,807 $ 477

(1)(2)

(3)

(3)

(3)

(1)

(2)

(3)
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The purchasers may convert their preferred units, generally on a one-for-one basis and subject to customary anti-dilution 
adjustments, at any time after the second anniversary of the issuance date (or prior to a liquidation), in whole or in part, subject to 
certain minimum conversion amounts. We may convert the preferred units at any time (but not more often than once per quarter) after 
the third anniversary of the issuance date, in whole or in part, subject to certain minimum conversion amounts, if the closing price of 
our common units is greater than 150% of the Issue Price for the preceding 20 trading days. The preferred units will vote on an as-
converted basis with our common units and will have certain other class voting rights with respect to any amendment to our 
partnership agreement that would adversely affect any rights, preferences or privileges of the preferred units. In addition, upon certain 
events involving a change of control, the holders of the preferred units may elect, among other potential elections, to convert the 
preferred units to common units at the then applicable conversion rate.

Noncontrolling Interests in Subsidiaries

As of December 31, 2015, noncontrolling interests in our subsidiaries consisted of a 25% interest in SLC Pipeline LLC.

PNG Merger

Prior to the PNG Merger, which was completed on December 31, 2013, we owned 100% of the outstanding subordinated 
units of PNG and approximately 46% of the 61.2 million outstanding common units of PNG. Under the terms of the PNG Merger 
Agreement, we issued 0.445 PAA common units for each outstanding PNG common unit (the “Merger Exchange Ratio”) held by 
unitholders other than us, plus cash in lieu of any fractional PAA common units otherwise issuable in the PNG Merger. Also in 
conjunction with the PNG Merger, our general partner agreed to reduce the amount of its incentive distributions. See “Distributions”
above.

As a result of the PNG Merger, we purchased the noncontrolling interests in PNG for consideration of approximately 14.7 
million PAA common units valued at $760 million. Such purchase resulted in an equity-classified loss of $290 million, which we 
recorded as a decrease to our partners’ capital. In addition, in conjunction with the PNG Merger, our general partner made a 
proportional contribution of $16 million associated with our issuance of PAA common units and we incurred transaction costs of $4 
million resulting in a net increase in partners’ capital associated with the PNG Merger of $12 million.

Issuance of PNG Common Units

PNG issued approximately 1.9 million common units during the year ended December 31, 2013. As a result of PNG’s 
common unit issuances, we recorded an increase in noncontrolling interest of $32 million and an increase to our partners’ capital of $8 
million in 2013. These increases represent the portion of the proceeds attributable to the respective ownership interests in PNG, 
adjusted for the impact of the dilution of our ownership interest.

The following table as required by GAAP sets forth the impact on net income attributable to PAA giving effect to the 
changes in our ownership interest in PNG during 2013 discussed above, which was recognized in partners’ capital (in millions):

Note 11—Derivatives and Risk Management Activities

We identify the risks that underlie our core business activities and use risk management strategies to mitigate those risks 
when we determine that there is value in doing so.  Our policy is to use derivative instruments for risk management purposes and not 
for the purpose of speculating on hydrocarbon commodity (referred to herein as “commodity”) price changes.  We use various 
derivative instruments to (i) manage our exposure to commodity price risk, as well as to optimize our profits, (ii) manage our exposure 
to interest rate risk and (iii) manage our exposure to currency exchange rate risk.  Our commodity risk management policies and 
procedures are designed to help ensure that our hedging activities address our risks by monitoring our derivative positions, as well as 
physical volumes, grades, locations, delivery schedules and storage capacity.  Our interest rate and currency exchange rate risk
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Year Ended
December 31, 2013

Net income attributable to PAA $ 1,361
Transfers to/from noncontrolling interests:

Increase in capital from sale of PNG common units 8
Decrease in capital from purchase of PNG common units in conjunction with the PNG Merger (290)

Net transfers to/from noncontrolling interests (282)
Change from net income attributable to PAA and transfers to/from noncontrolling interests $ 1,079
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management policies and procedures are designed to monitor our derivative positions and ensure that those positions are consistent 
with our objectives and approved strategies.  When we apply hedge accounting, our policy is to formally document all relationships 
between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as our risk management objectives for undertaking the hedge.  This process 
includes specific identification of the hedging instrument and the hedged transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the 
hedging instrument’s effectiveness will be assessed.  Both at the inception of the hedge and throughout the hedging relationship, we 
assess whether the derivatives employed are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of anticipated hedged transactions.

Commodity Price Risk Hedging

Our core business activities involve certain commodity price-related risks that we manage in various ways, including through 
the use of derivative instruments.  Our policy is to (i) only purchase inventory for which we have a market, (ii) structure our sales 
contracts so that price fluctuations do not materially affect our operating income and (iii) not acquire and hold physical inventory or 
derivatives for the purpose of speculating on commodity price changes.  The material commodity-related risks inherent in our business 
activities can be divided into the following general categories:

Commodity Purchases and Sales — In the normal course of our operations, we purchase and sell commodities.  We use 
derivatives to manage the associated risks and to optimize profits.  As of December 31, 2015, net derivative positions related to these 
activities included:

An average of 92,100 barrels per day net long position (total of 2.9 million barrels) associated with our crude oil 
purchases, which was unwound ratably during January 2016 to match monthly average pricing.

A net short time spread position averaging 11,500 barrels per day (total of 5.6 million barrels), which hedges a portion of 
our anticipated crude oil lease gathering purchases through April 2017.

An average of 8,000 barrels per day (total of 3.7 million barrels) of crude oil grade spread positions through 
December 2016. These derivatives allow us to lock in grade basis differentials.

A net short position of 18.9 Bcf through May 2016 related to anticipated sales of natural gas inventory and base gas 
requirements.

A net short position of 29.7 million barrels through January 2018 related to anticipated net sales of our crude oil and 
NGL inventory.

Pipeline Loss Allowance Oil — As is common in the pipeline transportation industry, our tariffs incorporate a loss allowance 
factor that is intended to, among other things, offset losses due to evaporation, measurement and other losses in transit.  We utilize 
derivative instruments to hedge a portion of the anticipated sales of the allowance oil that is to be collected under our tariffs.  As of 
December 31, 2015, our material PLA hedges included a long call option position of approximately 1.6 million barrels through 
December 2018.

Natural Gas Processing/NGL Fractionation — We purchase natural gas for processing and operational needs. Additionally, 
we purchase NGL mix for fractionation and sell the resulting individual specification products (including ethane, propane, butane and 
condensate).  In conjunction with these activities, we hedge the price risk associated with the purchase of the natural gas and the 
subsequent sale of the individual specification products.  As of December 31, 2015, we had a long natural gas position of 5.7 Bcf 
through December 2016, a short propane position of 1.2 million barrels through December 2016, a short butane position of 0.4 million 
barrels through December 2016 and a short WTI position of 0.1 million barrels through December 2016. In addition, we had a long 
power position of 0.4 million megawatt hours, which hedges a portion of our power supply requirements at our Canadian natural gas 
processing and fractionation plants through December 2018.

Physical commodity contracts that meet the definition of a derivative but are ineligible, or not designated, for the normal 
purchases and normal sales scope exception are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in 
earnings. We have determined that substantially all of our physical commodity contracts qualify for the normal purchases and normal 
sales scope exception.
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Interest Rate Risk Hedging

We use interest rate derivatives to hedge interest rate risk associated with anticipated and outstanding interest payments 
occurring as a result of debt issuances.  The derivative instruments we use to manage this risk consist of forward starting interest rate 
swaps and treasury locks.  As of December 31, 2015, AOCI includes deferred losses of $183 million that relate to open and terminated 
interest rate derivatives that were designated as cash flow hedges.  The terminated interest rate derivatives were cash-settled in 
connection with the issuance or refinancing of debt agreements.  The deferred loss related to these instruments is being amortized to 
interest expense over the terms of the hedged debt instruments.

We have entered into forward starting interest rate swaps to hedge the underlying benchmark interest rate related to 
forecasted interest payments through 2049. The following table summarizes the terms of our forward starting interest rate swaps as of 
December 31, 2015 (notional amounts in millions):

The following table summarizes activity related to terminated interest rate derivatives (all of which were designated as cash 
flow hedges) for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 (notional amounts and cash received/(paid) in millions):

Currency Exchange Rate Risk Hedging

Because a significant portion of our Canadian business is conducted in CAD and, at times, a portion of our debt is 
denominated in CAD, we use foreign currency derivatives to minimize the risk of unfavorable changes in exchange rates.  These 
instruments include foreign currency exchange contracts and forwards.

As of December 31, 2015, our outstanding foreign currency derivatives include derivatives we use to (i) hedge currency 
exchange risk associated with USD-denominated commodity purchases and sales in Canada and (ii) hedge currency exchange risk 
created by the use of USD-denominated commodity derivatives to hedge commodity price risk associated with CAD-denominated 
commodity purchases and sales.

The following table summarizes our open forward exchange contracts as of December 31, 2015 (in millions):

Summary of Financial Impact

We record all open derivatives on the balance sheet as either assets or liabilities measured at fair value. Changes in the fair 
value of derivatives are recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met.  For derivatives that qualify 
as cash flow hedges, changes in fair value of the effective portion of the hedges are deferred in AOCI and recognized in earnings in
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Hedged Transaction
Number and Types of
Derivatives Employed

Notional
Amount

Expected
Termination Date

Average Rate
Locked

Accounting
Treatment

Anticipated interest 
payments

8 forward starting swaps 
(30-year)

$ 200 6/15/2016 3.06% Cash flow hedge

Anticipated interest 
payments

8 forward starting swaps 
(30-year)

$ 200 6/15/2017 3.14% Cash flow hedge

Anticipated interest 
payments

8 forward starting swaps 
(30-year)

$ 200 6/15/2018 3.20% Cash flow hedge

Anticipated interest 
payments

8 forward starting swaps 
(30-year)

$ 200 6/14/2019 2.83% Cash flow hedge

Hedged Transaction
Number and Types of

Derivatives Terminated
Notional
Amount

Cash
Received/(Paid)

Average Rate
Locked

August 2015 senior note issuance 10 forward starting swaps (30-year) $ 250 $ (31) 3.60%
August 2015 senior note issuance 7 forward starting swaps (30-year) $ 250 $ (21) 3.03%
April 2014 senior note issuance 5 treasury lock agreements $ 250 $ (7) 3.62%
August 2013 senior note issuance 5 forward starting swaps (30-year) $ 125 $ 11 3.39%

USD CAD
Average Exchange Rate

USD to CAD
Forward exchange contracts that exchange CAD for USD:

2016 $ 150 $ 207 $1.00 - $1.38

Forward exchange contracts that exchange USD for CAD:
2016 $ 219 $ 291 $1.00 - $1.33
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the periods during which the underlying physical transactions are recognized in earnings. Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting and the portion of cash flow hedges that are not highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged items are 
recognized in earnings each period. Cash settlements associated with our derivative activities are classified within the same category 
as the related hedged item in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

A summary of the impact of our derivative activities recognized in earnings for the periods indicated is as follows (in 
millions):

F-30

Year Ended December 31, 2015

Location of Gain/(Loss)

Derivatives in
Hedging

Relationships

Derivatives
Not Designated

as a Hedge Total
Commodity Derivatives

Supply and Logistics segment revenues $ 56 $ 152 $ 208

Transportation segment revenues — 8 8

Field operating costs — (18) (18)

Interest Rate Derivatives

Interest expense (11) — (11)

Foreign Currency Derivatives

Supply and Logistics segment revenues — (31) (31)

Total Gain/(Loss) on Derivatives Recognized in Net Income $ 45 $ 111 $ 156

Year Ended December 31, 2014

Location of Gain/(Loss)

Derivatives in
Hedging

Relationships

Derivatives
Not Designated

as a Hedge Total
Commodity Derivatives

Supply and Logistics segment revenues $ (1) $ 206 $ 205

Field operating costs — (21) (21)

Interest Rate Derivatives

Interest expense (5) — (5)

Foreign Currency Derivatives

Supply and Logistics segment revenues — (28) (28)

Other income/(expense), net 2 — 2

Total Gain/(Loss) on Derivatives Recognized in Net Income $ (4) $ 157 $ 153
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The following table summarizes the derivative assets and liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets on a gross basis as of 
December 31, 2015 (in millions):
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Year Ended December 31, 2013

Location of Gain/(Loss)

Derivatives in
Hedging

Relationships

Derivatives
Not Designated

as a Hedge Total
Commodity Derivatives

Supply and Logistics segment revenues $ 77 $ (116) $ (39)

Facilities segment revenues (11) — (11)

Field operating costs — 8 8

Interest Rate Derivatives

Interest expense (4) — (4)

Foreign Currency Derivatives

Other income/(expense), net 5 — 5

Total Gain/(Loss) on Derivatives Recognized in Net Income $ 67 $ (108) $ (41)

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
Balance Sheet Fair Balance Sheet Fair

Location Value Location Value
Derivatives designated as hedging 

instruments:
Commodity derivatives Other current assets $ 4 Other current assets $ (2)

Interest rate derivatives Other long-term assets, net 1 Other current liabilities (17)
Other long-term liabilities 

and deferred credits (33)
Total derivatives designated as hedging 

instruments $ 5 $ (52)

Derivatives not designated as hedging 
instruments:

Commodity derivatives Other current assets $ 265 Other current assets $ (35)
Other long-term assets, net 10 Other long-term assets, net (1)

Other current liabilities (13)
Other long-term liabilities 

and deferred credits (1)

Foreign currency derivatives Other current liabilities (8)
Total derivatives not designated as 

hedging instruments $ 275 $ (58)

Total derivatives $ 280 $ (110)
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The following table summarizes the derivative assets and liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets on a gross basis as of 
December 31, 2014 (in millions):

Our derivative transactions are governed through ISDA (International Swaps and Derivatives Association) master agreements 
and clearing brokerage agreements. These agreements include stipulations regarding the right of set off in the event that we or our 
counterparty default on performance obligations. If a default were to occur, both parties have the right to net amounts payable and 
receivable into a single net settlement between parties.

Our accounting policy is to offset derivative assets and liabilities executed with the same counterparty when a master netting 
arrangement exists.  Accordingly, we also offset derivative assets and liabilities with amounts associated with cash margin.  Our 
exchange-traded derivatives are transacted through clearing brokerage accounts and are subject to margin requirements as established 
by the respective exchange.  On a daily basis, our account equity (consisting of the sum of our cash balance and the fair value of our 
open derivatives) is compared to our initial margin requirement resulting in the payment or return of variation margin. As of 
December 31, 2015, we had a net broker payable of $156 million (consisting of initial margin of $91 million reduced by $247 million 
of variation margin that had been returned to us).  As of December 31, 2014, we had a net broker payable of $133 million (consisting 
of initial margin of $126 million reduced by $259 million of variation margin that had been returned to us).
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Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
Balance Sheet Fair Balance Sheet Fair

Location Value Location Value
Derivatives designated as hedging 

instruments:
Commodity derivatives Other current assets $ 23 Other current assets $ (12)

Other long-term assets, net 8 Other long-term assets, net (1)

Interest rate derivatives Other current liabilities (44)
Other long-term liabilities 

and deferred credits (26)
Total derivatives designated as hedging 

instruments $ 31 $ (83)

Derivatives not designated as hedging 
instruments:

Commodity derivatives Other current assets $ 439 Other current assets $ (246)
Other long-term assets, net 23 Other long-term assets, net (3)

Other current liabilities (35)
Other long-term liabilities 

and deferred credits (5)

Foreign currency derivatives Other current liabilities (12)
Total derivatives not designated as 

hedging instruments $ 462 $ (301)

Total derivatives $ 493 $ (384)
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The following table presents information about derivative financial assets and liabilities that are subject to offsetting, 
including enforceable master netting arrangements as of the dates indicated (in millions):

As of December 31, 2015, there was a net loss of $203 million deferred in AOCI. The deferred net loss recorded in AOCI is 
expected to be reclassified to future earnings contemporaneously with (i) the earnings recognition of the underlying hedged 
commodity transaction or (ii) interest expense accruals associated with underlying debt instruments. Of the total net loss deferred in 
AOCI at December 31, 2015, we expect to reclassify a net loss of $3 million to earnings in the next twelve months. The remaining 
deferred loss of $200 million is expected to be reclassified to earnings through 2049. A portion of these amounts is based on market 
prices as of December 31, 2015; thus, actual amounts to be reclassified will differ and could vary materially as a result of changes in 
market conditions.

The net deferred gain/(loss), including tax effects, recognized in AOCI for derivatives for the periods indicated was as 
follows (in millions):

At December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, none of our outstanding derivatives contained credit-risk related contingent 
features that would result in a material adverse impact to us upon any change in our credit ratings.  Although we may be required to 
post margin on our cleared derivatives as described above, we do not require our non-cleared derivative counterparties to post 
collateral with us.

Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Derivative Financial Assets and Liabilities

The following table sets forth by level within the fair value hierarchy our financial assets and liabilities that were accounted 
for at fair value on a recurring basis as of the dates indicated (in millions):

Derivative assets and liabilities are presented above on a net basis but do not include related cash margin deposits.
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December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014
Derivative Derivative Derivative Derivative

Asset Positions Liability Positions Asset Positions Liability Positions
Netting Adjustments:
Gross position - asset/(liability) $ 280 $ (110) $ 493 $ (384)
Netting adjustment (38) 38 (262) 262
Cash collateral received (156) — (133) —
Net position - asset/(liability) $ 86 $ (72) $ 98 $ (122)

Balance Sheet Location After Netting 
Adjustments:

Other current assets $ 76 $ — $ 71 $ —
Other long-term assets, net 10 — 27 —
Other current liabilities — (38) — (91)
Other long-term liabilities and deferred credits — (34) — (31)

$ 86 $ (72) $ 98 $ (122)

Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Commodity derivatives, net $ 33 $ 15 $ 37
Interest rate derivatives, net (32) (103) 72
Foreign currency derivatives, net — 2 —

Total $ 1 $ (86) $ 109

Fair Value as of December 31, 2015 Fair Value as of December 31, 2014
Recurring Fair Value Measures Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Commodity derivatives $ 126 $ 90 $ 11 $ 227 $ (85) $ 261 $ 15 $ 191
Interest rate derivatives — (49) — (49) — (70) — (70)
Foreign currency derivatives — (8) — (8) — (12) — (12)

Total net derivative asset/(liability) $ 126 $ 33 $ 11 $ 170 $ (85) $ 179 $ 15 $ 109

(1)

(1)
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Level 1

Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy includes exchange-traded commodity derivatives such as futures and options.  The fair 
value of exchange-traded commodity derivatives is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets.

Level 2

Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy includes exchange-cleared commodity derivatives and over-the-counter commodity, 
interest rate and foreign currency derivatives that are traded in active markets. In addition, it includes certain physical 
commodity contracts. The fair value of these derivatives is based on broker price quotations which are corroborated with 
market observable inputs.

Level 3

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy includes certain physical commodity contracts. The fair value of our Level 3 physical 
commodity contracts is based on a valuation model utilizing broker-quoted forward commodity prices, and timing estimates, 
which involve management judgment. The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of our Level 3 
derivatives are forward prices obtained from brokers.  A significant increase or decrease in these forward prices could result 
in a material change in fair value to our Level 3 derivatives. We report unrealized gains and losses associated with Level 3 
commodity derivatives in our Consolidated Statements of Operations as Supply and Logistics segment revenues.

To the extent any transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy occur, our policy is to reflect these transfers as of the 
beginning of the reporting period in which they occurred.

Rollforward of Level 3 Net Asset/(Liability)

The following table provides a reconciliation of changes in fair value of the beginning and ending balances for our 
derivatives classified as Level 3 for the periods indicated (in millions):

Note 12—Income Taxes

Income tax expense is estimated using the tax rate in effect or to be in effect during the relevant periods in the jurisdictions in 
which we operate. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between the basis of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting and tax purposes and are stated at enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when taxes are actually 
paid or recovered. To the extent we do not consider it more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will be recovered, a valuation 
allowance is established.  Changes in tax legislation are included in the relevant computations in the period in which such changes are 
effective. We review contingent tax liabilities for estimated exposures on a more likely than not standard related to our current tax 
positions.

Pursuant to FASB guidance related to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, we must recognize the tax benefit from an 
uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon examination by the taxing 
authorities, based on the technical merits of the tax position and also the past administrative practices and precedents of the taxing 
authority. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, we had not recognized any material amounts in connection with uncertainty in income 
taxes.

U.S. Federal and State Taxes

As an MLP, we are not subject to U.S. federal income taxes; rather the tax effect of our operations is passed through to our 
unitholders. Although we are subject to state income taxes in some states, the impact to the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 
2013 was immaterial.
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Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014

Beginning Balance $ 15 $ (3)
Gains for the period included in earnings 1 —
Settlements (14) 3
Derivatives entered into during the period 9 15

Ending Balance $ 11 $ 15

Change in unrealized gains included in earnings relating to Level 3 derivatives still held at the 
end of the period $ 10 $ 15
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Canadian Federal and Provincial Taxes

All of our Canadian operations are conducted by entities that are treated as corporations for Canadian tax purposes (flow 
through for U.S. tax purposes) and that are subject to Canadian federal and provincial taxes. Additionally, payments of interest and 
dividends from our Canadian entities to other Plains entities are subject to Canadian withholding tax that is treated as income tax 
expense.

Tax Components

Components of income tax expense for the periods indicated are as follows (in millions):

The difference between income tax expense based on the statutory federal income tax rate and our effective income tax 
expense is summarized for the periods indicated as follows (in millions):
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Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Current income tax expense:
State income tax $ 1 $ 1 $ 1
Canadian federal and provincial income tax 83 70 99

Total current income tax expense $ 84 $ 71 $ 100

Deferred income tax expense/(benefit):
Canadian federal and provincial income tax $ 16 $ 100 $ (1)

Total deferred income tax expense/(benefit) $ 16 $ 100 $ (1)
Total income tax expense $ 100 $ 171 $ 99

Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Income before tax $ 1,006 $ 1,557 $ 1,490
Partnership earnings not subject to current Canadian tax (773) (976) (1,187)

$ 233 $ 581 $ 303
Canadian federal and provincial corporate tax rate 26% 25% 25%
Income tax at statutory rate $ 61 $ 145 $ 76

Canadian withholding tax $ 14 $ 16 $ 19
Canadian permanent differences and rate changes 24 9 3
State income tax 1 1 1

Total income tax expense $ 100 $ 171 $ 99
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are aggregated by the applicable tax paying entity and jurisdiction and result from the 
following as of the dates indicated (in millions):

As of December 31, 2015, we had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $11 million, which will expire beginning in 
2034.

Generally, tax returns for our Canadian entities are open to audit from 2008 through 2015.  Our U.S. and state tax years are 
generally open to examination from 2012 to 2015.

Note 13—Major Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk

Marathon Petroleum Corporation and its subsidiaries accounted for 17%, 17% and 15% of our revenues for the years ended 
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. ExxonMobil Corporation and its subsidiaries accounted for 13%, 15% and 13% of 
our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Phillips 66 and its subsidiaries accounted for 11% 
of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013. No other customers accounted for 10% or more of our revenues during any of 
the three years ended December 31, 2015. The majority of revenues from these customers pertain to our supply and logistics 
operations. The sales to these customers occur at multiple locations and we believe that the loss of these customers would have only a 
short-term impact on our operating results. There is risk, however, that we would not be able to identify and access a replacement 
market at comparable margins.

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of trade receivables. Our 
accounts receivable are primarily from purchasers and shippers of crude oil and, to a lesser extent, purchasers of NGL and natural gas. 
This industry concentration has the potential to impact our overall exposure to credit risk in that the customers may be similarly 
affected by changes in economic, industry or other conditions. We review credit exposure and financial information of our 
counterparties and generally require letters of credit for receivables from customers that are not considered creditworthy, unless the 
credit risk can otherwise be reduced. See Note 2 for additional discussion of our accounts receivable and our review of credit 
exposure.

Note 14—Related Party Transactions

Reimbursement of Expenses of Our General Partner and its Affiliates

We do not pay our general partner a management fee, but we do reimburse our general partner for all direct and indirect costs 
of services provided to us or incurred on our behalf, including the costs of employee, officer and director compensation and benefits 
allocable to us as well as all other expenses necessary or appropriate to the conduct of our business (other than expenses related to 
grants of AAP Management Units). We record these costs on the accrual basis in the period in which our general partner incurs them. 
Our partnership agreement provides that our general partner will determine the expenses that are allocable to us in any reasonable
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December 31,
2015 2014

Deferred tax assets:
Book accruals in excess of current tax deductions $ 20 $ 29
Net operating losses 3 2

Total deferred tax assets 23 31

Deferred tax liabilities:
Derivative instruments (30) (71)
Property and equipment in excess of tax values (312) (322)
Other (41) (49)

Total deferred tax liabilities (383) (442)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (360) $ (411)

Balance sheet classification of deferred tax assets/(liabilities):
Other long-term assets, net $ 3 $ 2
Other current liabilities — (64)
Other long-term liabilities and deferred credits (363) (349)

$ (360) $ (411)
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manner determined by our general partner in its sole discretion. Total costs reimbursed by us to our general partner for the years ended 
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 were $648 million, $598 million and $567 million, respectively.

Transactions with Oxy

As of December 31, 2015, Oxy owned approximately 13% of the limited partner interests in our general partner and had a 
representative on the board of directors of GP LLC. During the three years ended December 31, 2015, we recognized sales and 
transportation revenues and purchased petroleum products from Oxy. These transactions were conducted at posted tariff rates or prices 
that we believe approximate market. A portion of these transactions was conducted under a crude oil buy/sell agreement that includes 
a multi-year minimum volume commitment. The impact to our Consolidated Statements of Operations from those transactions is 
included below (in millions):

Purchases and related costs include crude oil buy/sell transactions that are accounted for as inventory exchanges and are 
presented net in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

We currently have a netting arrangement with Oxy. Our gross receivable and payable amounts with Oxy on our Consolidated 
Balance Sheets were as follows as of the dates indicated (in millions):

In November 2014, we purchased Oxy’s 50% interest in BridgeTex. See Note 7 for further discussion. Also in 
November 2014, Oxy exchanged a portion of its interest in our general partner for Class A shares of PAGP and immediately sold such 
shares through a secondary public offering completed by PAGP.

Transactions with Equity Method Investees 

We also have transactions with companies in which we hold an investment accounted for under the equity method of 
accounting (see Note 7 for information related to these investments). We recorded revenues of $17 million, $3 million and $33 million 
during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. During the three years ended December 31, 2015, we 
utilized transportation services and purchased petroleum products provided by these companies. Costs related to these services totaled 
$164 million, $75 million and $79 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. These transactions 
were conducted at posted tariff rates or contracted rates or prices that we believe approximate market. Receivables from our equity 
method investees totaled $14 million at December 31, 2015 and less than $1 million at December 31, 2014. Accounts payable to our 
equity method investees were $25 million and $6 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

In addition, we have an agreement to transport crude oil at posted tariff rates on a pipeline that is owned by an equity method 
investee, in which we own a 50% interest.  Our commitment to transport is supported by crude oil buy/sell agreements with third 
parties (including Oxy) with commensurate quantities.

Preferred Unit Issuance

In January 2016, we completed a private placement of preferred units. Certain of the purchasers of the preferred units or their 
affiliates are related parties. Kayne Anderson Capital Advisors, L.P. and certain of its affiliates and an affiliate of The Energy 
Minerals Group hold ownership interests in our general partner. In addition, certain of the current directors of our general partner are 
affiliated with certain of the purchasers. See Note 10 for additional information.

Note 15—Equity-Indexed Compensation Plans

PAA Long-Term Incentive Plan Awards

Plains All American 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan. In November 2013, our common unitholders approved the Plains All 
American 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “PAA 2013 LTIP”), which consolidated our three previous long-term incentive plans 
(the Plains All American GP LLC 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended, the Plains All American 2005 Long-Term Incentive 
Plan, as amended, and the Plains All American PPX Successor Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended) into a single plan. The PAA 
2013 LTIP authorizes the issuance of an aggregate of approximately 13.1 million PAA common units deliverable upon vesting. 
Although other types of awards are contemplated under the PAA 2013 LTIP, currently outstanding awards are limited to “phantom 
units,” which mature into the right to receive common units of PAA (or cash equivalent) upon vesting. Some awards also include 
DERs, which, subject to applicable vesting criteria, entitle the grantee to a cash payment equal to the cash distribution paid on an 
outstanding PAA common unit.

Plains All American PNG Successor Long-Term Incentive Plan. In conjunction with the PNG Merger on December 31, 2013, 
our general partner adopted and assumed the PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P. 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “PNG 2010 LTIP”) 
and changed the plan name to the Plains All American PNG Successor Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “PNG Successor LTIP”). 
Additionally, as a result of the PNG Merger, outstanding awards of PNG phantom units issued under the PNG 2010 LTIP were 
converted into comparable awards of phantom units representing the right to receive PAA common units by applying the Merger
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Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Revenues $ 866 $ 1,212 $ 1,309

Purchases and related costs $ 41 $ 925 $ 863

December 31,
2015 2014

Trade accounts receivable and other receivables $ 405 $ 489

Accounts payable $ 363 $ 441

(1)

(1)
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Exchange Ratio to each outstanding phantom unit and rounding down to the nearest PAA phantom unit for any fractions. See Note 10 
for further discussion of the PNG Merger. The PNG Successor LTIP authorizes the issuance of an aggregate of 1.3 million PAA 
common units deliverable upon vesting. Although other types of awards are contemplated under the PNG Successor LTIP, currently 
outstanding awards are limited to “phantom units,” which mature into the right to receive common units of PAA (or cash equivalent) 
upon vesting. Some awards also include DERs, which, subject to applicable vesting criteria, entitle the grantee to a cash payment 
equal to the cash distribution paid on an outstanding PAA common unit.

Plains All American GP LLC 2006 Long-Term Incentive Tracking Unit Plan. Our general partner has adopted the Plains All 
American GP LLC 2006 Long-Term Incentive Tracking Unit Plan (the “2006 Plan”) for non-officer employees. The 2006 Plan 
authorizes the grant of approximately 4.2 million “tracking units” which, upon vesting, represent the right to receive a cash payment in 
an amount based upon the market value of a PAA common unit at the time of vesting.

Our general partner is entitled to reimbursement by us for any costs incurred in settling obligations under the PAA 2013 
LTIP, the PNG Successor LTIP or the 2006 Plan.

At December 31, 2015, the following LTIP awards, denominated in PAA units, were outstanding (units in millions):

Approximately 2.7 million of the 6.9 million outstanding PAA LTIP awards also include DERs, of which 2.4 million had 
vested as of December 31, 2015.

LTIP units outstanding do not include AAP Management Units.

These LTIP awards have performance conditions requiring the attainment of an annualized PAA distribution of between 
$2.075 and $3.30 and vest upon the later of a certain date or the attainment of such levels. If the performance conditions are 
not attained while the grantee remains employed by us, or the grantee does not meet employment requirements, these awards 
will be forfeited. For purposes of this disclosure, vesting dates are based on an estimate of future distribution levels and 
assume that all grantees remain employed by us through the vesting date. As of December 31, 2015, a distribution of $2.90 
per unit was deemed probable of occurring in the reasonably foreseeable future (and was initially determined to be probable 
in the fourth quarter of 2014).

The achievement of the applicable performance conditions (distributions greater than $2.90 per unit) was not deemed to be 
probable as of December 31, 2015 and, therefore, no expense has been recognized related to these awards.

Our LTIP awards include both liability-classified and equity-classified awards. In accordance with FASB guidance regarding 
share-based payments, the fair value of liability-classified LTIP awards is calculated based on the closing market price of the 
underlying PAA unit at each balance sheet date and adjusted for the present value of any distributions that are estimated to occur on 
the underlying units over the vesting period that will not be received by the award recipients. The fair value of equity-classified LTIP 
awards is calculated based on the closing market price of the underlying PAA unit on the respective grant dates and adjusted for the 
present value of any distributions that are estimated to occur on the underlying units over the vesting period that will not be received 
by the award recipient. This fair value is recognized as compensation expense over the service period.

Our LTIP awards typically contain performance conditions based on the attainment of certain annualized distribution levels 
and vest upon the later of a certain date or the attainment of such levels.  For awards with performance conditions (such as distribution 
targets), expense is accrued over the service period only if the performance condition is considered probable of occurring.  When 
awards with performance conditions that were previously considered improbable become probable, we incur additional expense in the 
period that the probability assessment changes.  This is necessary to bring the accrued obligation associated with these awards up to 
the level it would be if we had been accruing for these awards since the grant date.  DER awards typically contain performance 
conditions based on the attainment of certain annualized distribution levels and become earned upon the attainment of such levels.  
The DERs terminate with the vesting or forfeiture of the underlying LTIP award.  For liability-classified awards, we recognize DER 
payments in the period the payment is earned as compensation expense.  For equity-classified awards, we recognize DER payments in 
the period they are paid as a reduction of partners’ capital.

Our accrued liability at December 31, 2015 related to all outstanding liability-classified LTIP awards and DERs was 
$33 million, of which $20 million was classified as short-term and $13 million was classified as long-term. These short- and long-term
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PAA PAA Probable Awards Not Yet
LTIP Units Distribution Estimated Unit Vesting Date Probable

Outstanding Required 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter Total Awards
6.9 $2.075-$3.300 1.9 1.5 1.0 0.8 0.5 5.7 1.2

(1) (2) (3)  (4)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)
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accrued LTIP liabilities are reflected in “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities” and “Other long-term liabilities and deferred 
credits,” respectively, on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. These liabilities include accruals associated with our assessment that an 
annualized distribution of $2.90 per unit is probable of occurring in the reasonably foreseeable future (which was initially determined 
to be probable in the fourth quarter of 2014). At December 31, 2014, the accrued liability was $101 million, of which $57 million was 
classified as short-term and $44 million was classified as long-term.

Activity for LTIP awards under our equity-indexed compensation plans denominated in PAA and PNG units is summarized 
in the following table for the periods indicated (units in millions):

Amounts do not include AAP Management Units.

Approximately 0.5 million, 0.6 million and 0.5 million PAA common units were issued, net of tax withholding of 
approximately 0.3 million, 0.3 million and 0.3 million units during 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively, in connection with the 
settlement of vested awards. The remaining PAA awards (approximately 1.3 million, 1.0 million and 1.0 million units) that 
vested during 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively, were settled in cash.

Less than 0.1 million PNG units vested during the year ended December 31, 2013.

The unvested portion of grants of PNG phantom unit awards other than those granted under the PNG 2010 LTIP was 
surrendered on December 31, 2013 in connection with the closing of the PNG Merger.

As a result of the PNG Merger on December 31, 2013, outstanding awards of PNG phantom units issued under the PNG 2010 
LTIP were converted into comparable awards of PAA phantom units representing the right to receive PAA common units by 
applying the Merger Exchange Ratio to each outstanding PNG phantom unit and rounding down to the nearest PAA phantom 
unit for any fractions.

AAP Management Units

In August 2007, the owners of our general partner authorized the issuance of AAP Management Units (a profits interest) in 
order to provide additional long-term incentives and encourage retention for certain members of our senior management. AAP 
Management Units become earned in various increments upon the achievement of certain performance thresholds related to 
achievement of targeted distribution levels. As of December 31, 2015, 2.2 million AAP Management Units were unearned; however, 
these unearned AAP Management Units will become earned in 25% increments upon or 180 days after the achievement of annualized 
PAA distribution levels of between $2.85 and $3.50. When earned, the AAP Management Units are entitled to participate in 
distributions paid by our general partner in excess of $11 million (as adjusted for debt service costs and excluding special distributions 
funded by debt) per quarter. Up to approximately 52.1 million AAP Management Units are authorized for issuance. Assuming all 52.1 
million AAP Management Units were granted and earned, the maximum participation would be approximately 8% of our general 
partner’s distribution in excess of $11 million (as adjusted) each quarter.
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PAA Units PNG Units
Weighted Average Weighted Average

Grant Date Grant Date
Units Fair Value per Unit Units Fair Value per Unit

Outstanding at December 31, 2012 6.0 $ 25.55 0.9 $ 17.49
Granted 4.1 $ 47.60 0.4 $ 17.51
Vested (1.8) $ 24.79 — $ 18.88
Cancelled or forfeited (0.3) $ 36.70 (0.3) $ 21.62
Conversion of PNG unit-denominated awards 

into PAA unit-denominated awards 0.4 $ 40.54 (1.0) $ 16.41
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 8.4 $ 36.97 — $ —

Granted 1.2 $ 47.68
Vested (1.9) $ 25.49
Cancelled or forfeited (0.4) $ 40.14

Outstanding at December 31, 2014 7.3 $ 41.45
Granted 2.1 $ 28.76
Vested (2.1) $ 28.91
Cancelled or forfeited (0.4) $ 44.56

Outstanding at December 31, 2015 6.9 $ 41.23

(1) (2)

(3)
(4)

(5)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)
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The following is a summary of activity of AAP Management Units for the periods indicated (in millions):

Of the $88 million grant date fair value, $56 million had been recognized through December 31, 2015 on a cumulative basis. 
Of this amount, $1 million, $7 million and $5 million was recognized as expense during the years ended December 31, 2015, 
2014 and 2013, respectively.

The entire economic burden of the AAP Management Units, which are equity classified, is borne solely by AAP and does not 
impact our cash or units outstanding. However, because the intent of the AAP Management Units is to provide a performance 
incentive and encourage retention for certain members of our senior management, we recognize the grant date fair value of the AAP 
Management Units as compensation expense over the service period. The expense is also reflected as a capital contribution and thus, 
results in a corresponding credit to partners’ capital on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Other Consolidated Equity-Indexed Compensation Plan Information

We refer to all of the LTIPs and AAP Management Units collectively as our “equity-indexed compensation plans.” The table 
below summarizes the expense recognized and the value of vested LTIP awards (settled both in common units and cash) under our 
equity-indexed compensation plans and includes both liability-classified and equity-classified awards for the periods indicated (in 
millions):

Based on the December 31, 2015 fair value measurement and probability assessment regarding future distributions, we 
expect to recognize $73 million of additional expense over the life of our outstanding awards related to the remaining unrecognized 
fair value. Actual amounts may differ materially as a result of a change in the market price of our units and/or probability assessments 
regarding future distributions. We estimate that the remaining fair value will be recognized in expense as shown below (in millions):

Amounts do not include fair value associated with awards containing performance conditions that are not considered to be 
probable of occurring at December 31, 2015.

Includes unamortized fair value associated with AAP Management Units.
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Reserved for
Future Grants Outstanding

Outstanding
Units Earned

Grant Date
Fair Value of Outstanding
AAP Management Units 

Balance at December 31, 2013 3.5 48.6 47.0 $ 51
Granted (0.5) 0.5 — 13
Earned N/A N/A 0.8 N/A

Balance at December 31, 2014 3.0 49.1 47.8 $ 64
Granted (1.6) 1.6 — 24
Earned N/A N/A 0.7 N/A

Balance at December 31, 2015 1.4 50.7 48.5 $ 88

Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Equity-indexed compensation expense $ 27 $ 98 $ 116
LTIP unit-settled vestings $ 37 $ 53 $ 48
LTIP cash-settled vestings $ 66 $ 53 $ 61
DER cash payments $ 8 $ 8 $ 8

Year

Equity-Indexed
Compensation Plan Fair Value

Amortization 
2016 $ 37
2017 21
2018 11
2019 3
2020 1

Total $ 73

(1)

(1)

(1) (2)

(1)

(2)
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Note 16—Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

We have commitments, some of which are leases, related to real property, equipment and operating facilities. We also incur 
costs associated with leased land, rights-of-way, permits and regulatory fees. Future non-cancelable commitments related to these 
items at December 31, 2015, are summarized below (in millions):

Includes capital and operating leases as defined by FASB guidance. Lease expense for 2015, 2014 and 2013 was 
$164 million, $145 million and $132 million, respectively.

Primarily includes third-party storage and transportation agreements and pipeline throughput agreements, as well as 
approximately $930 million associated with an agreement to transport crude oil on a pipeline that is owned by an equity 
method investee, in which we own a 50% interest. Our commitment to transport is supported by crude oil buy/sell 
agreements with third parties (including Oxy) with commensurate quantities.

Loss Contingencies  — General

To the extent we are able to assess the likelihood of a negative outcome for a contingency, our assessments of such likelihood 
range from remote to probable. If we determine that a negative outcome is probable and the amount of loss is reasonably estimable, 
we accrue an undiscounted liability equal to the estimated amount.  If a range of probable loss amounts can be reasonably estimated 
and no amount within the range is a better estimate than any other amount, then we accrue an undiscounted liability equal to the 
minimum amount in the range.  In addition, we estimate legal fees that we expect to incur associated with loss contingencies and 
accrue those costs when they are material and probable of being incurred.

We do not record a contingent liability when the likelihood of loss is probable but the amount cannot be reasonably estimated 
or when the likelihood of loss is believed to be only reasonably possible or remote. For contingencies where an unfavorable outcome 
is reasonably possible and the impact would be material to our consolidated financial statements, we disclose the nature of the 
contingency and, where feasible, an estimate of the possible loss or range of loss.

Legal Proceedings — General

In the ordinary course of business, we are involved in various legal proceedings, including those arising from regulatory and 
environmental matters. Although we are insured against various risks to the extent we believe it is prudent, there is no assurance that 
the nature and amount of such insurance will be adequate, in every case, to fully protect us from losses arising from current or future 
legal proceedings.

Taking into account what we believe to be all relevant known facts and circumstances, and based on what we believe to be 
reasonable assumptions regarding the application of those facts and circumstances to existing laws and regulations, we do not believe 
that the outcome of the legal proceedings in which we are currently involved (including those described below) will, individually or in 
the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Environmental — General

Although over the course of the last several years we have made significant investments in our maintenance and integrity 
programs, and have hired additional personnel in those areas, we have experienced (and likely will experience future) releases of 
hydrocarbon products into the environment from our pipeline, rail, storage and other facility operations. These releases can result from 
accidents or from unpredictable man-made or natural forces and may reach surface water bodies, groundwater aquifers or other 
sensitive environments. Damages and liabilities associated with any such releases from our existing or future assets could be 
significant and could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

We record environmental liabilities when environmental assessments and/or remedial efforts are probable and the amounts 
can be reasonably estimated. Generally, our recording of these accruals coincides with our completion of a feasibility study or our
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Thereafter Total
Leases $ 200 $ 184 $ 154 $ 128 $ 108 $ 427 $ 1,201
Other commitments 150 152 133 127 129 487 1,178
Total $ 350 $ 336 $ 287 $ 255 $ 237 $ 914 $ 2,379

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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commitment to a formal plan of action. We do not discount our environmental remediation liabilities to present value. We also record 
environmental liabilities assumed in business combinations based on the estimated fair value of the environmental obligations caused 
by past operations of the acquired company. We record receivables for amounts recoverable from insurance or from third parties under 
indemnification agreements in the period that we determine the costs are probable of recovery.

Environmental expenditures that pertain to current operations or to future revenues are expensed or capitalized consistent 
with our capitalization policy for property and equipment. Expenditures that result from the remediation of an existing condition 
caused by past operations and that do not contribute to current or future profitability are expensed.

At December 31, 2015, our estimated undiscounted reserve for environmental liabilities (including liabilities related to the 
Line 901 incident, as discussed further below) totaled $185 million, of which $81 million was classified as short-term and $104 
million was classified as long-term. At December 31, 2014, our estimated undiscounted reserve for environmental liabilities totaled 
$82 million, of which $13 million was classified as short-term and $69 million was classified as long-term. The short- and long-term 
environmental liabilities referenced above are reflected in “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities” and “Other long-term liabilities 
and deferred credits,” respectively, on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, we had recorded 
receivables totaling $161 million and $8 million, respectively, for amounts probable of recovery under insurance and from third 
parties under indemnification agreements, which are predominantly reflected in “Trade accounts receivable and other receivables, net”
on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In some cases, the actual cash expenditures associated with these liabilities may not occur for three years or longer. Our 
estimates used in determining these reserves are based on information currently available to us and our assessment of the ultimate 
outcome. Among the many uncertainties that impact our estimates are the necessary regulatory approvals for, and potential 
modification of, our remediation plans, the limited amount of data available upon initial assessment of the impact of soil or water 
contamination, changes in costs associated with environmental remediation services and equipment and the possibility of existing or 
future legal claims giving rise to additional liabilities. Therefore, although we believe that the reserve is adequate, actual costs incurred 
(which may ultimately include costs for contingencies that are currently not reasonably estimable or costs for contingencies where the 
likelihood of loss is currently believed to be only reasonably possible or remote) may be in excess of the reserve and may potentially 
have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Specific Legal, Environmental or Regulatory Matters

Line 901 Incident. In May 2015, we experienced a crude oil release from our Las Flores to Gaviota Pipeline (Line 901) in 
Santa Barbara County, California.  A portion of the released crude oil reached the Pacific Ocean at Refugio State Beach through a 
drainage culvert. Following the release, we shut down the pipeline and initiated our emergency response plan. A Unified Command, 
which includes the United States Coast Guard, the EPA, the California Office of Spill Prevention and Response and the Santa Barbara 
Office of Emergency Management, was established for the response effort. Clean-up and remediation operations with respect to 
impacted shoreline and other areas has been determined by the Unified Command to be complete, subject to continued shoreline 
monitoring. The cause of the release remains under investigation. Our current “worst case” estimate of the amount of oil spilled, 
representing the maximum volume of oil that we believed could have been spilled based on relevant facts, data and information, is 
approximately 2,935 barrels.

As a result of the Line 901 incident, several governmental agencies and regulators have initiated investigations into the Line 
901 incident, various claims have been made against us and a number of lawsuits have been filed against us. We may be subject to 
additional claims, investigations and lawsuits, which could materially impact the liabilities and costs we currently expect to incur as a 
result of the Line 901 incident. Set forth below is a brief summary of actions and matters that are currently pending:

On May 21, 2015, we received a corrective action order from the United States Department of Transportation’s Pipeline and 
Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (“PHMSA”), the governmental agency that has jurisdiction over the operation of Line 901 
as well as over a second stretch of pipeline extending from Gaviota Pump Station in Santa Barbara County to Emidio Pump Station in 
Kern County, California (Line 903), requiring us to shut down, purge, review, remediate and test Line 901. On June 3, 2015, the 
corrective action order was amended to require us to take additional corrective actions with respect to both Lines 901 and 903, and on 
November 13, 2015, the corrective action order was further amended to require the purge and shutdown of Line 903 between Gaviota 
and Pentland (as amended, the “CAO”). Among other requirements, the CAO also obligates us to conduct a root cause failure analysis 
with respect to Line 901 and present remedial work plans and restart plans to PHMSA prior to returning Line 901 and 903 to service; 
the CAO also imposes a pressure restriction on Line 903 and requires us to take other specified actions with respect to both Lines 901 
and 903. We intend to continue to comply with the CAO and to cooperate with any other governmental investigations relating to or 
arising out of the release. Excavation and removal of the affected section of the pipeline was completed on May 28, 2015. No timeline 
has been established for the restart of Line 901 or Line 903. On February 17, 2016, PHMSA issued a Preliminary Factual Report of 
the Line 901 failure, which contains PHMSA’s preliminary findings regarding factual information about the events leading up to the 
accident and the technical analysis that has been conducted to date. By virtue of its statutory authority, PHMSA has the power and 
authority to impose fines and penalties on us and cause civil or criminal charges to be brought against us. While to date PHMSA has 
not
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imposed any such fines or penalties or pursued any such civil or criminal charges with respect to the Line 901 release, there can be no 
assurance that such fines or penalties will not be imposed upon us, or that such civil or criminal charges will not be brought against us, 
in the future.

On September 11, 2015, we received a Notice of Probable Violation and Proposed Compliance Order from PHMSA arising 
out of its inspection of Lines 901 and 903 in August, September and October of 2013 (the “2013 Audit NOPV”).  The 2013 Audit 
NOPV alleges that the Partnership committed probable violations of various federal pipeline safety regulations by failing to document, 
or inadequately documenting, certain activities.  On October 12, 2015, the Partnership filed a response to the 2013 Audit NOPV.  To 
date, PHMSA has not issued a final order with respect to the 2013 Audit NOPV, nor has it assessed any fines or penalties with respect 
thereto; however, we cannot provide any assurances that any such fines or penalties will not be assessed against us.

In late May of 2015, on behalf of the EPA, the United States Attorney for the Department of Justice, Central District of 
California, Environmental Crimes Section (“DOJ”) began an investigation into whether there were any violations of federal criminal 
statutes in connection with the Line 901 incident, including potential violations of the federal Clean Water Act. We are cooperating 
with the DOJ’s investigation by responding to their requests for documents and access to our employees. The DOJ has already spoken 
to several of our employees and has expressed an interest in talking to other employees; consistent with the terms of our governing 
organizational documents, we are funding our employees’ defense costs, including the costs of separate counsel engaged to represent 
such individuals.  In addition to the DOJ, the California Attorney General’s Office and the District Attorney’s Office for the County of 
Santa Barbara are also investigating the Line 901 incident to determine whether any applicable state or local laws have been violated.  
On August 26, 2015, we also received a Request for Information from the EPA relating to Line 901 and we are in the process of 
responding to such request. While to date no civil or criminal charges with respect to the Line 901 release have been brought against 
PAA or any of its affiliates, officers or employees by PHMSA, DOJ, EPA, California Attorney General or Santa Barbara County 
District Attorney, and no fines or penalties have been imposed by such governmental agencies, there can be no assurance that such 
fines or penalties will not be imposed upon us, our officers or our employees, or that such civil or criminal charges will not be brought 
against us, our officers or our employees in the future, whether by those or other governmental agencies.

Shortly following the Line 901 incident, we established a claims line and encouraged any parties that were damaged by the 
release to contact us to discuss their damage claims. We have received a number of claims through the claims line and we are 
processing those claims as we receive them. In addition, we have also had seven class action lawsuits filed against us, all of which 
have been administratively consolidated into a single proceeding in the United States District Court for the Central District of 
California. In general, the plaintiffs are seeking to establish different classes of claimants that have allegedly been damaged by the 
release, including potential classes such as persons that derive a significant portion of their income through commercial fishing and 
harvesting activities in the waters adjacent to Santa Barbara County or from businesses that are dependent on marine resources from 
Santa Barbara County, retail businesses located in historic downtown Santa Barbara, certain owners of oceanfront and/or beachfront 
property on the Pacific Coast of California, and other classes of individuals and businesses that were allegedly impacted by the 
release.

There have also been two securities law class action lawsuits filed on behalf of certain purported investors in the Partnership 
and/or PAGP against the Partnership, PAGP and/or certain of their respective officers, directors and underwriters.  Both of these 
lawsuits have been consolidated into a single proceeding in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas.  In 
general, these lawsuits allege that the various defendants violated securities laws by misleading investors regarding the integrity of the 
Partnership’s pipelines and related facilities through false and misleading statements, omission of material facts and concealing of the 
true extent of the spill.  The plaintiffs claim unspecified damages as a result of the reduction in value of their investments in the 
Partnership and PAGP, which they attribute to the alleged wrongful acts of the defendants. The Partnership and PAGP, and the other 
defendants, deny the allegations in these lawsuits and intend to respond accordingly. Consistent with and subject to the terms of our 
governing organizational documents (and to the extent applicable, insurance policies), we are indemnifying and funding the defense 
costs of our officers and directors in connection with these lawsuits; we are also indemnifying and funding the defense costs of our 
underwriters pursuant to the terms of the underwriting agreements we previously entered into with such underwriters.

In addition, three unitholder derivative lawsuits have been filed by certain purported investors in the Partnership against the 
Partnership, certain of its affiliates and certain officers and directors. Two of these lawsuits were filed in the United States District 
Court for the Southern District of Texas and the other was filed in State District Court in Harris County, Texas. In general, these 
lawsuits allege that the various defendants breached their fiduciary duties, engaged in gross mismanagement and made false and 
misleading statements, among other similar allegations, in connection with their management and oversight of the Partnership during 
the period of time leading up to and following the Line 901 release. The plaintiffs claim that the Partnership suffered unspecified 
damages as a result of the actions of the various defendants and seek to hold the defendants liable for such damages, in addition to 
other remedies. The defendants deny the allegations in these lawsuits and intend to respond accordingly. Consistent with and subject 
to the terms of our governing organizational documents (and to the extent applicable, insurance policies), we are indemnifying and 
funding the defense costs of our officers and directors in connection with these lawsuits.

In addition to the foregoing, as the “responsible party” for the Line 901 incident we are liable for various costs and for certain 
natural resource damages under the Oil Pollution Act, and we also have exposure to the payment of additional fines, penalties and 
costs under other applicable federal, state and local laws, statutes and regulations.  To the extent any such costs are reasonably 
estimable, we have included an estimate of such costs in the loss accrual described below.

Taking the foregoing into account, as of December 31, 2015, we estimate that the aggregate total costs we have incurred or 
will incur with respect to the Line 901 incident will be approximately $269 million, which estimate includes actual and projected 
emergency response and clean-up costs, natural resource damage assessments and certain third party claims settlements, as well as 
estimates for fines, penalties and certain legal fees. This estimate considers our prior experience in environmental investigation and 
remediation matters and available data from, and in consultation with, our environmental and other specialists, as well as currently 
available facts and presently enacted laws and regulations. We have made assumptions for (i) the expected number of days that 
monitoring services will be required, (ii) the duration of the natural
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resource damage assessment and the ultimate amount of damages determined, (iii) the resolution of certain third party claims and 
lawsuits, but excluding claims and lawsuits with respect to which losses are not probable and reasonably estimable, and excluding 
future claims and lawsuits, (iv) the determination and calculation of fines and penalties, but excluding fines and penalties that are not 
probable and reasonably estimable and (v) the nature,  extent and cost of  legal services that will be required in connection with all 
lawsuits, claims and other matters requiring legal or expert advice associated with the Line 901 incident. Our estimate does not include 
any lost revenue associated with the shutdown of Line 901 or 903 and does not include any liabilities or costs that are not reasonably 
estimable at this time or that relate to contingencies where we currently regard the likelihood of loss as being only reasonably possible 
or remote. We believe we have accrued adequate amounts for all probable and reasonably estimable costs; however, this estimate is 
subject to uncertainties associated with the assumptions that we have made. For example, the amount of time it takes for us to resolve 
all of the current and future lawsuits, claims and investigations that relate to the Line 901 incident could turn out to be significantly 
longer than we have assumed, and as a result the costs we incur for legal services could be significantly higher than we have 
estimated. In addition, with respect to fines and penalties, the ultimate amount of any fines and penalties assessed against us depends 
on a wide variety of factors, many of which are not estimable at this time. Where fines and penalties are probable and estimable, we 
have included them in our estimate, although such estimates could turn out to be wrong. Accordingly, our assumptions and estimates 
may turn out to be inaccurate and our total costs could turn out to be materially higher; therefore, we can provide no assurance that we 
will not have to accrue significant additional costs in the future with respect to the Line 901 incident.

We have accrued such estimate of aggregate total costs to “Field operating costs” on our Consolidated Statement of 
Operations. As of December 31, 2015, we had a remaining undiscounted gross liability of $116 million related to this event, the 
majority of which is presented as a current liability in “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities” on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
We maintain insurance coverage, which is subject to certain exclusions and deductibles, in the event of such environmental liabilities. 
Subject to such exclusions and deductibles, we believe that our coverage is adequate to cover the current estimated total emergency 
response and clean-up costs, claims settlement costs and remediation costs and we believe that this coverage is also adequate to cover 
any potential increase in the estimates for these costs that exceed the amounts currently identified. Through December 31, 2015, we 
had collected, subject to customary reservations, $31 million out of the approximate $186 million of release costs that we believe are 
probable of recovery from insurance carriers, net of deductibles. We recovered an additional $69 million of proceeds from insurance 
carriers in January 2016. As of December 31, 2015, we have recognized a receivable of approximately $155 million for the portion of 
the release costs that we believe is probable of recovery from insurance, net of deductibles and amounts already collected. A majority 
of this receivable has been recognized as a current asset in “Trade accounts receivable and other receivables, net” on our Consolidated 
Balance Sheets with the offset reducing “Field operating costs” on our Consolidated Statement of Operations. We have substantially 
completed the clean-up and remediation efforts, excluding long-term site monitoring activities; however, we expect to make payments 
for additional costs associated with restoration and monitoring of the area, as well as natural resource damage assessment, legal, 
professional and regulatory costs, in addition to fines and penalties, during future periods.

MP29 Release. On July 10, 2015, we experienced a crude oil release of approximately 100 barrels at our Pocahontas Pump 
Station near the border of Bond and Madison Counties in Illinois, approximately 40 miles from St. Louis, Missouri. The Pocahontas 
Station is part of the Capwood pipeline that runs from our Patoka Station to Wood River, Illinois. A portion of the released crude oil 
was contained within our Pocahontas facility, but some of the released crude oil entered a nearby waterway where it was contained 
with booms. On July 14, 2015, PHMSA issued a corrective action order requiring us to take various actions in response to the release, 
including remediation, reporting and other actions. As of December 18, 2015, we had submitted all requested information and reports 
required by the corrective action order and are currently awaiting PHMSA’s comment or approval. On August 10, 2015, we received a 
Notice of Violation from the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (the “Agency”) alleging violations relating to the release and 
outlining the activities recommended by the Agency to resolve the alleged violations, including the completion of an investigation and 
various remediation activities. The Agency approved a work plan describing remediation activities proposed for remaining 
hydrocarbons at Pocahontas Station and affected waterways.  Remediation activities under this work plan have effectively been 
completed, and on December 17, 2015, we entered into a Compliance Commitment Agreement with the Agency, which provides the 
framework for final completion and documentation of the remediation effort. To date, no fines or penalties have been assessed in this 
matter; however, it is possible that fines and penalties could be assessed in the future. In connection with this incident, we have also 
had one class action lawsuit filed against us in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Illinois, which was 
subsequently voluntarily dismissed by the plaintiff. We estimate that the aggregate total costs associated with this release will be less 
than $10 million.

Cushing Tank Cathodic Protection.  On May 22, 2015, PHMSA issued a Final Order relating to an April 2013 Notice of 
Probable Violation and Proposed Compliance Order alleging that we did not maintain adequate cathodic protection for certain tanks at 
our Cushing Terminal. In its 2013 Notice of Probable Violation, PHMSA maintained that the proprietary cathodic protection system 
utilized by us for certain of our storage tanks at our Cushing, Oklahoma facility was not contemplated by applicable regulations. In 
response to the notice, we provided extensive documentation and supporting information regarding the effectiveness of the technology 
we were utilizing, including past communications with PHMSA regarding the topic. At a hearing in August 2013, we gave a formal 
presentation on the technology, provided empirical data confirming its effectiveness and also had a third party corrosion expert 
witness speak to the effectiveness of the technology. Almost two years later, PHMSA issued the Final Order and Compliance Order 
dated May 22, 2015 ruling against our position, assessing a penalty of $102,900 and specifying certain corrective actions to be 
completed by us. We chose not to further contest this matter and paid the penalty on June 5, 2015.

In the Matter of Bakersfield Crude Terminal LLC et al. On April 30, 2015, the EPA issued a Finding and Notice of Violation 
(“NOV”) to Bakersfield Crude Terminal LLC, our subsidiary, for alleged violations of the Clean Air Act, as amended. The NOV, 
which cites 10 separate rule violations, questions the validity of construction and operating permits issued to our Bakersfield rail
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unloading facility in 2012 and 2014 by the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District (the “SJV District”). We believe we fully 
complied with all applicable regulatory requirements and that the permits issued to us by the SJV District are valid. To date, no fines 
or penalties have been assessed in this matter; however, it is possible that fines and penalties could be assessed in the future.

Mesa to Basin Pipeline.  On January 6, 2016, PHMSA issued a Notice of Probable Violation and Proposed Civil Penalty 
relating to an approximate 500 barrel release of crude oil that took place on January 1, 2015 on our Mesa to Basin 12” pipeline in 
Midland, Texas. PHMSA conducted an accident investigation and reviewed documentation related to the incident, and concluded that 
we had committed probable violations of certain pipeline safety regulations. In the Notice, PHMSA maintains that we failed to carry 
out our written damage prevention program and to follow our pipeline excavation/ditching and backfill procedures on four separate 
occasions, and that such failures resulted in outside force damage that led to the January 1, 2015 release.  PHMSA’s compliance 
officer has recommended that we be assessed a civil penalty of $190,000.  We have formally responded to PHMSA regarding this 
matter, but at this point we can provide no assurance regarding the final disposition of this matter or the final amount of any civil 
penalties.

National Energy Board Audit.  In the third quarter of 2014, the National Energy Board (“NEB”) of Canada notified PMC that 
various corrective actions from a 2010 audit had not been completed to the satisfaction of the NEB. The NEB initiated a process to 
assess PMC’s approach to compliance with the NEB’s Onshore Pipeline Regulations, which resulted in the issuance by the NEB of an 
order on January 15, 2015 that imposed six conditions on PMC designed to enhance PMC’s ability to operate its pipelines in a manner 
that protects the public and the environment.  The conditions include the filing of certain safety critical tasks, controls and programs 
with the NEB, external audits of certain PMC programs and systems, and periodic update meetings with NEB staff regarding the 
status and progress of corrective actions.  In early February 2015, the NEB imposed a penalty on PMC of $76,000 CAD related to 
these issues. It is possible that additional fines and penalties may be assessed against PMC in the future related to this matter.

Kemp River Pipeline Releases. In May and June 2013, two separate releases were discovered on our Kemp River pipeline in 
Northern Alberta, Canada that, in the aggregate, resulted in the release of approximately 700 barrels of condensate and light crude oil.  
Clean-up and remediation activities are being conducted in cooperation with the applicable regulatory agencies. Final investigation by 
the Alberta Energy Regulator is not complete. To date, no charges, fines or penalties have been assessed against PMC with respect to 
these releases; however, it is possible that fines or penalties may be assessed against PMC in the future. We estimate that the aggregate 
clean-up and remediation costs associated with these releases will be $15 million. Through December 31, 2015, we spent $9 million in 
connection with clean-up and remediation activities.

Bay Springs Pipeline Release.  In February 2013, we experienced a crude oil release of approximately 120 barrels on a 
portion of one of our pipelines near Bay Springs, Mississippi. Most of the released crude oil was contained within our pipeline right of 
way, but some of the released crude oil entered a nearby waterway where it was contained with booms.  The EPA has issued an 
administrative order requiring us to take various actions in response to the release, including remediation, reporting and other actions. 
We have satisfied the requirements of the administrative order; however, we may be subjected to a civil penalty. The aggregate cost to 
clean up and remediate the site was $6 million.

Environmental Remediation

We currently own or lease, and in the past have owned and leased, properties where hazardous liquids, including 
hydrocarbons, are or have been handled. These properties and the hazardous liquids or associated wastes disposed thereon may be 
subject to CERCLA, RCRA and state and Canadian federal and provincial laws and regulations. Under such laws and regulations, we 
could be required to remove or remediate hazardous liquids or associated wastes (including wastes disposed of or released by prior 
owners or operators) and to clean up contaminated property (including contaminated groundwater).

We maintain insurance of various types with varying levels of coverage that we consider adequate under the circumstances to 
cover our operations and properties. The insurance policies are subject to deductibles and retention levels that we consider reasonable 
and not excessive. Consistent with insurance coverage generally available in the industry, in certain circumstances our insurance 
policies provide limited coverage for losses or liabilities relating to gradual pollution, with broader coverage for sudden and accidental 
occurrences.

Assets we have acquired or will acquire in the future may have environmental remediation liabilities for which we are not 
indemnified. We have in the past experienced and in the future likely will experience releases of crude oil into the environment from 
our pipeline and storage operations. We also may discover environmental impacts from past releases that were previously 
unidentified.
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Insurance

A pipeline, terminal or other facility may experience damage as a result of an accident, natural disaster or terrorist activity. 
These hazards can cause personal injury and loss of life, severe damage to and destruction of property and equipment, pollution or 
environmental damage and suspension of operations. We maintain various types of insurance that we consider adequate to cover our 
operations and certain assets. The insurance policies are subject to deductibles or self-insured retentions that we consider reasonable. 
Our insurance does not cover every potential risk associated with operating pipelines, terminals and other facilities, including the 
potential loss of significant revenues.

The occurrence of a significant event not fully insured, indemnified or reserved against, or the failure of a party to meet its 
indemnification obligations, could materially and adversely affect our operations and financial condition. We believe we are 
adequately insured for third-party liability and property damage with respect to our operations. In the future, we may not be able to 
maintain insurance at levels that we consider adequate for rates we consider reasonable. As a result, we may elect to self-insure or 
utilize higher deductibles in certain insurance programs. For example, the market for hurricane- or windstorm-related property damage 
coverage has remained difficult the last few years. The amount of coverage available has been limited, costs have increased 
substantially and deductibles have increased as well.

Our assessment of the current availability of coverage and associated rates for hurricane insurance has led us to the decision 
to self-insure this risk. This decision does not affect our third-party liability insurance, which still covers hurricane-related liability 
claims and which we have maintained at our historic coverage levels. In addition, although we believe that we have established 
adequate reserves to the extent such risks are not insured, costs incurred in excess of these reserves may be higher and may potentially 
have a material adverse effect on our financial conditions, results of operations or cash flows.

Note 17—Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The sum of the four quarters may not equal the total year due to rounding.

Gross margin is calculated as Total revenues less (i) Purchases and related costs, (ii) Field operating costs and 
(iii) Depreciation and amortization.

Amounts reported in prior periods have been retroactively restated to reflect the impact of our adoption of revised debt 
issuance costs guidance issued by the FASB. See Note 2 for additional information.

Represents cash distributions declared and paid in the period presented.
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First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total 

(in millions, except per unit data)
2015
Total revenues $ 5,942 $ 6,663 $ 5,551 $ 4,996 $ 23,152
Gross margin $ 450 $ 290 $ 395 $ 405 $ 1,540
Operating income $ 372 $ 211 $ 335 $ 344 $ 1,262
Net income $ 284 $ 124 $ 250 $ 248 $ 906
Net income attributable to PAA $ 283 $ 124 $ 249 $ 247 $ 903
Basic net income/(loss) per common unit $ 0.36 $ (0.06) $ 0.25 $ 0.24 $ 0.78
Diluted net income/(loss) per common unit $ 0.35 $ (0.06) $ 0.24 $ 0.24 $ 0.77
Cash distributions per common unit $ 0.6750 $ 0.6850 $ 0.6950 $ 0.7000 $ 2.7550

2014
Total revenues $ 11,684 $ 11,195 $ 11,127 $ 9,459 $ 43,464
Gross margin $ 584 $ 457 $ 484 $ 599 $ 2,124
Operating income $ 495 $ 367 $ 406 $ 532 $ 1,799
Net income $ 385 $ 288 $ 324 $ 390 $ 1,386
Net income attributable to PAA $ 384 $ 287 $ 323 $ 389 $ 1,384
Basic net income per common unit $ 0.74 $ 0.45 $ 0.52 $ 0.67 $ 2.39
Diluted net income per common unit $ 0.73 $ 0.45 $ 0.52 $ 0.67 $ 2.38
Cash distributions per common unit $ 0.6150 $ 0.6300 $ 0.6450 $ 0.6600 $ 2.5500

(1)

(2)(3)

(3)

(4)

(2)(3)
(3)

(4)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)



Table of Contents

Note 18—Operating Segments

We manage our operations through three operating segments: Transportation, Facilities and Supply and Logistics.  See 
“Revenue Recognition” in Note 2 for a summary of the types of products and services from which each segment derives its revenues. 
Our Chief Operating Decision Maker (our Chief Executive Officer) evaluates segment performance based on measures including 
segment profit and maintenance capital investment. We define segment profit as revenues and equity earnings in unconsolidated 
entities less (a) purchases and related costs, (b) field operating costs and (c) segment general and administrative expenses. Each of the 
items above excludes depreciation and amortization. Maintenance capital consists of capital expenditures for the replacement of 
partially or fully depreciated assets in order to maintain the operating and/or earnings capacity of our existing assets.

As an MLP, we make quarterly distributions of our “available cash” (as defined in our partnership agreement) to our 
unitholders. We look at each period’s earnings before non-cash depreciation and amortization as an important measure of segment 
performance. The exclusion of depreciation and amortization expense could be viewed as limiting the usefulness of segment profit as 
a performance measure because it does not account in current periods for the implied reduction in value of our capital assets, such as 
crude oil pipelines and facilities, caused by age-related decline and wear and tear. We compensate for this limitation by recognizing 
that depreciation and amortization are largely offset by repair and maintenance investments, which act to partially offset the aging and 
wear and tear in the value of our principal fixed assets. These maintenance investments are a component of field operating costs 
included in segment profit or in maintenance capital, depending on the nature of the cost. Capital expenditures made to expand the 
existing operating and/or earnings capacity of our assets are classified as expansion capital. Capital expenditures for the replacement 
of partially or fully depreciated assets in order to maintain the operating and/or earnings capacity of our existing assets are classified 
as maintenance capital, which is deducted in determining “available cash”. Repair and maintenance expenditures incurred in order to 
maintain the day to day operation of our existing assets are charged to expense as incurred.

The following table reflects certain financial data for each segment for the periods indicated (in millions):
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Transportation Facilities Supply and Logistics Total
Year Ended December 31, 2015
Revenues :

External customers $ 697 $ 528 $ 21,927 $ 23,152
Intersegment 897 522 18 1,437

Total revenues of reportable segments $ 1,594 $ 1,050 $ 21,945 $ 24,589
Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities $ 183 $ — $ — $ 183
Segment profit $ 917 $ 579 $ 381 $ 1,877
Capital expenditures $ 1,278 $ 813 $ 184 $ 2,275
Maintenance capital $ 144 $ 68 $ 8 $ 220

As of December 31, 2015
Total assets $ 10,345 $ 7,330 $ 4,613 $ 22,288
Investments in unconsolidated entities $ 1,998 $ 29 $ — $ 2,027

Transportation Facilities Supply and Logistics Total
Year Ended December 31, 2014
Revenues :

External customers $ 774 $ 576 $ 42,114 $ 43,464
Intersegment 881 551 36 1,468

Total revenues of reportable segments $ 1,655 $ 1,127 $ 42,150 $ 44,932
Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities $ 108 $ — $ — $ 108
Segment profit $ 925 $ 584 $ 782 $ 2,291
Capital expenditures $ 2,483 $ 582 $ 60 $ 3,125
Maintenance capital $ 165 $ 52 $ 7 $ 224

As of December 31, 2014
Total assets $ 9,579 $ 6,843 $ 5,776 $ 22,198
Investments in unconsolidated entities $ 1,735 $ — $ — $ 1,735

(1)

(2)

(3) (4)

(5)

(1)

(2)

(3) (4)

(5)
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Effective January 1, 2014, our natural gas sales and costs, primarily attributable to the activities performed by our natural gas 
storage commercial optimization group, are reported in the Supply and Logistics segment. Such items were previously 
reported in the Facilities segment.

Segment revenues include intersegment amounts that are eliminated in Purchases and related costs and Field operating costs 
in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Intersegment sales are conducted at posted tariff rates, rates similar to those 
charged to third parties or rates that we believe approximate market at the time the agreement is executed or renegotiated.

Supply and Logistics segment profit includes interest expense (related to hedged inventory purchases) of $6 million, $12 
million and $30 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

The following table reconciles segment profit to net income attributable to PAA (in millions):

Expenditures for acquisition capital and expansion capital, including investments in unconsolidated entities.

Geographic Data

We have operations in the United States and Canada. Set forth below are revenues and long-lived assets attributable to these 
geographic areas (in millions):

Revenues are primarily attributed to each region based on where the services are provided or the product is shipped.
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Transportation Facilities Supply and Logistics Total
Year Ended December 31, 2013
Revenues:

External Customers $ 701 $ 856 $ 40,692 $ 42,249
Intersegment 797 521 4 1,322

Total revenues of reportable segments $ 1,498 $ 1,377 $ 40,696 $ 43,571
Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities $ 64 $ — $ — $ 64
Segment profit $ 729 $ 616 $ 822 $ 2,167
Capital expenditures $ 1,046 $ 549 $ 46 $ 1,641
Maintenance capital $ 123 $ 38 $ 15 $ 176

As of December 31, 2013
Total assets $ 7,181 $ 6,555 $ 6,584 $ 20,320
Investments in unconsolidated entities $ 485 $ — $ — $ 485

Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Segment profit $ 1,877 $ 2,291 $ 2,167
Depreciation and amortization (432) (384) (365)
Interest expense, net (432) (348) (313)
Other income/(expense), net (7) (2) 1
Income before tax 1,006 1,557 1,490
Income tax expense (100) (171) (99)
Net income 906 1,386 1,391

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (3) (2) (30)
Net income attributable to PAA $ 903 $ 1,384 $ 1,361

Year Ended December 31,
Revenues 2015 2014 2013
United States $ 18,701 $ 34,860 $ 32,924
Canada 4,451 8,604 9,325

$ 23,152 $ 43,464 $ 42,249

(2)

(3) (4)

(5)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(1)

(1)
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Excludes long-term derivative assets.
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December 31,
Long-Lived Assets 2015 2014
United States $ 15,942 $ 14,342
Canada 3,368 3,650

$ 19,310 $ 17,992

(1)

(1)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

2.1 — Share Purchase Agreement dated December 1, 2011 by and among Amoco Canada International Holdings B.V. 
and Plains Midstream Canada ULC (the schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of 
Regulation S-K) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2011).

2.2 — Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of October 21, 2013, by and among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., 
PAA Acquisition Company LLC, PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P. and PNGS GP LLC (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 2.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 24, 2013).

3.1 — Fifth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. dated as of 
January 28, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 2, 
2016).

3.2 — Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains Marketing, L.P. dated as of April 1, 
2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2004).

3.3 — Amendment No. 1 dated December 31, 2010 to the Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited 
Partnership of Plains Marketing, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.9 to our Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2010).

3.4 — Amendment No. 2 dated January 1, 2011 to the Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership 
of Plains Marketing, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.10 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2010).

3.5 — Amendment No. 3 dated June 30, 2011 to the Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of 
Plains Marketing, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.7 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2013).

3.6 — Amendment No. 4 dated January 1, 2013 to the Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership 
of Plains Marketing, L.P (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.8 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2013).

3.7 — Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains Pipeline, L.P. dated as of April 1, 2004 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 
2004).

3.8 — Amendment No. 1 dated January 1, 2013 to the Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership 
of Plains Pipeline, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.10 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2013).

3.9 — Sixth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Plains All American GP LLC dated 
October 21, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 
2013).

3.10 — Amendment No. 1 dated January 28, 2016 to the Sixth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company 
Agreement of Plains All American GP LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed February 2, 2016).

3.11 — Seventh Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Plains AAP, L.P. dated October 21, 2013 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).

3.12 — Amendment No. 1 dated December 31, 2013 to the Seventh Amended and Restated Limited Partnership 
Agreement of Plains AAP, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
December 31, 2013).

3.13 — Certificate of Incorporation of PAA Finance Corp (f/k/a Pacific Energy Finance Corporation, successor-by-
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merger to PAA Finance Corp.) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.10 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
the year ended December 31, 2006).

3.14 — Bylaws of PAA Finance Corp (f/k/a Pacific Energy Finance Corporation, successor-by-merger to PAA Finance 
Corp.) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.11 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2006).

3.15 — Limited Liability Company Agreement of PAA GP LLC dated December 28, 2007 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 3.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 4, 2008).

4.1 — Indenture dated September 25, 2002 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and 
Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Quarterly Report 
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002).

4.2 — Fourth Supplemental Indenture (Series A and Series B 5.875% Senior Notes due 2016) dated August 12, 2004 
among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and 
Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to our Registration 
Statement on Form S-4, File No. 333-121168).

4.3 — Sixth Supplemental Indenture (Series A and Series B 6.70% Senior Notes due 2036) dated May 12, 2006 among 
Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and Wachovia 
Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-
K filed May 12, 2006).

4.4 — Ninth Supplemental Indenture (Series A and Series B 6.125% Senior Notes due 2017) dated October 30, 2006 
among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and U.S. 
Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-
K filed October 30, 2006).

4.5 — Tenth Supplemental Indenture (Series A and Series B 6.650% Senior Notes due 2037) dated October 30, 2006 
among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and U.S. 
Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-
K filed October 30, 2006).

4.6 — Thirteenth Supplemental Indenture (Series A and Series B 6.50% Senior Notes due 2018) dated April 23, 2008 
among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and U.S. 
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reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 26, 2012).
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American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by 
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February 2, 2016).
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Pipeline, L.P., Plains Marketing, L.P., All American Pipeline, L.P., Plains AAP, L.P., Plains All 
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on Form 8-K filed June 27, 2001).
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10.28 — Form of Plains AAP, L.P. Class B Restricted Units Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 4, 2008).

10.29 — Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of August 19, 2011 by and among Plains Marketing, 
L.P., as Borrower, Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., as Guarantor, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative 
Agent, and the other Lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed August 25, 2011).

10.30 — First Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of June 27, 2012, among Plains 
Marketing, L.P. and Plains Midstream Canada ULC, as Borrowers; Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., as 
Guarantor; Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer; and the other 
Lenders and L/C Issuers party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-
K filed July 3, 2012).

10.31 — Second Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of August 16, 2013, among 
Plains Marketing, L.P. and Plains Midstream Canada ULC, as Borrowers; Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., as 
Guarantor; Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer; Wells Fargo 
Bank, National Association, as an L/C Issuer; and the other Lenders and L/C Issuers party thereto (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 20, 2013).

10.32 — Contribution and Assumption Agreement dated December 28, 2007, by and between Plains AAP, L.P. and 
PAA GP LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 4, 
2008).

10.33 — First Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated December 4, 2008 between Plains All 
American GP LLC and Greg L. Armstrong (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.49 to our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008).

10.34 — First Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated December 4, 2008 between Plains All 
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American GP LLC and Harry N. Pefanis (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.50 to our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008).

10.35 — First Amendment to Plains All American GP LLC 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan dated December 4, 2008 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.51 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2008).

10.36 — Second Amendment to Plains All American GP LLC 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan dated December 4, 2008 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.52 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2008).

10.37 — Form of Amendment to LTIP grant letters (executive officers) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.53 to our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008).

10.38 — Form of Amendment to LTIP grant letters (directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.54 to our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008).

10.39 — Contribution Agreement dated as of April 29, 2010 by and among PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P., PNGS GP 
LLC, Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Natural Gas Storage, LLC, PAA/Vulcan Gas Storage, LLC, Plains 
Marketing, L.P. and Plains Marketing GP Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to PNG’s Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed May 4, 2010).

10.40 — Omnibus Agreement dated May 5, 2010 by and among Plains All American GP LLC, Plains All American 
Pipeline, L.P., PNGS GP LLC and PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to 
PNG’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 11, 2010).

10.41 — Form of 2010 LTIP Grant Letters (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ended December 31, 2010).

10.42 — Director Compensation Summary (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 to our Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2011).

10.43 — Administrative Agreement dated October 21, 2013 by and among Plains GP Holdings, L.P., PAA GP Holdings 
LLC, Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA GP LLC, Plains AAP, L.P. and Plains All American GP LLC 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).

10.44 — Waiver Agreement dated October 21, 2013 to the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated June 30, 
2001 of Greg L. Armstrong (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
October 25, 2013).

10.45 — Waiver Agreement dated October 21, 2013 to the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated June 30, 
2001 of Harry N. Pefanis (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
October 25, 2013).

10.46 — Form of Amendment to the Plains AAP, L.P. Class B Restricted Units Agreement, dated October 18, 2013 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).

10.47 — Plains All American 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to our Definitive 
Proxy Statement filed on October 3, 2013).

10.48 — Plains All American PNG Successor Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to our 
Registration Statement on Form S-8 (333-19319) filed December 31, 2013).

10.49 — PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P. 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to 
PNG’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 11, 2010).

10.50 — Form of PAA LTIP Grant Letter for Officers (February 2013) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2013).

10.51 — 364-Day Credit Agreement dated January 16, 2015 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., as Borrower; 
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Filed herewith.

Furnished herewith.

Certain confidential portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to an Application for Confidential Treatment under 
Rule 24b-2 under the Exchange Act. This exhibit, with the omitted language, has been filed separately with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission.

Management compensatory plan or arrangement.

Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent; Citibank, N.A., JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. and Wells Fargo 
Bank, National Association, as Co-Syndication Agents; DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch and Mizuho 
Bank, Ltd., as Co-Documentation Agents; the other Lenders party thereto; and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & 
Smith Incorporated, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., DNB Markets, Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Mizuho 
Bank, Ltd. and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 20, 2015).

10.52 — First Amendment to 364-Day Credit Agreement dated August 14, 2015 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., 
as Borrower; Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent; Citibank, N.A., JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. and 
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Co-Syndication Agents; DNB Bank ASA, New York Branch and 
Mizuho Bank, Ltd., as Co-Documentation Agents; the other Lenders party thereto; and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, 
Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., DNB Markets, Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, 
Mizuho Bank, Ltd. and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 14, 2015).

10.53 — Employment Agreement between Plains All American GP LLC and Willie Chiang dated July 10, 2015.

12.1 — Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

21.1 — List of Subsidiaries of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P.

23.1 — Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

31.1 — Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a).

31.2 — Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a).

32.1 — Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350.

32.2 — Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350.

101. INS — XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE — XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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Exhibit 10.53

July 10, 2015

WCW (Willie) Chiang

Dear Willie:

Pursuant to our discussions, the following shall set forth the employment agreement (this “Agreement”) between Plains All 
American GP LLC (the “Company”) and WCW (Willie) Chiang (“Executive”).

1. Title and Position. (a) Executive’s title and position will be Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer - U.S. of 
the Company with primary responsibility for all U.S. operational and commercial activities with the responsibilities attendant to such 
position transitioned to Executive over an approximate one year period in stages.  Executive will be a member of the Executive 
Committee and will report to the President and Chief Operating Officer (“COO”).

(b)  The Company has offered, and Executive has accepted, employment as contemplated hereunder with the expectation that 
he will be offered the top executive leadership position (excluding the position of Chairman, the “Executive Promotion”) of the 
Company no later than the last day (such date being referred to as the “Reference Date”) of the fortieth (40 ) full calendar month 
following the Commencement Date as defined in Section 6 below, with a corresponding employment agreement and compensation 
package that is commensurate with the Chief Executive Officer title, scope and responsibilities and similar in terms and content to the 
employment agreement that is currently in place for the incumbent CEO (excluding any portions thereof that relate to such 
incumbent’s role as Chairman).  Executive acknowledges that such promotion will be contingent on the evaluation of his performance 
and is not guaranteed; however, the  provisions below are intended to protect Executive against certain events (all references below to 
“outstanding LTIPs and Class B Units” shall refer to LTIPs and Class B Units issued pursuant to the grants described in Sections 2
(c) and (d) below):

(i) Termination by the Company Other than for Cause — In the event Executive has not received the Executive 
Promotion and is terminated by the Company other than for Cause (as defined in the LTIP Grant and Class B 
Agreement described in Sections 2(c) and 2(d) below) prior to the Reference Date, Executive shall immediately vest 
in all outstanding LTIPs and Class B Units (both Restricted Units and earned Units).

(ii) Resignation by Executive — If (a) Executive has not received the Executive Promotion by the Reference Date, 
Executive may, within a period beginning on the Reference Date and ending 90 days thereafter, tender his resignation 
to the Company, or (b) Executive has not received the Executive Promotion and terminates his employment

333 Clay Street, Suite 1600  Houston, Texas  77002  713/646-4100 or 800-564-3036
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for Good Reason (as defined in the Class B Agreement referenced in Section 2(d) below) prior to the Reference Date, 
then in either such case Executive shall immediately vest in all outstanding LTIPs and Class B Units (both Restricted 
Units and “earned” Units).  The right set forth in clause (a) immediately preceding will not be affected by a 
termination of Executive’s employment during the 90 day period described therein by the Company other than for 
Cause.

(iii) Change of Control — In the event of a Change of Control (as defined in either the LTIP Grant and Class B 
Agreement described in paragraphs 2(c) and 2(d) below) prior to the Reference Date and in connection therewith 
Executive is not designated to receive the Executive Promotion, Executive may, within a period of 90 days following 
the Change of Control, terminate his employment whereupon Executive shall immediately vest in all outstanding 
LTIPs and Class B Units (both Restricted Units and “earned” Units).

(iv) Death or Disability.  If prior to the second anniversary of the Commencement Date (A) Executive dies or Executive’s 
employment is terminated as a result of Executive’s “disability” (a physical or mental infirmity that impairs 
Executive’s ability substantially to perform his duties for a period of eighteen months or that the Company otherwise 
determines constitutes a “disability”), and (B) at such time the number of Class B Units that have become “earned”
Units (and thus will become vested Units pursuant to the terms of the Class B Agreement) is less than 500,000, 
Executive shall immediately vest in such number of additional Class B Units as may be necessary to cause the total 
number of vested Class B Units of Executive as a result of the occurrence of the event described in clause 
(A) immediately preceding to equal 500,000.

(v) Termination by Executive — If Executive’s employment is terminated before or after the Reference Date for any 
reason other than as described in clauses (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) above, earning and vesting of any outstanding LTIPs 
and Class B Units shall be governed by the applicable LTIP Grant letter and the Class B Agreement, respectively.

2. Compensation.  Executive’s compensation will include:

a. Base Salary. A monthly salary of $20,833.33, payable semi-monthly in cash for so long as Executive is employed by 
the Company. This amount may be increased by the Company from time to time, but may not be decreased from this 
base level, or any future increased level, without Executive’s express written approval.

b. Bonus. Executive will participate in the Company’s annual discretionary bonus program. The amount of bonus 
recommended to the Board annually with respect to Executive will be dependent upon the Chief Executive Officer’s 
(“CEO”) and COO’s assessments of both Executive’s individual contributions throughout the year and the overall 
partnership performance.  With respect to calendar years 2015, 2016 and 2017, Executive’s annual bonuses will not 
be less than $500,000 with respect to
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calendar year 2015 (no further proration for the fact of employment during less than the entire calendar year) and 
$1.25 million with respect to calendar years 2016 and 2017 (the “Minimum Annual Bonuses”).  The Minimum 
Annual Bonuses shall be paid in cash on the date that the annual bonus payments are made to the other senior 
executive participants in the annual discretionary bonus program. The Company’s obligation to pay a Minimum 
Annual Bonus with respect to a given calendar year is contingent upon (i) Executive’s remaining employed by the 
Company through the date on which the applicable Minimum Annual Bonus payment is due and (ii) continued 
compliance with the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement, as defined in Section 5 below.

c. LTIP Grant. On the Commencement Date (as defined in Section 6 below), Executive will receive an initial grant of 
120,000 Phantom Units  under the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) that vest upon the achievement of 
both performance and minimum service benchmarks as follows:

* vesting will occur on the first distribution date following the applicable anniversary

The LTIP Grant will include distribution equivalent rights (DERs) that will vest as follows:  (i) 40% upon distribution by the 
Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. (the “Partnership”) of a quarterly distribution of $0.725, (ii) 30% upon distribution by the 
Partnership of a quarterly distribution of $0.7625, and (iii) 30% upon distribution by the Partnership of a quarterly 
distribution of $0.8125.

The full terms of Executive’s initial grant of Phantom Units are set forth in the form of LTIP Grant letter that is attached 
hereto as Exhibit A (the “LTIP Grant”).

d. Class B Units. On the Commencement Date, Executive will receive an initial grant of 1,000,000 Class B units in 
Plains AAP, L.P. pursuant to a Class B Restricted Units Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (the 
“Class B Agreement”).  The Class B Units granted to Executive thereunder will become “earned” units and “vested”
units as follows:
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Performance Minimum
Vest Qtrly distribution (Annual Rate) Service

40% $0.725/unit ($2.90/unit) 3  yr. Anniv.*
30% $0.7625/unit ($3.05/unit) 4  yr. Anniv.*
30% $0.8125/unit ($3.25/unit) 5  yr. Anniv.*

PAA Performance Benchmark Earning and
Earn Qtrly distribution (Annual Rate) Vesting

25% $0.725/unit ($2.90/unit) (1)
25% $0.7875/unit ($3.15/unit) (1)
25% $0.825/unit ($3.30/unit) (1)
25% $0.875/unit ($3.50/unit) (1)
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(1) Each tranche of units described will become “earned” (i.e., eligible to begin receiving distributions) upon 
achievement of the respective performance benchmarks set forth above. Earned units will become vested units as 
provided in the Class B Agreement, as modified by this Employment Letter.  A “Restricted Unit” is, as of any 
date, a granted unit that is neither an “earned” unit nor a “vested” unit.

3. Expense Reimbursement. Company shall reimburse Executive for all reasonable business expenses, including travel and 
entertainment, and membership dues at one country club or athletic club.

4. Benefits. Executive shall receive and be entitled to other employment benefits, including: (a) five weeks paid vacation, (b) up 
to 10 days sick leave with pay, (c) participation in the Company’s 401(K) Plan, and (d) all health and welfare benefits, including 
insurance, provided to other senior executives of the Company, on the same basis and terms as other senior executives of the 
Company.

5. Confidentiality and Non-Solicitation. Executive and the Company shall execute a Confidential Information and Non-
Solicitation Agreement (the “Confidentiality Agreement”) substantially in the form of Exhibit “C” attached hereto. The rights and 
obligations set forth in the Confidentiality Agreement shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

6. Commencement of Employment; Term and Termination. This Agreement will become effective on the date hereof and the 
employment of Executive will commence on August 24, 2015 (the “Commencement Date”).  Either party may terminate Executive’s 
employment at any time.  However, notwithstanding the foregoing, termination of Executive’s employment shall not affect the 
obligations of the Company under the Agreement that arose prior to, or as a result of, such termination, including any such obligations 
under sections 1, 2 and 5 that create post-employment duties and rights.

7. Certain Representations of Executive. Executive represents that: (a) his execution of this Agreement will not violate the terms 
of any agreement to which he is currently bound; and (b) he is not subject to an existing confidentiality, non-compete or similar type 
agreement that would prevent, limit or otherwise encumber Executive’s ability to perform his job with the Company. Executive 
undertakes to bring to the Company’s attention any change of job description or other circumstance that would potentially breach any 
confidentiality and/or non-compete obligation of Executive pursuant to any agreements or understandings with his prior employer or 
its affiliates.

8. Return of Materials.  Upon termination of his employment for any reason, Executive shall promptly return to Company all 
copies of any Company data, records, or materials of whatever nature or kind, including all materials incorporating the proprietary 
information of the Company.

9. Section 409A.  If the parties determine, or the Internal Revenue Service asserts, that any payments or benefits to be made or 
provided to Executive hereunder do not comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code, then the parties agree to amend this 
Agreement or take such other ations as reasonably necessary or appropriate to comply with Section 409A while preserving the 
economic agreement of the parties.

4



10. Background Check.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement is subject to and contingent upon a satisfactory 
background check in which information that Executive has provided regarding items such as education, work experience, criminal 
record and professional credentials will be verified. Executive may be asked to provide additional information or assist in the process 
if Company encounters any difficulties in the verification of this information. If any of the information is found to be untrue or 
misrepresented, this offer may be withdrawn, or, if employed, Executive’s employment may be terminated.

11. Certain Agreements of Executive.  Without amending, modifying or expanding the meaning of “Cause” as defined in the 
LTIP Grant or the Class B Agreement, as applicable, by accepting this offer, Executive agrees that he shall at all times:

a. adhere to the Company’s Trading and Risk Management Policies and Procedures,

b. adhere to the Company’s Code of Business Conduct, and

c. not misrepresent or conceal information regarding transactions from senior management or any person responsible for 
the accurate recording and reporting of each transaction.

14. Executive will not be obligated to seek employment or otherwise mitigate any benefits provided hereunder.  Payments 
provided hereunder will not be reduced by other compensation earned by Executive from another employer following termination.

[Signature Page Follows]
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If the foregoing meets with your understanding of our agreement, please execute, date and return one original Agreement for 
our files.

List of Exhibits:
A — Form of LTIP Grant
B — Form of Class B Agreement
C — Form of Confidentiality Agreement

6

Very truly yours,

PLAINS ALL AMERICAN GP LLC

By: /s/ Greg L. Armstrong
Name: Greg L. Armstrong
Title: Chairman and CEO

AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED
this 10 day of July, 2015

/s/ WCW (Willie) Chiang
WCW (Willie) Chiang
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EXHIBIT A
Form of LTIP Grant



August 24, 2015

WCW (Willie) Chiang

Re: Grant of Phantom Units

Dear Willie:

I am pleased to inform you that you have been granted 120,000 Phantom Units as of the above date pursuant to the 
Company’s PNG Successor Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”).  In addition, in tandem with each Phantom Unit, you have been 
granted a distribution equivalent right (a “DER”). A DER represents the right to receive a cash payment equivalent to the amount, if 
any, paid in cash distributions on one Common Unit of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. (“PAA” or the “Partnership”) to the holder 
of such Common Unit.  The terms and conditions of this grant are as set forth below.

1. Subject to the further provisions of this Agreement, your Phantom Units shall vest (become payable in the form of one 
Common Unit of PAA for each Phantom Unit) as follows: (i) forty percent (40%) shall vest upon the later to occur of the 
August 2018 Distribution Date and the date on which the Partnership pays a quarterly distribution of at least $0.725 per unit 
($2.90 on an annualized basis); (ii) thirty percent (30%) shall vest upon the later to occur of the August 2019 Distribution 
Date and the date on which the Partnership pays a quarterly distribution of at least $0.775 per unit ($3.10 on an annualized 
basis) and (iii) thirty percent (30%) shall vest upon the later to occur of the August 2020 Distribution Date and the date on 
which the Partnership pays a quarterly distribution of at least $0.825 per unit ($3.30 on an annualized basis). Any remaining 
Phantom Units that are not vested by the August 2021 Distribution Date, and any tandem DERs associated with such 
Phantom Units, shall expire on such date.

2. Subject to the further provisions of this Agreement, your DERs shall be payable in cash substantially contemporaneously 
with each Distribution Date following the date hereof.

3. The number of Phantom Units subject to this award and any distribution level required for vesting under paragraph 1 above 
shall be proportionately reduced or increased for any split or reverse split, as applicable, of the Units, or any event or 
transaction having similar effect.

4. Upon vesting of any Phantom Units, an equivalent number of DERs will expire.  Any such DERs shall be payable on such 
Distribution Date prior to their expiration.

5. Except to the extent modified by either your Employment Letter with the Company dated effective as of July 10, 2015 (the 
“Employment Letter”) or paragraphs 6 and 7 below, in the event of the termination of your employment with the Company 
and its Affiliates, all of your then outstanding DERs and Phantom Units shall automatically be forfeited as of the date of 
termination; provided, however, that if the Company or its Affiliates terminate your employment other than as a result of a 
Termination for Cause: (i) any unvested Phantom Units
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that have satisfied all vesting criteria as of the date of termination but for the passage of time shall be deemed nonforfeitable 
on the date of termination, and shall vest on the next following Distribution Date; (ii) any DERs associated with the unvested, 
nonforfeitable Phantom Units described in clause (i) shall not be forfeited on the date of termination, but shall be payable and 
shall expire in accordance with paragraph 4 above; and (iii) any unvested Phantom Units that have satisfied none of the 
vesting criteria as of the date of termination, and any tandem DERs associated with such Phantom Units, shall automatically 
be forfeited as of the date of termination.

6. In the event of termination of your employment with the Company and its Affiliates by reason of your death or your 
“disability” (a physical or mental infirmity that impairs your ability substantially to perform your duties for a period of 
eighteen months or that the Company otherwise determines constitutes a “disability”), your then outstanding Phantom Units 
and tandem DERs shall not be forfeited on such date, and (i) such DERs shall expire in accordance with paragraph 1 or 
paragraph 4 above, as applicable, and (ii) such Phantom Units shall vest or expire in accordance with paragraph 1 above; 
provided, however, that such vesting of Phantom Units shall occur either (x) on the date the Partnership pays the quarterly 
distribution specified in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) of paragraph 1 (and in the proportion indicated therein) without regard to any 
requirement for further passage of time or (y) if the relevant quarterly distribution has been paid prior to the date of 
termination, on the next following Distribution Date.  As soon as administratively practicable after the vesting of any 
Phantom Units pursuant to this paragraph 6, payment will be made in cash in an amount equal to the Market Value of the 
number of Phantom Units vesting.

7. In the event of a Change in Status, all of your then outstanding Phantom Units and tandem DERs shall be deemed 100% 
nonforfeitable on such date, and such Phantom Units shall vest in full upon the next Distribution Date.

8. Upon payment pursuant to a DER, you agree that the Company may withhold any taxes due from your compensation as 
required by law.  Upon vesting of a Phantom Unit, you agree that the Company may withhold any taxes due from your 
compensation as required by law, which (in the sole discretion of the Company) may include withholding a number of 
Common Units otherwise payable to you.

As used herein, (i) the “Company” refers to Plains All American GP LLC; (ii) “Distribution Date” means the day in 
February, May, August or November in any year (as context dictates) that is 45 days after the end of the most recently completed 
calendar quarter (or, if not a business day, the closest previous business day); and (iii) “Market Value” means the average of the 
closing sales prices for a Common Unit on the New York Stock Exchange for the five trading days preceding the then most recent “ex 
dividend” date for payment of a distribution by the Partnership.

The phrase “Change in Status” means (A) the termination of your employment by the Company other than a Termination for 
Cause, within two and a half months prior to or one year following a Change of Control (the “Protected Period”), or (B) the 
termination of your employment by you due to the occurrence during the Protected Period, without your written consent, of (i) any 
material diminution in your authority, duties or responsibilities (taking into account additional authority, responsibilities or duties 
associated with the initial transition of responsibilities to you, the
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overall growth of the Partnership or a promotion or lateral transfer accepted by you), or (ii) any other action or inaction that constitutes 
a material breach of this Agreement by the Company.  A termination by you shall not be a Change in Status unless (1) you provide 
written notice to the Company of the condition in (B)(i) or (ii) that would constitute a Change in Status within 90 days of the initial 
existence of the condition, (2) the Company fails to remedy the condition within the 30-day period following such notice and (3) you 
terminate your employment within 10 days following the end of such 30-day period.

The phrase “Change of Control” means, and shall be deemed to have occurred upon the occurrence of, one or more of the 
following events: (i) Plains GP Holdings, L.P. (“PAGP”) ceases to retain direct or indirect control of the general partner of the 
Partnership; (ii) PAGP ceases to beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the membership interest in the Company; 
(iii) any direct or indirect sale, lease, exchange or other transfer (in one transaction or a series of related transactions and whether by 
merger or otherwise) of all or substantially all of the assets of the Partnership, PAGP or the Company to one or more Persons who are 
not affiliates of PAGP (“third party or parties”), other than a transaction in which the Owner Affiliates (as defined below) continue to 
beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the issued and outstanding voting securities of such third party or parties 
immediately following such transaction; (iv) (x) a “person” or “group” (as such terms are defined in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) other than the Owner Affiliates becomes the “beneficial owner” directly or indirectly 
of 25% or more of the member interest in PAA GP Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and the general partner of 
PAGP (“PAGP GP”), and (y) the member interest beneficially owned by such “person” or “group” exceeds the aggregate member 
interest in PAGP GP beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by the Owner Affiliates; (v) any Person (other than PAGP or its wholly 
owned subsidiaries), including any partnership, limited partnership, syndicate or other “person” or “group,” becomes the beneficial 
owner, directly or indirectly, of 50% or more of the membership interest in the Company or 50% or more of the outstanding limited 
partnership interests of PAGP; or (vi) any Person (other than PAGP or its wholly owned subsidiaries), including any partnership, 
limited partnership, syndicate or other “person” or “group,” becomes the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 50% or more of 
the membership interest in PAGP GP.

As used herein, the term “Owner Affiliates” shall mean KAFU Holdings, L.P. and its affiliates, EMG Investment, LLC and 
its affiliates, Oxy Holding Company (Pipeline), Inc. and its affiliates, Mark Strome and his affiliates, Windy, LLC and its affiliates, 
PAA Management, L.P. and its affiliates, PAGP and its affiliates, Jay Chernosky, Kipp PAA Trust, Paul Riddle, Russell Clingman, 
David Humphreys and Philip Trinder.

The phrase “Termination for Cause” shall mean severance of your employment with the Company or its Affiliates based on 
your (i) substantial failure to perform the duties and responsibilities of your position at an acceptable level as reasonably determined in 
good faith by the CEO and President-COO of the Company (or if you are the CEO of the Company, by vote of the Board of Directors 
of the Company excluding you if you are a member thereof) and after written notice specifying such failure in detail and after a 
reasonable period under the circumstances (determined by the CEO of the Company, or alternatively the Board of Directors, in good 
faith) such failure has continued without full correction by you, (ii) conviction of or guilty plea to the committing of an act or acts 
constituting a felony under the laws of the United States or any state thereof or any misdemeanor involving moral turpitude, or 
(iii) violation of the Company’s Code of Business
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Conduct (unless waived in accordance with the terms thereof), in each case with the specific failure or violation described to you in 
writing.

Terms used herein that are not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan or, if not defined in the Plan, in the 
Fourth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., as amended (the “Partnership 
Agreement”).

This award is intended to either (i) qualify as a “short-term deferral” under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, as amended, or (ii) comply with the provisions of Section 409A.  If it is determined that any payments or benefits to be made or 
provided under this Agreement do not comply with Section 409A, the parties agree to amend this Agreement or take such other 
actions as reasonably necessary or appropriate to comply with Section 409A while preserving the economic agreement of the parties.

By signing below, you agree that the Phantom Units and DERs granted hereunder are governed by the terms of the Plan.  
Copies of the Plan and the Partnership Agreement are available upon request.  In the event any provisions of this award conflict with 
provisions in the Employment Letter, the Employment Letter shall control.

In order for this grant to be effective you must designate a beneficiary that will be entitled to receive any benefits payable 
under this grant in the event of your death.  Unless you indicate otherwise by checking the appropriate box the named beneficiaries on 
this form will serve as your beneficiaries for all previous LTIP grants.

4



Please execute and return a copy of this grant letter to me and retain a copy for your records.

Beneficiary Designation

 Check this box only if designation does not apply to prior grants

5

PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P.

By: PAA GP LLC
By: PLAINS AAP, L.P.
By: PLAINS ALL AMERICAN GP LLC

By: /s/ Richard K. McGee
Name: Richard K. McGee
Title: Executive Vice President & General Counsel

Primary Beneficiary Name Relationship Percent (Must total 100%)

Secondary Beneficiary Name Relationship Percent (Must total 100%)

/s/ WCW (Willie) Chiang
Signature

Units: 120,000

Dated: 8/24/15



EXHIBIT B
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PLAINS AAP, L.P. CLASS B
RESTRICTED UNITS AGREEMENT

This PLAINS AAP, L.P. CLASS B RESTRICTED UNITS AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of 
August 24, 2015 (the “Grant Date”) by and between PLAINS AAP, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the “Partnership”), and 
WCW (Willie) Chiang (“Executive”).

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, to provide an incentive to Executive to enhance the profitability and growth of the Partnership and its Affiliates 
and to encourage Executive to remain employed by the Partnership or its Affiliates, the Partnership desires to grant to Executive 
1,000,000 Class B Units (the “Granted Units”) on the Grant Date, which Granted Units shall have such rights, designations and 
preferences as are set forth in this Agreement and the Partnership Agreement;

WHEREAS, as of the date hereof, the Partnership has 606,050,573 Class A Units outstanding and 52,125,935 Class B Units 
authorized for issuance (including the Class B Units already issued and those being issued under this Agreement);

WHEREAS, the Partnership and Executive desire to enter into this Agreement to evidence certain terms and conditions that 
relate to the grant, ownership and transfer of the Granted Units; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements set forth herein and other good and valuable consideration, 
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Partnership and Executive agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION

1.1 Construction.  Unless the context requires otherwise: (a) the gender (or lack of gender) of all words used in this 
Agreement includes the masculine, feminine, and neuter; (b) references to Sections refer to sections of this Agreement; (c) references 
to Exhibits refer to the Exhibits attached to this Agreement, each of which is made a part hereof for all purposes; (d) references to 
money refer to legal currency of the United States of America; and (e) the word “including” means “including without limitation.”

1.2 Definitions.  Capitalized terms used in this Agreement (including Exhibit A attached hereto) that are not defined in 
this Section 1.2 or in the body of this Agreement shall have the meanings given to them in the Partnership Agreement.

“Affiliate” of a person means any person controlling, controlled by, or under common control with such person.  As used 
herein, the terms “controlling”, “controlled by” and “under common control with” mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the 
power to direct or cause the direction of management or policies (whether through ownership of securities or any
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partnership or other ownership interest, by contract or otherwise) of a person.  For the purposes of the preceding sentence, control 
shall be deemed to exist when a person possesses, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries (a) in the case of a 
corporation, more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities thereof; (b) in the case of a limited liability company, partnership, 
limited partnership or venture, the right to more than 50% of the voting membership, general partner or equivalent interest therein; or 
(c) in the case of any other person, more than 50% of the economic or beneficial interest therein.

“Applicable Class B Units” means at a particular time, collectively, the Vested Units and the Earned Units then outstanding, 
and the “Earned Units” and “Vested Units” then outstanding under all Other Class B Restricted Unit Agreements.

“Board” means the Board of Directors or governing board or committee of the Company.

“Call Event” means, with respect to an Earned Unit, the termination of Executive’s employment with the Company and its 
Affiliates for any reason prior to December 31, 2022, other than a termination of employment (i) by Executive for a Good Reason or 
under the circumstances described in Sections 1(b)(ii) or (iii) of the Employment Letter, (ii) by the Company and its Affiliates other 
than for Cause, including as contemplated by Section 1(b)(i) of the Employment Letter, or (iii) due to death or disability.

“Call Option” means the Partnership’s option to repurchase Earned Units upon or following a Call Event, as provided in 
Exhibit A.

“Call Value” of an Earned Unit means:

(a)           if the Call Event occurs on or before December 31, 2018, an amount equal to 25% of the product of (i) the 
closing sales price of PAGP’s Class A shares on the date of the applicable Call Event, or if the Call Event occurs on a date 
that is not a trading day for PAGP’s Class A shares, the closing sales price on the first preceding day that is a trading day for 
PAGP’s Class A shares (for purposes of this definition, the “Closing Price”) and (ii) the Conversion Factor ;

(b)           if the Call Event occurs after December 31, 2018 but on or before December 31, 2019, an amount equal to 
50% of the product of (i) the Closing Price and (ii) the Conversion Factor; or

(c)           if the Call Event occurs after December 31, 2019 but on or before December 31, 2022, an amount equal to 
75% of the product of (i) the Closing Price and (ii) the Conversion Factor.

“Capital Call” means the occurrence of an event that requires the partners to make a cash contribution to the Partnership 
pursuant to Section 3.1(b) of the Partnership Agreement.

“Capital Call Amount” means, with respect to a particular Capital Call, the aggregate amount of the cash contributions 
required to be made to the Partnership by its partners in connection therewith.
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“Cause” means the termination of Executive’s employment with the Partnership and its Affiliates by the Board upon (i) a 
finding by the CEO and President-COO of the Company (or if Executive is the CEO of the Company, by vote of the Board of 
Directors of the Company excluding Executive if he is a member thereof) that Executive has substantially failed to perform the duties 
and responsibilities of his position at an acceptable level and after written notice specifying such failure in detail and after a reasonable 
period under the circumstances (determined by the CEO of the Company, or alternatively the Board of Directors, in good faith) such 
failure has continued without full correction by Executive, (ii) Executive’s conviction of or guilty plea to the committing of an act or 
acts constituting a felony under the laws of the United States or any state thereof or any misdemeanor involving moral turpitude or 
(iii) Executive’s violation of the Company’s Code of Business Conduct (unless waived in accordance with the terms thereof), 
provided that Executive is provided written notice of the specific violation thereof.

“Change in Control” means the determination by the Board that one of the following events has occurred:

(a) The Persons who own member interests in PAA GP Holdings LLC immediately following the closing of the GP 
IPO, including the IPO Entity, and the respective Affiliates of such Persons (such owners and Affiliates being referred to as 
the “Owner Affiliates”), cease to own directly or indirectly at least 50% of the membership interests of such entity;

(b) (x) a “person” or “group” other than the Owner Affiliates becomes the “beneficial owner” directly or indirectly 
of 25% or more of the member interest in the general partner of the IPO Entity, and (y) the member interest beneficially 
owned by such “person” or “group” exceeds the aggregate member interest in the general partner of the IPO Entity 
beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by the Owner Affiliates; or

(c) A direct or indirect transfer, sale, exchange or other disposition in a single transaction or series of transaction 
(whether by merger or otherwise) of all or substantially all of the assets of the IPO Entity or the MLP to one or more Persons 
who are not Affiliates of the IPO Entity (“third party or parties”), other than a transaction in which the Owner Affiliates 
continue to beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the issued and outstanding voting securities of such 
third party or parties immediately following such transaction.

“Class A Unit” means a Class A common unit of the Partnership.

“Class B Unit” means a Class B common unit of the Partnership.

“Class B Unit Majority” means the holders of the Applicable Class B Units (as a group), acting at the direction of the holders 
of at least a majority of the Applicable Class B Units outstanding at such time.

“Company” means Plains All American GP LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and the general partner of the 
Partnership.
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“Conversion Factor” means, as of a particular time, a fraction, (a) the numerator of which is the most recent regular quarterly 
cash distribution paid with respect to any Class B Unit, and (b) the denominator of which is the most recent regular quarterly cash 
distribution paid with respect to an IPO Entity Class A Unit (excluding for this purpose any special or extraordinary cash distribution 
paid with respect to an IPO Entity Class A Unit that is funded by indebtedness).

“Earned Unit” means, as of any date, a Granted Unit that has become “earned,” as provided in Section 2.2(b).

“Employment Letter” means that certain Employment Letter dated July 10, 2015 between Executive and the Company.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Forfeiture Event” means, with respect to a Restricted Unit, the termination of Executive’s employment with the Company 
and its Affiliates for any reason other than any of the circumstances described in Section 1(b)(i) —(iv) of the Employment Letter.

“Good Reason” means any one of the following acts or omissions by the Partnership or the Company (or any successor 
thereto):

(a)           any material breach by the Partnership of this Agreement;

(b)           the failure of any successor to the Partnership to assume this Agreement; or

(c)           any material overall reduction in Executive’s authority, responsibilities, or duties (taking into account 
additional authority,  responsibilities or duties associated with (i) the initial transition of responsibilities to Executive, (ii) the 
overall growth of the Partnership or MLP or (iii)  a promotion or lateral transfer accepted by Executive).

Any such act or omission shall not constitute Good Reason unless (i) Executive gives written notice to the Board that an act or 
omission constitutes Good Reason within 30 days of the date Executive becomes aware of such act or omission, or reasonably should 
have become aware of such act or omission, and (ii) the Partnership or the Company fails to remedy the condition within the 30-day 
period following such notice.

“GP IPO” means the initial public offering of Class A shares by the IPO Entity as contemplated by that certain Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (Registration No. 333-190227), as amended.

“IPO Entity” means Plains GP Holdings, L.P, a Delaware limited partnership.

“IPO Entity Class A Unit” means a Class A share of the IPO Entity.

“MLP” means Plains All American Pipeline, LP, a Delaware limited partnership.

“MLP Quarterly Distribution” means the amount of the quarterly cash distribution made with respect to a common unit of 
the MLP on the relevant quarterly distribution date for the MLP.
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“Other Class B Restricted Unit Agreement” means any Class B Restricted Unit Agreement (other than this Agreement) 
entered into between the Partnership and any person on terms that are substantially similar to those set forth in this Agreement (other 
than as to (i) the number of “Granted Units” granted thereunder, which may differ from the number of Granted Units hereunder, 
(ii) any date set forth in such agreement, which may differ from the corresponding date set forth in this Agreement and (iii) the 
schedule set forth in Section 2.2(b), which may differ as to “MLP Quarterly Distribution per MLP Common Unit” and/or “Percentage 
of Initially Granted Units that Become Earned Units”), as such agreement may be amended or restated from time to time.

“Partnership Agreement” means that certain Seventh Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains 
AAP, L.P. dated as of the closing date of the GP IPO, as such agreement may be amended or restated from time to time.

“Partnership Distribution” means, with respect to a particular fiscal quarter, the product of (i) that portion of the 
Partnership’s quarterly cash distributions, if any, during such quarter in excess of the Distribution Threshold Amount (as defined in 
Schedule I) for such quarter, multiplied by (ii) 100% less the percentage (if any) of any such quarterly distributions payable to GP 
LLC in accordance with the Partnership Agreement; provided, that for purposes of this definition, the amount of a quarterly cash 
distribution shall exclude any cash distribution paid only with respect to a Class A Unit (and, if applicable, the General Partner) that is 
funded by indebtedness.

“Profits Percentage” means Executive’s share of Partnership Distributions calculated, at the time of the Partnership 
Distribution, as the percentage obtained by dividing (i) the total number of Executive’s Earned Units and Vested Units at such time by 
(ii) the sum of (A) the number of Class A Units outstanding at such time and (B) the total number of Applicable Class B Units at such 
time.

“Restricted Unit” means, as of any date, a Granted Unit that is not an Earned Unit or a Vested Unit.

“Surrender Obligation” means the obligation to surrender and transfer to the Partnership (i) Restricted Units upon a 
Forfeiture Event and (ii) Earned Units upon the exercise of a Call Option by the Partnership.

“Transfer” means any direct or indirect transfer, assignment, sale, gift, pledge, hypothecation or other encumbrance, or any 
other disposition (whether voluntary, involuntary or by operation of law other than to the estate of Executive in the event of death), of 
Restricted Units, Earned Units or Vested Units, including derivative or similar transactions or arrangements whereby a portion or all 
of the economic interest in, risk of loss or opportunity for gain with respect to, or voting or other rights, of such units are transferred or 
shifted to another person.

“Vested Unit” means (i) an Earned Unit that is no longer subject to the Partnership’s Call Option or (ii) an Earned Unit or a 
Restricted Unit that becomes a “Vested Unit” pursuant to Section 2.2(c) below or Section 1(b)(i) — (iv) of the Employment Letter.
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ARTICLE 2
GRANT; FORFEITURE OF RESTRICTED UNITS AND EARNED UNITS; 

DISTRIBUTIONS

2.1 Grant.  The Partnership hereby grants to Executive the Granted Units effective as of the Grant Date.  Unless 
Class A Units are uncertificated, the Partnership shall issue Executive a certificate representing the Granted Units, and such certificate 
shall bear such legends as provided for in the Partnership Agreement and such additional legends as may be determined by the Board 
to reflect the Surrender Obligation, the Call Option, and the other terms and conditions of this Agreement and to comply with 
applicable securities laws.  To insure the availability for delivery of Executive’s Restricted Units upon a Forfeiture Event, Executive 
hereby appoints the Secretary of the Company, or any other person designated by the Partnership as escrow agent, as Executive’s 
attorney-in-fact to sell, assign and transfer unto the Partnership such Restricted Units or Earned Units, if any, and upon execution of 
this Agreement, Executive delivers and deposits with the Secretary of the Company, or such other person designated by the 
Partnership, the certificates representing the Granted Units, together with the unit assignment duly endorsed in blank, attached hereto 
as Exhibit B.  The Granted Units and unit assignment shall be held by the Secretary (or any other person designated by the Partnership 
as escrow agent) in escrow, pursuant to the Joint Escrow Instructions of the Partnership and Executive attached as Exhibit C hereto, 
until such time as the Surrender Obligation has lapsed with respect to the Granted Units.  Without limiting the Executive’s rights 
under the Employment Letter to have Restricted Units become Earned Units, upon the lapse of the Surrender Obligation, Earned Units 
shall become Vested Units.  Once the Surrender Obligation has lapsed with respect to any Granted Unit, unless Class A Units are 
uncertificated, the Partnership shall issue and deliver to Executive a new certificate or certificates evidencing the ownership of the 
Vested Units.  Upon issuance of the new certificate evidencing the ownership of the Vested Units, the certificate deposited with the 
escrow agent shall be marked “Exchanged and Cancelled” and returned to the partnership unit transfer book of the Partnership and the 
Partnership shall deliver a replacement certificate to the escrow agent to reflect any remaining Restricted Units and Earned Units.  
Any new certificate issued to evidence the ownership of Vested Units shall bear such legends as may be determined by the Board to 
reflect the terms and conditions of this Agreement (other than the Surrender Obligation) and the Partnership Agreement and to comply 
with applicable securities laws.
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2.2 Forfeitures and Calls of Restricted Units and Earned Units.

(a)           Forfeiture of Restricted Units.  If a Forfeiture Event occurs, then Executive shall, for no consideration, 
automatically forfeit to the Partnership as of the date such event occurs all then Restricted Units of Executive on such date, and neither 
the Executive nor any of his successors, heirs, assigns, or personal representatives shall thereafter have any further rights or interests 
in such Restricted Units or the certificates representing such Restricted Units; provided, however, if such Forfeiture Event is 
termination of Executive’s employment by the Company or any of its Affiliates without Cause, then for all purposes of this 
Agreement, such Forfeiture Event shall be suspended and shall not be deemed to occur until the 180th day after the date of such 
termination unless, during such 180-day period, (x) Executive shall breach in any material respect any confidentiality obligation to the 
Company or any of its Affiliates or (y) any of the events described in clause (ii) or (iii) of the definition of “Cause” shall occur, in 
which case (1) for all purposes of this Agreement, such Forfeiture Event shall be deemed to have occurred on the date of such 
termination (but after giving effect to any Earned Units becoming Vested Units as a result of such termination) and (2) any Granted 
Unit which otherwise would have become an Earned Unit or a Vested Unit during such suspension period shall be deemed to be a 
Restricted Unit for all purposes under this Agreement and, for the avoidance of doubt, shall (together with all other Restricted Units) 
be forfeited to the Partnership, for no consideration, effective as of such date of termination.

(b)           Earned Units.  A percentage of Granted Units shall become Earned Units on the date on which MLP pays a 
quarterly distribution in accordance with the following schedule:

Once a Granted Unit has become an Earned Unit pursuant to the above schedule, the Earned Unit shall remain an Earned Unit 
thereafter until it either becomes a Vested Unit or is purchased by the Partnership pursuant to the exercise of its Call Option.

(c)           Change in Control.  All Earned Units automatically shall become Vested Units upon a Change in Control. If prior 
to the Change in Control 0% of the Granted Units have become Earned Units, then 25% of the Granted Units automatically shall 
become Vested Units upon the Change in Control.  If prior to the Change in Control only 25% or 50% of the Granted Units have 
become Earned Units, then an additional 25% of the Granted Units automatically shall become Vested Units upon the Change in 
Control.  If prior to the Change in Control only 75% of the Granted Units have become Earned Units, then all remaining Granted 
Units automatically shall become Vested Units upon the Change in Control.  Unless and except to the extent contemplated
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MLP Quarterly Distribution
per MLP Common Unit

Cumulative Percentage of Initially Granted
Units that Become Earned Units

Less than $0.725 0%
Greater than or equal to $0.725, but less than $0.7875 25.0%
Greater than or equal to $0.7875, but less than $0.825 50.0%
Greater than or equal to $0.825, but less than $0.875 75.0%
$0.875 or greater 100.0%



by Section 1(b)(iii) of the Employment Letter or as specifically provided otherwise by the Partnership upon or in connection with such 
Change in Control, Executive shall, for no consideration, automatically forfeit to the Partnership as of the date such Change in Control 
occurs all Restricted Units of Executive that do not vest upon such Change in Control as provided herein, and neither Executive nor 
any of his successors, heirs, assigns, or personal representatives shall thereafter have any further rights or interests in such Restricted 
Units or the certificates representing such Restricted Units.

(d)           Purchase of Earned Units.  The Partnership shall have a Call Option with respect to Earned Units as provided in 
Section 2 of Exhibit A.

2.3 Partnership Distributions.  Executive shall not be entitled to, and shall not receive, any Partnership Distributions 
with respect to Restricted Units.  Executive shall be entitled to receive his Profits Percentage of any Partnership Distributions made as 
of the relevant distribution date.  Partnership Distributions, to the extent payable to Executive with respect to an Earned Unit or Vested 
Unit, shall be paid to Executive at the same time that such Partnership Distributions are paid to holders of Class A Units.

2.4 Capital Calls.  In the event of a Capital Call, Executive shall be required to pay to the Partnership his or her 
allocable share of the associated Capital Call Amount, which allocable share shall be determined in accordance with Section 3.1(b) of 
the Partnership Agreement.

ARTICLE 3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT; RESTRICTIONS; ELECTIONS; 

ANTI-DILUTION PROVISIONS

3.1 Acknowledgment; Conflicts.  Executive agrees that the Granted Units shall be subject to the Partnership 
Agreement.  Executive (a) hereby accepts and adopts, and agrees to be bound by, the terms and provisions of the Certificate of 
Limited Partnership of the Partnership filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware, as amended or restated, and the Partnership 
Agreement to the same extent as if Executive had executed the Partnership Agreement and (b) agrees that the Granted Units shall be 
bound by the terms and conditions of such agreement, including, but not limited to, the transfer restrictions, if any, set forth therein, 
provided however, that in the event of any conflict between the provisions of such agreement and the provisions of this Agreement, 
the provisions of this Agreement as modified by the Employment Letter shall govern.

3.2 Company Acts.  Subject to the anti-dilution provisions set forth in Section 3.5, the existence of the Restricted Units, 
Earned Units or Vested Units shall not affect in any way the right or power of the Board or the holders of Class A Units to make or 
authorize any adjustment, recapitalization, reorganization or other change in the Partnership’s capital structure or its business, any 
merger, consolidation, equity exchange or other business combination of the Partnership with or into any other entity (and, where 
necessary or appropriate (as determined by the Board in good faith), the conversion or exchange of Class A Units and Class B Units 
into other securities or interests in the Partnership or any other entity in connection therewith, provided that the relative economic 
rights and preferences of the Class A Units and the Class B Units are affected proportionately, taking into account their current terms), 
any issue of debt or equity
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securities, the dissolution or liquidation of the Partnership or any sale, lease, exchange or other disposition of all or any part of its 
assets or business or any other act or proceeding.

3.3 Transfer Restrictions; Call Options.  The Restricted Units and Earned Units shall be subject to the Transfer 
restrictions, Call Options and other terms and conditions set forth or described in Exhibit A attached hereto, as applicable.  Vested 
Units shall be subject only to the provisions of Sections 1, 3 and 4(b) of Exhibit A.  Executive agrees that Executive will, at any time 
and from time to time as requested by the Partnership, execute and deliver to the Partnership such other documents and instruments, if 
any, as the Board, in its discretion, may require to evidence Executive’s agreement to be bound by the terms of Exhibit A.  The terms 
and conditions of Exhibit A shall survive the termination of this Agreement.  The restrictions set forth in Exhibit A shall not apply to 
the transfer of Restricted Units or Earned Units pursuant to a plan of reorganization of the Partnership, but the Class A Units, 
securities or other property received in exchange therefor shall also become subject to the Transfer restrictions, Call Options and 
Surrender Obligation to the same extent as the Restricted Units, Earned Units and Vested Units exchanged therefor and the 
certificates, if any, representing such Class A Units, securities or other property shall be legended to show such restrictions.

3.4 Tax Withholding; §83(b) Election.

(a)           To the extent that the receipt of the Restricted Units, Earned Units, Vested Units, the lapse of the Surrender 
Obligations, or any other event pursuant to this Agreement results in compensation income or wages to Executive for federal, state or 
local tax purposes, Executive shall deliver to the Partnership at the time of such receipt, lapse or event, as the case may be, such 
amount of money as the Partnership may require to meet its minimum withholding obligation under applicable tax laws, and if 
Executive fails to do so, the Partnership is authorized to withhold from any cash or other remuneration (including withholding and 
cancelling any Restricted Units, Earned Units or Vested Units distributable to Executive under this Agreement) then or thereafter 
payable to Executive any tax required to be withheld by reason of such resulting compensation income or wages.

(b)           Within 30 days after the date of issuance of the Restricted Units, Executive shall make an election authorized by 
section 83(b) of the Code with respect to such Restricted Units and Executive shall submit to the Partnership a copy of the statement 
filed by Executive to make such election.  The form of such election shall be in such form as approved by the Partnership and 
delivered to the Executive following the issuance of the Restricted Units.

(c)           Executive acknowledges and agrees that he is not relying upon any written or oral statement or representation of the 
Partnership, its Affiliates, or any of their respective Executives, directors, officers, attorneys or agents regarding the tax effects 
associated with the Restricted Units, Earned Units, Vested Units or the execution of this Agreement.  Executive acknowledges and 
agrees that in deciding to enter into this Agreement, Executive is relying on his own judgment and the judgment of the professionals 
of his choice with whom he has consulted.
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3.5 Anti-Dilution Provisions.

(a)           If after the date of this Agreement, the Class A Units shall be changed or proposed to be changed into a different 
number or class of units by reason of the occurrence of any reclassification, recapitalization, split-up, combination, exchange of shares 
or similar readjustment, or a unit dividend thereon shall be paid, appropriate proportional adjustments shall be made to the Class B 
Units, as determined by the Board in good faith.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, no repurchase of Class A Units for fair value (as 
determined by the Board in good faith) shall require any adjustment under this Section 3.5(a).

3.6 Drag-Along Provisions.

(a)           [Intentionally Deleted]

(b)           In the event of a sale of all or substantially all of the assets or equity of the IPO Entity, then the Board shall have 
the right to require Executive to transfer all of his Vested Units (including any Granted Units that vest pursuant to Section 2.2
(c) hereof) in such transaction in exchange for consideration per transferred Class B Unit that is equal to the Conversion Factor times 
the consideration to be received per IPO Entity Class A Unit in such transaction.

(c)           In connection with any transfer required pursuant to this Section 3.6, Executive shall deliver the certificates 
representing his Class B Units duly endorsed or accompanied by written instruments of transfer, in form and substance reasonably 
satisfactory to the Board, free and clear of any liens, together with any other documents reasonably required to be executed in 
connection with such transaction, as directed by the Board.

(d)           Class B Units subject to this Section 3.6 will be included in a proposed sale pursuant hereto and be subject to any 
agreement with the purchaser in such transaction relating thereto, on the same terms and subject to the same conditions applicable to 
the Class A Units or IPO Entity Class A Units, as the case may be.  Such terms and conditions shall be determined in the sole 
discretion of the Board, and shall include (i) the consideration to be paid (including without limitation the form and the aggregate 
amount thereof) and (ii) the provision of information, representations, warranties, covenants and requisite indemnifications; provided, 
however, that Executive shall not be required to make any representations and warranties, other than those relating specifically to 
Executive’s execution and delivery of any transaction agreement (including absence of conflicts), and title to the Class B Units, and 
any indemnification provided by Executive shall be on a several, not joint, basis and shall be based on (and shall not exceed) 
Executive’s pro rata share of the aggregate consideration paid in such transaction. For purposes of this Section 3.6 “Executive”
includes any Permitted Transferee (as defined in the Partnership Agreement).
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ARTICLE 4
GENERAL PROVISIONS

4.1 Notices.  For purposes of this Agreement, notices and all other communications provided for herein shall be given 
in the same manner as indicated in the Partnership Agreement.

4.2 Employment Relationship.  For purposes of this Agreement (including Exhibit A attached hereto), Executive shall 
be considered to be in the employment of the Partnership as long as Executive remains an employee of an Affiliate of the Partnership.  
Without limiting the scope of the preceding sentence, it is expressly provided that Executive shall be considered to have terminated 
employment with the Partnership at the time the entity or other organization that employs Executive is no longer an Affiliate of the 
Partnership.  Any question as to whether and when there has been a termination of such employment or association, and the cause of 
such termination, shall be determined by the Board and its determination shall be final.

4.3 Entire Agreement; Amendment. This Agreement, the Partnership Agreement and the Employment Letter 
constitute the entire agreement, and supersede all previous agreements and discussions relating to the same or similar subject matters 
between Executive and the Partnership or any Affiliate and constitute the entire agreement between Executive and the Partnership and 
any Affiliate with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement.  Without limiting the scope of the preceding sentence, except for 
this Agreement, the Partnership Agreement and the Employment Letter, all prior and contemporaneous understandings and 
agreements, if any, among the parties hereto relating to the subject matter hereof are hereby null and void and of no further force and 
effect.  In the event any provisions of this Agreement conflict with provisions in the Employment Letter, the Employment Letter shall 
control.  Except as provided below, any modification of this Agreement shall be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both 
Executive and the Partnership as authorized by the Board.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Partnership may unilaterally amend this 
Agreement in any manner that the Board determines in good faith is necessary or advisable to facilitate the consummation of the GP 
IPO, such amendment to become effective on the fifth business day after the day on which notice thereof is given to the holders of the 
Applicable Class B Units then outstanding, unless prior to such fifth business day, the holders of at least 75% of such Applicable 
Class B Units object in writing to such amendment, in which case such proposed amendment shall not become effective; provided, 
however, that the holders of the Applicable Class B Units shall not be entitled to object to any such amendment (and such amendment 
shall automatically become effective regardless of any purported objection by the holders of the Applicable Class B Units) if (i) all 
Other Class B Restricted Unit Agreements are amended in substantially the same way, (ii) the Class A Units and Class B Units are 
diluted proportionately (based on relative distributions) by any partnership interests or other equity securities issued to Persons (other 
than members of the Company (or Affiliates thereof)) in connection therewith and (iii) immediately after giving effect to the GP IPO, 
the economic interest in the Partnership or its successor or assign or (or the entity the securities or equity interests of which the 
Class B Units are converted into or exchanged for) represented by the Class B Units (and/or any securities or equity interests into 
which such Class B Units are converted or exchanged) is not diluted by any partnership interests or other equity securities issued to 
members of the Company (or any Affiliate thereof) in connection therewith.  For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding anything in 
this Agreement to the contrary, in the event of a GP IPO, the Board shall be entitled (but not required) to make such adjustments as the 
Board shall determine in good
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faith to be equitable, including without limitation causing all or a portion of the Class B Units not to be converted into or exchanged 
for similar equity interests in the IPO Entity, and to remain outstanding as Class B Units of the Partnership.  Notwithstanding anything 
in this Agreement to the contrary, if the Board determines that (i) the provisions of section 409A of the Code apply to this Agreement 
or the Class B Units and that the terms of this Agreement or such units do not, in whole or in part, satisfy the requirements of such 
section, or (ii) any provision of this Agreement or the effect or operation thereof would produce material adverse tax consequences to 
Executive, then the Partnership, in the sole discretion of the Board, may unilaterally modify this Agreement in such manner as the 
Board deems appropriate to comply with such section 409A and any regulations or guidance issued thereunder or to mitigate or avoid 
such adverse tax consequences.

4.4 Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of any successors to the Partnership 
and all permitted transferees of any Transfer made in compliance with Exhibit A and other persons lawfully claiming under Executive.

4.5 Governing Law.  This Agreement is governed by and shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Delaware, excluding any conflict-of-laws rule or principle that might refer the governance or the construction of this Agreement to the 
laws of another jurisdiction.  If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is held 
invalid or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Agreement and the application of that provision to other persons or 
circumstances is not affected thereby and that provision shall be enforced to the greatest extent permitted by law.

4.6 Injunctive Relief.  Executive acknowledges that a remedy at law for any breach or attempted breach of this 
Agreement will be inadequate, agrees that the Partnership may be entitled to specific performance and injunctive and other equitable 
relief to be implemented by a court of competent jurisdiction in case of any such breach or attempted breach, and further agrees to 
waive any requirement for the securing or purchasing of any bond in connection with the obtaining of any such injunctive or any other 
equitable relief.  Executive agrees that the Partnership’s right to injunctive relief will be in addition to any other rights the Partnership 
may have.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement effective for all purposes as of the Grant Date.

14

PLAINS AAP, L.P., by its general partner,
PLAINS ALL AMERICAN GP LLC

By: /s/ Richard McGee
Name: Richard McGee
Title: Executive Vice President

EXECUTIVE

/s/ WCW (Willie) Chiang
WCW (Willie) Chiang



EXHIBIT A TO
RESTRICTED UNITS AGREEMENT

PROVISIONS RELATING TO TRANSFERS;
CALL OPTIONS; AND CONVERSIONS

Capitalized terms used in this Exhibit that are not defined in this Exhibit shall have the meaning assigned to such terms in the 
Restricted Units Agreement to which this Exhibit is attached (the “Agreement”).  Unless the context requires otherwise, all references 
in this Exhibit to Sections refer to the Sections of this Exhibit.

1.             No Transfers.  Executive may not Transfer all or any portion of the Restricted Units or any Earned Units, and any attempted 
Transfer shall be, and is hereby declared, null and void for all purposes; provided, however that Executive shall be entitled to Transfer 
any Earned Units to a Permitted Transferee (as defined in the Partnership Agreement), by will or the laws of descent and distribution, 
provided that any such permitted Transfer shall be made in accordance with, and subject to, Section 7.3 of the Partnership Agreement.  
In addition to the other restrictions set forth herein, each Restricted Unit, Earned Unit and Vested Unit shall be subject to the 
restrictions on Transfer (as defined in the Partnership Agreement) set forth in the Partnership Agreement.

2.             Partnership Call Option.  Upon the occurrence of a Call Event, the Partnership, at its option (exercisable at any time during 
the 60-day period following the date of such Call Event), may (but the Partnership shall have no obligation to) purchase all (or any 
portion elected by the Partnership in its sole discretion) of the Earned Units held by Executive (or by Executive’s estate), for a 
purchase price per Earned Unit equal to the Call Value at the time of the Call Event.  If the Partnership wishes to exercise the Call 
Option granted herein, it must provide written notice within such 60-day period to Executive (or his estate) specifying the number of 
such Earned Units it elects to purchase.  Within 10 days after the exercise of the Call Option by the Partnership, the Executive (or 
estate) shall deliver the certificates, if any, representing the applicable Earned Units to the Partnership, duly endorsed and together 
with appropriate assignment and transfer instruments, free and clear of all adverse charges, liens, claims and encumbrances, in 
consideration for the purchase price specified above paid in the form of a single, lump sum cash payment from the Partnership.  
Delivery of the Earned Units and related transfer and assignment instruments by the holder shall constitute a representation to the 
Partnership that such Earned Units are free and clear of all adverse charges, liens, claims and encumbrances.  If the Partnership does 
not timely exercise its Call Option, the Earned Units shall become Vested Units at the end of the period for exercising the Call Option.



3.             Executive Elective Exchange of Vested Units.  Conversion rights attributable to the Granted Units shall be governed by 
Section 7.10 of the Partnership Agreement.

4.             Unit Legend.

(a)           In addition to any other legend that may be required by law, each certificate, if any, for Restricted Units 
and Earned Units shall bear a legend in substantially the following form:

THE UNITS REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES 
ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), OR ANY STATE SECURITIES LAWS, AND MAY NOT 
BE OFFERED OR SOLD UNLESS THEY HAVE BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND 
APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS OR UNLESS AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION IS AVAILABLE 
(AND IN SUCH CASE, AN OPINION OF COUNSEL REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO THE PARTNERSHIP 
SHALL HAVE BEEN DELIVERED TO THE PARTNERSHIP TO THE EFFECT THAT SUCH OFFER OR SALE IS NOT 
REQUIRED TO BE REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES 
LAWS).  THE UNITS REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE ALSO SUBJECT TO ADDITIONAL 
RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER AS SET FORTH IN THE RESTRICTED UNITS AGREEMENT DATED AS OF 
AUGUST 24, 2015, AS AMENDED OR RESTATED FROM TIME TO TIME, COPIES OF WHICH MAY BE 
OBTAINED UPON REQUEST FROM THE PARTNERSHIP. THE UNITS REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE 
ARE ALSO SUBJECT UNDER CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES TO MANDATORY TRANSFER AS SET FORTH IN 
THE RESTRICTED UNITS AGREEMENT DATED AS OF AUGUST 24, 2015, AS AMENDED OR RESTATED FROM 
TIME TO TIME, COPIES OF WHICH MAY BE OBTAINED UPON REQUEST FROM THE PARTNERSHIP.

(b)           In addition to any other legend that may be required by law, each certificate, if any, for Vested Units shall 
bear a legend in substantially the following form:

THE UNITS REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES 
ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), OR ANY STATE SECURITIES LAWS, AND MAY NOT 
BE OFFERED OR SOLD UNLESS THEY HAVE BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND 
APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS OR UNLESS AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION IS AVAILABLE 
(AND IN SUCH CASE, AN OPINION OF COUNSEL REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO THE



PARTNERSHIP SHALL HAVE BEEN DELIVERED TO THE PARTNERSHIP TO THE EFFECT THAT SUCH OFFER 
OR SALE IS NOT REQUIRED TO BE REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE 
SECURITIES LAWS). THE UNITS REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE ALSO SUBJECT UNDER 
CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES TO MANDATORY TRANSFER AS SET FORTH IN THE RESTRICTED UNITS 
AGREEMENT DATED AS OF AUGUST 24, 2015, AS AMENDED OR RESTATED FROM TIME TO TIME, COPIES 
OF WHICH MAY BE OBTAINED UPON REQUEST FROM THE PARTNERSHIP.



EXHIBIT B TO
RESTRICTED UNITS AGREEMENT



ASSIGNMENT SEPARATE FROM CERTIFICATE

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, WCW (Willie) Chiang (“Executive”) hereby assigns and transfers unto Plains AAP, L.P., a 
Delaware limited partnership (the “Partnership”), 1,000,000 Class B common units in the Partnership (the “Class B Units”), standing 
in his name on the books of said Partnership represented by Certificate No.       herewith, and does hereby irrevocably constitute and 
appoint                                to transfer the said Class B Units on the books of the within named Partnership with full power of 
substitution in the premises.

This Assignment Separate from Certificate may be used only in accordance with the Class B Restricted Units Agreement (the 
“Agreement”) between the Partnership and the undersigned dated August 24, 2015.

INSTRUCTIONS:  Please do not fill in any blanks other than the signature line.  The purpose of this Assignment Separate from 
Certificate is to return the Class B Units to the Partnership in the event Executive forfeits any of such Class B Units as set forth in the 
Agreement, without requiring additional signatures on the part of Executive.  This Assignment Separate from Certificate must be 
delivered to the Partnership with the above Certificate No.          .

Dated:              , Signature:



EXHIBIT C TO
RESTRICTED UNITS AGREEMENT



JOINT ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS

August 24, 2015

Plains AAP, L.P.
333 Clay, Suite 1600
Houston, Texas 77002
Attention:  Secretary

Dear Sir or Madam:

As Escrow Agent for both Plains AAP, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the “Partnership”), and WCW (Willie) Chiang 
(“Executive”), holder of 1,000,000 of the Partnership’s Class B common units (the “Class B Units”), you are hereby authorized and 
directed to hold the documents delivered to you pursuant to the terms of that certain Class B Restricted Units Agreement between the 
Partnership and Executive, dated August 24, 2015, (the “Agreement”), in accordance with the following instructions:

1. In the event of a Forfeiture Event (as defined in the Agreement), the Partnership shall give to Executive and to you a written 
notice specifying the number of Class B Units to be transferred and delivered to the Partnership pursuant to Section 2.2(a) of 
the Agreement.  Executive and the Partnership hereby irrevocably authorize and direct you to transfer and deliver such 
Class B Units to the Partnership in accordance with the terms of said notice.

2. In connection with the transfer and delivery of Class B Units to the Partnership pursuant to paragraph 1 above, you are 
directed (a) to date the Assignment Separate From Certificate necessary for the transfer in question, (b) to fill in the number 
of Class B Units being transferred, and (c) to deliver same, together with the certificate evidencing such Class B Units to be 
transferred, to the Partnership or its assignee.

3. Executive hereby irrevocably authorizes the Partnership to deposit with you any certificates evidencing the Class B Units to 
be held by you hereunder and any additions and substitutions to said units as set forth in the Agreement.  Executive does 
hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint you as Executive’s attorney-in-fact and agent for the term of this escrow to execute 
with respect to such Class B Units all documents necessary or appropriate to make such Class B Units negotiable and to 
complete any transaction herein contemplated, including but not limited to, the filing with any applicable state blue sky 
authority of any required applications for consent to, or notice of transfer of, the Class B Units.

4. If at the time of termination of this escrow you should have in your possession any documents, securities or other property 
belonging to Executive, you shall deliver all of the same to Executive and shall be discharged of all further obligations 
hereunder.



5. Your duties hereunder may be altered, amended, modified or revoked only by a writing signed by all of the parties hereto.

6. You shall be obligated only for the performance of such duties as are specifically set forth herein and may rely and shall be 
protected in relying or refraining from acting on any instrument reasonably believed by you to be genuine and to have been 
signed or presented by the proper party or parties.  You shall not be personally liable for any act you may do or omit to do 
hereunder as Escrow Agent or as attorney-in-fact for Executive while acting in good faith, and any act done or omitted by 
you pursuant to the advice of your own attorneys shall be conclusive evidence of such good faith.

7. You are hereby expressly authorized to disregard any and all warnings given by any of the parties hereto or by any other 
person or corporation, excepting only orders or process of courts of law and are hereby expressly authorized to comply with 
and obey orders, judgments or decrees of any court.  In case you obey or comply with any such order, judgment or decree, 
you shall not be liable to any of the parties hereto or to any other person, firm or corporation by reason of such compliance, 
notwithstanding any such order, judgment or decree being subsequently reversed, modified, annulled, set aside, vacated or 
found to have been entered without jurisdiction.

8. You shall not be liable in any respect on account of the identity, authorities or rights of the parties executing or delivering or 
purporting to execute or deliver the Agreement or any documents or papers deposited or called for hereunder.

9. You shall not be liable for the outlawing of any rights under the Statute of Limitations with respect to these Joint Escrow 
Instructions or any documents deposited with you.

10. You shall be entitled to employ such legal counsel and other experts as you may deem necessary and proper to advise you in 
connection with your obligations hereunder, may rely upon the advice of such counsel, and may pay such counsel reasonable 
compensation therefor.

11. Your responsibilities as Escrow Agent hereunder shall terminate if you shall cease to be an officer or agent of the Partnership 
or its general partner, or if you shall resign by written notice to each party.  In the event of any such termination, the 
Partnership shall appoint a successor Escrow Agent.

12. If you reasonably require other or further instruments in connection with these Joint Escrow Instructions or obligations in 
respect hereto, the necessary parties hereto shall join in furnishing such instruments.

13. It is understood and agreed that should any dispute arise with respect to the delivery and/or ownership or right of possession 
of the securities held by you hereunder, you are authorized and directed to retain in your possession without liability to 
anyone all or any part of said securities until such disputes shall have been settled either by mutual written agreement of the 
parties concerned or by a final order, decree or judgment of a court of



competent jurisdiction after the time for appeal has expired and no appeal has been perfected, but you shall be under no duty 
whatsoever to institute or defend any such proceedings.

14. Notices.  All notices and other communications under these Joint Escrow Instructions shall be in writing and shall be given 
by facsimile or first class mail, certified or registered with return receipt requested, and shall be deemed to have been duly 
given three days after mailing or 24 hours after transmission by facsimile to the respective parties named below at the 
following addresses or at such other addresses as a party may designate by ten day’s advance written notice to each of the 
other parties hereto:

15. By signing these Joint Escrow Instructions, you become a party hereto only for the purpose of said Joint Escrow Instructions; 
you do not become a party to the Agreement.

16. This instrument shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, and their respective successors and 
permitted assigns.

17. These Joint Escrow Instructions shall be governed by the internal substantive laws, but not the choice of law rules, of the 
State of Delaware.

If to the Partnership or
to Executive: As provided in the Partnership Agreement

If to the Escrow Agent: Plains All American GP LLC
333 Clay
Suite 1600
Houston, TX 77002

Attn: Secretary
Facsimile: 713-646-4313



GRANTEE: PARTNERSHIP:

Plains AAP, L.P.
By: Plains All American GP LLC, its

general partner
Signature

WCW (Willie) Chiang By:
Printed Name Richard McGee, Executive Vice President

Residence Address:

ESCROW AGENT

Richard McGee, Secretary



SCHEDULE I TO

RESTRICTED UNITS AGREEMENT

“Applicable Carryover Amount” means, with respect to a particular fiscal quarter, an amount of the Cumulative Carryover 
Amount equal to the lesser of (i) the Unapplied Cumulative Carryover Amount for such quarter and (ii) the amount, if any, by which 
$11 million exceeds the Applicable Debt Service Amount for such quarter.

“Applicable Debt Service Amount” means, with respect to any fiscal quarter, the aggregate amount, if any, of principal and 
interest paid by the Partnership or any of its Subsidiaries in respect of any Distribution Loan or Distribution Loans during such 
quarter; provided, however, that (i) notwithstanding the foregoing, the “Applicable Debt Service Amount” shall not include that 
portion of any such payment that is funded with the proceeds of indebtedness incurred by the Partnership or any of its Subsidiaries (it 
being understood that any such indebtedness shall constitute a Distribution Loan) and (ii) for the avoidance of doubt, any principal or 
interest payment in respect of any Distribution Loan that is made by any Person other than the Partnership or any of its Subsidiaries 
shall not constitute “Applicable Debt Service Amount”.

“Carryover Amount” means, for any particular fiscal quarter, the aggregate amount by which the Applicable Debt Service 
Amount for such quarter exceeds $11.0 million.

“Distribution Loan” means a loan to the Partnership, the proceeds of which are distributed only with respect to the Class A 
Units (and, if applicable, the General Partner); provided, that if any proceeds of a loan are used for any purposes other than such a 
distribution, only the portion of such loan distributed with respect to the Class A Units (and, if applicable, the General Partner) shall 
be deemed to be a “Distribution Loan.”

“Distribution Threshold Amount” means, with respect to any fiscal quarter, the amount by which (a) $11.0 million exceeds 
(b) the sum of (i) the Applicable Debt Service Amount for such quarter plus (ii) the Applicable Carryover Amount for such quarter.

“Cumulative Carryover Amount” means, as of any particular fiscal quarter, an amount equal to the aggregate Carryover 
Amounts, if any, for all preceding fiscal quarters.

“Unapplied Cumulative Carryover Amount” means, as of any particular fiscal quarter, that portion of the Cumulative 
Carryover Amount, if any, not previously included in the calculation of the Distribution Threshold Amount for any prior quarter.  For 
the avoidance of doubt, with respect to any fiscal quarter, the aggregate amount of the Cumulative Carryover Amount that has been 
included in the calculation of the Distribution Threshold Amount for all preceding fiscal quarters shall equal the aggregate Applicable 
Carryover Amounts for all such fiscal quarters.



EXHIBIT C
Form of Confidentiality Agreement



CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 
AND NON-SOLICITATION AGREEMENT

This AGREEMENT effective as of the 24th day of August, 2015, between Plains All American GP LLC for itself and on 
behalf of its affiliates (all referred to as the “Company”), and WCW (Willie) Chiang (the “Employee”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Company’s business includes the transportation, storage, terminalling, purchase, sale, exchange and trading 
of liquid hydrocarbons (including crude oil and refined products) as well as natural gas storage and processing and related services, in 
the United States and Canada, including offshore production, and in Federal Waters in the Gulf of Mexico, (the “Region”); and

WHEREAS, the Company’s relationship with its shippers, customers and suppliers is special and unique and is based upon 
valuable and confidential information concerning the identity of such shippers, customers and suppliers, the decision processes used 
by such shippers, customers and suppliers, the authority of officers and employees of such shippers, customers and suppliers, the 
production and sales patterns of such shippers, customers and suppliers, special contract requirements of such shippers, customers and 
suppliers, the quality of crude oil produced by such shippers, customers and suppliers and marketing alternatives relating thereto 
trading strategies and practices and other special information concerning such shippers, customers and suppliers, all of which was 
developed by the Company over time and at substantial expense to the Company, and all of which constitute trade secrets of the 
Company (“Trade Secrets”); and

WHEREAS, a core element of the business model and strategy to optimize the Company’s assets and their operational and 
financial performance includes the review, analysis, acquisition, integration and operation of assets and entities engaged in the 
transportation, storage, terminalling, purchase, sale, exchange and trading of liquid hydrocarbons (including crude oil and refined 
products) as well as natural gas storage and processing and related services, in the Region for which the Company has developed 
valuable and confidential methods and practices with respect to such review, analysis and integration activities (“Proprietary 
Practices”); and

WHEREAS, on July 10, 2015, the Company entered into an employment letter (the “Employment Agreement”) with and for 
the benefit of the Employee;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Company entering into the Employment Agreement, the Employee and the 
Company agree as follows:

1. Confidentiality.  Recognizing that the success of the Company’s business will depend upon the protection of the 
Trade Secrets and Proprietary Practices and that the Employee now has, and during the course of his employment may develop, Trade 
Secrets or Proprietary Practices for the benefit of the Company or other information and data of a secret or proprietary nature of the 
Company that the Company wishes to keep confidential, the Employee agrees that:

1



(a) The Employee acknowledges that the Company has exclusive property rights to all Trade Secrets and 
Proprietary Practices. Except as required in the performance of his duties to the Company, the Employee will not at any time 
during or after the term of his employment, directly or indirectly (i) communicate, disclose or disseminate any Trade Secrets, 
Proprietary Practices or any other information of a secret, proprietary, confidential or generally undisclosed nature relating to 
the Company, its customers, business methods and services (“Confidential Information”) to any person other than officers 
and employees of the Company who are authorized to receive such information or (ii) use any Trade Secrets, Proprietary 
Practices or Confidential Information other than as may be necessary for the Employee to perform his duties for the 
Company.

(b) With respect to Trade Secrets, Proprietary Practices and other Confidential Information, the Employee’s 
obligations under paragraph 1(a) shall continue until the earlier of two years after the Employee’s termination of employment 
(whether during the term of the Employment Agreement or thereafter) with the Company or such information has been made 
available generally to the public either by the Company or by a third party with the Company’s consent.

(c) All documents, records, notebooks, notes, memoranda and similar repositories of, or containing, Trade 
Secrets, Proprietary Practices or Confidential Information made or compiled by the Employee at any time or made available 
to him prior to or during the term of his employment by the Company, including any and all copies thereof, shall be the 
property of the Company, shall be held by the Employee in trust solely for the benefit of the Company, and shall be delivered 
to the Company by the Employee on the termination of his employment or at any other time on the request of the Company.

(d) Without limiting the foregoing, the Employee may, following the termination of his employment with the 
Company, use the general skills, knowledge and experience that he learned or developed during his employment by the 
Company.

2. Non-solicitation.

(a) If the Employee’s employment with the Company is terminated for any reason, then the Employee will not 
for a period of two years following such termination, directly or indirectly, either as an employee, employer, consultant, 
agent, principal, partner, stockholder, corporate officer, director or in any other individual or representative capacity, 
purchase, or solicit or assist in the solicitation of (i) assets that have previously been pursued by the Company during the one 
year period preceding such termination, or (ii) business of the type conducted by the Company with or from any shipper, 
customer or supplier of any liquid hydrocarbons with which the Company conducted any such transactions during the one 
year period preceding such termination.

(b) If the Employee’s employment with the Company is terminated for any reason, then for a period of two 
years following such termination the Employee will not, without the prior written consent of the Company, solicit or cause to 
be solicited any person employed by the Company or its subsidiaries or affiliates at any time during such period or the six 
months prior to such period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein will be
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construed to prevent the Employee, following such termination, from interviewing and/or offering employment to an 
employee of the Company who responds to a published general employment advertisement or to a “non-directed” executive 
search.

(c) This paragraph 2 shall not limit the Employee, following the termination of his Employment with the 
Company, from engaging in any activity outside of the Region, or from soliciting or assisting in the solicitation of storage or 
transportation services for crude oil from facilities which were not part of any of the Company’s transactions during the one 
year period prior to the termination of the Employee’s employment with the Company.

3. Ancillary Agreement. The Employee acknowledges and represents to the Company that the agreement in paragraph 
2 is ancillary to the agreement in paragraph 1, and the restrictions contained in paragraph 2 do not impose a greater restraint than is 
necessary to protect the interest of the Company in securing its Trade Secrets and Confidential Information.

4. Specific Enforcement; Legal Fees. The Employee acknowledges that a breach of this Agreement is likely to result in 
irreparable and unreasonable harm to the Company, and that injunctive relief, as well as damages, would be appropriate. In the event 
of litigation between the parties concerning this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled (in addition to any other relief to 
which it may be entitled) to an award of costs of court and reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred in such litigation.

5. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon, and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, legal 
representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto.

6. Prior Agreements; Severability. This Agreement supersedes those provisions of any prior agreement which cover 
the same subject matters as this Agreement. Wherever there is any conflict between any provision of this Agreement and any statute, 
law, regulation or judicial precedent, the latter shall prevail, but in such event the provisions of this Agreement thus affected shall be 
curtailed and limited only to the extent necessary to bring it within the requirement of the law. In the event that any paragraph or 
clause of this Agreement shall be held by a court of proper jurisdiction to be indefinite, invalid or otherwise unenforceable, the entire 
Agreement shall not fail on account thereof, but the balance of the Agreement shall continue in full force and effect unless such 
construction would clearly be contrary to the intention of the parties or would result in an unconscionable injustice.

7. Other Activities. Employee shall not engage in any activity during the term hereof which is inimical to the best 
interest of Company.

8. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas 
applicable to agreements entered into and performed entirely by Texas by residents of Texas.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed and delivered as of the day and year first 
above written.
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COMPANY:

PLAINS ALL AMERICAN GP LLC

By: /s/ Harry N. Pefanis
Name: Harry N. Pefanis
Title: President and COO

EMPLOYEE:

/s/ WCW (Willie) Chiang
WCW (Willie) Chiang



Exhibit 12.1

STATEMENT OF COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
(in millions, except ratio data)

For purposes of computing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, “earnings” consists of pre-tax income from continuing 
operations before income from equity investees plus fixed charges (excluding capitalized interest), distributed income of 
equity investees and amortization of capitalized interest. “Fixed charges” represents interest incurred (whether expensed or 
capitalized), amortization of debt expense (including discounts and premiums relating to indebtedness) and the portion of 
rental expense on leases deemed to be the equivalent of interest.

Includes interest costs attributable to borrowings for hedged inventory purchases of $6 million, $12 million, $30 million, $12 
million and $20 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Ratios may not recalculate due to rounding.

Year Ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

EARNINGS
Pre-tax income from continuing operations before 

noncontrolling interests and income from equity 
investees $ 823 $ 1,449 $ 1,426 $ 1,143 $ 1,026

add: Fixed charges 548 457 424 380 328
add: Distributed income of equity investees 214 105 55 40 23
add: Amortization of capitalized interest 6 4 3 2 2
less: Capitalized interest (57) (48) (38) (36) (25)

Total Earnings $ 1,534 $ 1,967 $ 1,870 $ 1,529 $ 1,354

FIXED CHARGES
Interest expensed and capitalized $ 495 $ 410 $ 381 $ 346 $ 308
Portion of rent expense related to interest (33.33%) 53 47 43 34 20

Total Fixed Charges $ 548 $ 457 $ 424 $ 380 $ 328

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES 2.80x 4.30x 4.41x 4.03x 4.13x

(1)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(1)

(2)

(3)



Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF
PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P.

(As of 12/31/2015)

Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Organization
5D Marketing LLC Colorado
Aurora Pipeline Company Ltd. Canada
Bakersfield Crude Terminal LLC Delaware
BGS Kimball Gas Storage, LLC Delaware
Bluewater Gas Storage, LLC Delaware
Bluewater Natural Gas Holding, LLC Delaware
Eagle Ford Crude Terminal LLC Delaware
Hawks Oil LLC Colorado
Lone Star Trucking, LLC California
Mountain Ridge Resources LLC Colorado
Niobrara Crude Terminal LLC Delaware
PAA Finance Corp. Delaware
PAA Luxembourg S.a.r.l. Luxembourg
PAA Midstream LLC Delaware
PAA Natural Gas Canada ULC Alberta
PAA Natural Gas Storage LLC Delaware
PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P. Delaware
PAA/Vulcan Gas Storage, LLC Delaware
Pacific Energy Group LLC Delaware
Pacific L.A. Marine Terminal LLC Delaware
Pacific Pipeline System LLC Delaware
PACONO1, LLC Delaware
PACONO3 LLC Delaware
PICSCO LLC Delaware
Pine Prairie Energy Center, LLC Delaware
Plains All American Emergency Relief Fund, Inc. Texas
Plains Capline LLC Delaware
Plains Gas Solutions, LLC Texas
Plains GP LLC Texas
Plains LPG Services GP LLC Delaware
Plains LPG Services, L.P. Texas
Plains Marketing Bondholder LLC Delaware
Plains Marketing Canada LLC Delaware
Plains Marketing GP Inc. Texas
Plains Marketing, L.P. Texas
Plains Midstream Canada ULC British Columbia
Plains Midstream Luxembourg S.a.r.l. Luxembourg
Plains Midstream Superior LLC Texas
Plains Mobile Pipeline Inc. Alabama
Plains Pipeline, L.P. Texas
Plains Products Terminals LLC Delaware
Plains Rail Holdings LLC Delaware
Plains South Texas Gathering LLC Texas
Plains Southcap Inc. Delaware
Plains Terminals North Dakota LLC Delaware
Plains Towing LLC Delaware
Plains West Coast Terminals LLC Delaware



PMC (Nova Scotia) Company Nova Scotia
PMDSE, Inc. Mississippi
PNG Marketing, LLC Delaware
PNGS GP LLC Delaware
PPEC Bondholder, LLC Delaware
Rancho LPG Holdings LLC Delaware
Rocky Mountain Pipeline System LLC Delaware
SG Resources Mississippi, L.L.C. Delaware
SLC Pipeline LLC Delaware
Southcap Pipe Line Company Delaware
St. James Rail Terminal LLC Delaware
Sunrise Pipeline LLC Delaware
Van Hook Crude Terminal LLC Delaware
VirKel Backhoe Services LLLP Colorado



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-138888, 333-155673, 333-
162477, 333-207139 and 333-207140) and on Form S-8 (No. 333-91141, 333-74920, 333-122806, 333-141185, 333-193139 and 333-
193140) of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. of our report dated February 25, 2016 relating to the financial statements and the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Houston, Texas
February 25, 2016



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Greg L. Armstrong, certify that:

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. (the “registrant”);

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented 
in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)           Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)           Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)           Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based 
on such evaluation; and

(d)           Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions):

(a)           All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and

(b)           Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 25, 2016

/s/ Greg L. Armstrong
Greg L. Armstrong
Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Al Swanson, certify that:

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. (the “registrant”);

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented 
in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)           Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)           Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)           Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based 
on such evaluation; and

(d)           Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions):

(a)           All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and

(b)           Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  February 25, 2016

/s/ Al Swanson
Al Swanson
Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

OF PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P.
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. 1350

I, Greg L. Armstrong, Chief Executive Officer of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. (the “Company”), hereby certify that:

(i)            the accompanying report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2015 and filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”) by the Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15
(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii)           the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company.

/s/ Greg L. Armstrong
Name: Greg L. Armstrong
Date: February 25, 2016



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

OF PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P.
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. 1350

I, Al Swanson, Chief Financial Officer of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. (the “Company”), hereby certify that:

(i)            the accompanying report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2015 and filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”) by the Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15
(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii)           the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company.

/s/ Al Swanson
Name: Al Swanson
Date: February 25, 2016
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